
City and County of Swansea 
 
Notice of Meeting 
 

 

You are invited to attend a Meeting of the 

 

Scrutiny Performance Panel - Service Improvement, 
Regeneration and Finance 

 
At: 
 

Multi-Location Meeting - Gloucester Room, Guildhall / MS Teams 
 

On: 
 

Tuesday, 9 April 2024 

Time: 
 

10.00 am 

Convenor: Councillor Chris Holley OBE 
 

Membership: 
Councillors: P M Black, C M J Evans, E W Fitzgerald, T J Hennegan, P R Hood-
Williams, L James, D H Jenkins, M H Jones, M Jones, S M Jones, J W Jones, 
M W Locke, B J Rowlands, W G Thomas, M S Tribe and T M White 
 

 
 

Agenda 
Page No.  

1   Apologies for Absence  
  
2   Disclosure of Personal and Prejudicial Interests  

 www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests  
  
3   Prohibition of Whipped Votes and Declaration of Party Whips  
  
4   Minutes 1 - 3 

 To receive the minutes of the previous meeting(s) and agree as an 
accurate record. 

 

  
5   Public Questions  

 Questions can be submitted in writing to 
Scrutiny scrutiny@swansea.gov.uk up until noon on the working day 
prior to the meeting. Written questions take precedence. Public may 
attend and ask questions in person if time allows. Questions must 
relate to items on the open part of the agenda and will be dealt with in 
a 10 minute period. 

 

  
6   Audit Wales Report - "Cracks in the Foundations" Building Safety 

in Wales 
4 - 63 

 Cllr David Hopkins- Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & 
Performance 
Carol Morgan – Head of Housing and Public Health 

 

  

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests
mailto:scrutiny@swansea.gov.uk


 

7   Annual Review of Wellbeing Objectives 64 - 82 
 Cllr David Hopkins - Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and 

Performance  
Richard Rowlands – Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 

 

  
8   Quarter 3 Performance Monitoring Report 2023/24 83 - 142 

 Cllr David Hopkins - Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & 
Performance 
Richard Rowlands – Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 

 

  
9   Work Plan 143 - 145 
  
10   Letters 146 - 151 
 
 

Next Meeting: Tuesday, 7 May 2024 at 10.00 am 
 

 
 
Huw Evans 
Head of Democratic Services  
Thursday, 28 March 2024   
Contact: Scrutiny Officer - 01792 636292 
 



 
 

 

 

City and County of Swansea 
 

Minutes of the Scrutiny Performance Panel – Service 
Improvement, Regeneration & Finance 

 
Multi-Location Meeting - Gloucester Room, Guildhall / MS 

Teams 

Tuesday, 12 March 2024 at 10.00 am 

 
Present: Councillor C A Holley (Chair) Presided 

 
Councillor(s) 
P M Black 
J W Jones 
S H Jones 
M G Thomas 
 

Councillor(s) 
C M J Evans 
L James 
M W Locke     
M S Tribe 
 

Councillor(s) 
E W Fitzgerald 
D H Jenkins 
M Jones 
B J Rowlands  
T M White 

    
Cabinet Member(s)  
Cllr Robert Francis-Davies Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration,  

Events & Tourism  
   
Officer(s) 
Mark Wade 

 
Director - Place 

Paul Relf 
Katy Evans 
Rachel Percival 
 

Strategic Economic Regeneration Manager 
City Centre Team Leader 
Scrutiny Officer 
 

Apologies for Absence 
Councillor(s): M Jones 
 

 
67    Disclosure of Personal and Prejudicial Interests 
 

There were no disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests. 
 

68 Prohibition of Whipped Votes and Declaration of Party Whips 
 

None. 
 

69 Minutes  
 

Minutes of the previous meeting were agreed. 
 

70 Public Questions 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Minutes of the Scrutiny Performance Panel – Service Improvement & Finance (12.03.2024) 
Cont’d 

 

There were no public questions received. 
 

71 Building Control Wales Audit Report and Building Safety in Wales 

 
This item was deferred until the Panels next meeting on 9 April. 
 

72 Achievement against Corporate Priorities / Objectives / Policy 
Commitments for Development and Regeneration 
 

Cllr Robert Francis-Davies and Paul Relf talked through the report which 

summarised the work areas and the achievements within planning and city 

regeneration departments. 

• Work on the Regional Economic Delivery Plan is ongoing with funding support 

provided through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund and Levelling Up. 

• Several strategic grants are available to enable stability to the private sector and 

third sector with the city centre benefitting from town centre loans, placemaking 

and strategic grants. 

• A new hotel is in discussion and would be situated between the Arena and the 

LC, this is likely to be 4 star / higher end Hotel. 

• Seven districts outside the city centre have a placemaking plan in development. 

These will be progressed as quickly as possible using available funding and with 

limitations to design and contactor capacity. 

• Job creation is growing through start up and business development/improvement 

grants and UK Shared prosperity funding. Job retention of funded posts and 

attracting new companies to the area was also discussed. 

• The Panel asked questions and development updates on the former Debenhams 

site, Castle Square, the Dragon Hotel, the Dolphin Hotel, the Civic Centre and 

Copr Bay. 

 

73 Regeneration Project(s) Update – 71-72 The Kingsway  
 
Cllr Robert Francis-Davies and Katy Evans presented the report. It was noted 
that: 

• Practical completion of the site has been delayed a few weeks from its original 
target of end of March. 

• Discussions with potential tenants continue and it is anticipated that the 
building will be fully let within a reasonable time scale but not on practical 
completion. 

• The development has benefitted from 13.7m of City Deal funding. 

• The Panel asked questions about Picton Arcade, bike storage, the demand 
for office space, marketing and City Deal funding. 

 
74 Work Plan 
 

The work plan was noted with mention of the changes to next month’s agenda. 
 

Page 2



Minutes of the Scrutiny Performance Panel – Service Improvement & Finance (12.03.2024) 
Cont’d 

 

75 Letters 
 

76 Exclusion of the Public 
 

The public were excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as set out in Paragraph 14 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007. 

 
77 Regeneration Project(s) Update – 71-72 The Kingsway  

 
 

 
The meeting ended at 11.32 am. 

 
Chair 

Page 3



 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Performance 
 

Service Improvement, Regeneration and Finance Scrutiny 
Performance Panel 9 April 2024 

 
 

Audit Wales Report – “Cracks in the Foundations” Building 
Safety in Wales 

Purpose To brief the Panel on the findings of the Audit Wales Report, the 
implications and actions required of the Council. 
 

Content The Audit Wales report gives a critical oversight and raises 
concerns that not enough priority is being given to Building 
Control services. It suggests that there is an absence of robust 
planning and clear decision making, and inadequate resources, 
which raises fears that the new Building Safety act legislation will 
not be delivered as intended in Wales. 
 

Councillors are 
being asked to 
 

Consider the information provided and give views  

Lead Councillor Councillor David Hopkins, Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services and Performance 
 

Lead Officer  
Report Author Peter Richards 

Tel: 01792 635622 
E-mail: peter.c.richards@swansea.gov.uk 

Legal Officer Adrian Jeremiah 

Finance Officer Peter Keys 

  

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 Following the Grenfell tragedy in 2017 and the recommendations made in the 

Hackett report, the Building Safety Act was given Royal ascent in April 2022. 
This Act aims to improve the safety of high rise and other in scope buildings in 
England and Wales, by establishing new regulations for the design, 
construction, maintenance, and occupation of such buildings. 
 

1.2 The Act also sets a requirement for all practicing Building Control Inspectors to 
demonstrate competency at one of three levels (Domestic, General, Specialist) 
and become registered by April 1st, 2024. 

 

Page 4

Agenda Item 6



 
2. Findings 
 
2.1 The Audit Wales Report looked at all Building Control Authorities in Wales and 

how each is prepared to take on the enhanced responsibilities and 
requirements of the new Building Safety Act 2022. The audit focused on the 
resilience of existing services and the robustness of building safety assurance 
systems. 

 
2.2     The findings from the report give a critical oversight and raised concerns that 

not enough priority is being given to these services. It suggested that there is 
an absence of robust planning and clear decision making, and inadequate 
resources, which raises fears that the new legislation will not be delivered as 
intended in Wales. 

 
2.3 Eight recommendations were made, four directed at Welsh Government and 

four directed at Local Authorities. 
 
2.4      Recommendations for Local Authorities 

• Plan for new responsibilities and ensure they are adequately prioritised 
and resourced. 

• Review financial management and fee setting. 
• Explore opportunities to strengthen resilience through collaboration and 

regionalisation. 
• Review and strengthen risk management processes. 

 
3.       Council Response 
 
3.1      Short Term 

• Continue with recruitment campaign to fill vacancies. 
• Subject to the success of the above consider conversion to 

apprenticeships. 
• Direct all staff towards proof of competence and successful professional 

registration. 
• Consider action for officers refusing to undertake the above. 
• Implement new salary / structure April 24 following successful 

registration of officers. 
 

3.2      Long Term 
• Establish long term succession plan. 
• Maintain continued competencies and registration of officers. 
• Consider opportunities for collaboration regional / hub working. 
• Create an earmarked reserve where any surplus income generated is 

reinvested into the service in accordance with the Building (Local 
Authority Charges) Regulations 2010. 

• Publish financial statement annually in accordance with the above 
regulations.  

 
4. Legal implications  
 

Page 5



4.1 There are potential risks to fulfil the requirements of the Building Safety Act and 
maintain service delivery if officers fail or refuse to undertake relevant 
competency validation to become registered. There are also potential sanctions 
for failing to account in accordance with the Building (Local Authority Charges) 
Regulations 2010 and CIPFA Local Authority Building Control accounting 
guidance 2010 

 
5. Finance Implications 
 
5.1 The establishment of an earmarked reserve may have wider implications for the 

corporate budget. 
 
6. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
6.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the 

socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations  (Wales) Act 2015 
and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

• Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-economic 
disadvantage. 

• Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language. 

• Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

• Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
6.1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates  that public 

bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable 
development means the process of improving the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in accordance 
with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving the ‘well-being 
goals’. 

 
6.1.2 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due 

regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and priorities, 
such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the United 
Nations Convention on the Rights of the  Child (UNCRC) and Welsh language. 

 
6.2 As this is an information report there is no need for an IIA. 
 
 
Background papers:  
 
Building Safety Act 

Page 6



https://ccossecure-
my.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/personal/peter_richards2_swansea_gov_uk/Documents/Desk
top/The%20Building%20Safety%20Act%202022.docx?d=w4a2660bb10e64fbe9527f1
a6a15ebe3a&csf=1&web=1&e=aR7v90 
 
Audit Wales Report 

‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales (audit.wales) 
 
Fees and charges legislation 
The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 (legislation.gov.uk) 
 
 
 
Appendices:   
Appendix A – “Cracks in the Foundations – Building Safety in Wales 
                       

Page 7

https://ccossecure-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/personal/peter_richards2_swansea_gov_uk/Documents/Desktop/The%20Building%20Safety%20Act%202022.docx?d=w4a2660bb10e64fbe9527f1a6a15ebe3a&csf=1&web=1&e=aR7v90
https://ccossecure-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/personal/peter_richards2_swansea_gov_uk/Documents/Desktop/The%20Building%20Safety%20Act%202022.docx?d=w4a2660bb10e64fbe9527f1a6a15ebe3a&csf=1&web=1&e=aR7v90
https://ccossecure-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/personal/peter_richards2_swansea_gov_uk/Documents/Desktop/The%20Building%20Safety%20Act%202022.docx?d=w4a2660bb10e64fbe9527f1a6a15ebe3a&csf=1&web=1&e=aR7v90
https://ccossecure-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/personal/peter_richards2_swansea_gov_uk/Documents/Desktop/The%20Building%20Safety%20Act%202022.docx?d=w4a2660bb10e64fbe9527f1a6a15ebe3a&csf=1&web=1&e=aR7v90
https://www.audit.wales/sites/default/files/publications/Cracks_in_the_Foundations_Building_Safety_in_Wales_English.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/404/contents/made


‘Cracks in the Foundations’ 
– Building Safety in Wales  
Report of the Auditor General for Wales

August 2023

Page 8



page 2 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

The Auditor General is independent of the Senedd and government. He examines and certifies 
the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including 
NHS bodies. He also has the power to report to the Senedd on the economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their 
resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts local government 
value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales 
Audit Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise 
the Auditor General.

© Auditor General for Wales 2023

Audit Wales is the umbrella brand of the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office, 
which are each separate legal entities with their own legal functions. Audit Wales is not itself a 
legal entity. While the Auditor General has the auditing and reporting functions described above, 
the Wales Audit Office’s main functions are to provide staff and other resources for the exercise 
of the Auditor General’s functions, and to monitor and advise the Auditor General.

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium.  
If you re-use it, your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context.  
The material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales copyright and you must give 
the title of this publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will 
need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/
or language, please contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales. 
We welcome telephone calls in Welsh and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or 
English and we will respond in the language you have used. Corresponding in Welsh will not 
lead to a delay.

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.

This report has been prepared for presentation to the Senedd 
under the Government of Wales Act 2006.

Page 9

mailto:info%40audit.wales?subject=


page 3 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Contents

Summary report	
Context	 4

	 Building Control and Building Safety in Wales	 4

	 The Grenfell disaster and the Hackitt Inquiry	 5

Key Conclusions	 7

Key facts	 9

Recommendations	 11

Detailed report
1	 Responsible bodies are yet to develop comprehensive plans that 
	 set out how the new and revised responsibilities introduced by the 
	 Building Safety Act will be addressed	 15

2 	 Resourcing issues make it unlikely that local authorities can 
	 successfully implement the new building safety regime or that 
	 services are fit for purpose	 23

3	 There is little evaluation of building control services across 
	 Wales and no national comprehensive system of building safety 
	 assurance	 39

Appendices
1	 Audit Approach and Methods	 46

2	 Building Regulations Approved Documents	 48

3	 The Building Safety Regulator and Accountable Person	 49

4	 Scottish approach	 51

	 Operating model	 51

	 Response to Grenfell	 52

	 Local hub model	 54

Page 10



page 4 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Context

Building Control and Building Safety in Wales

1	 Building Regulations are a set of legal requirements for the design and 
construction of new buildings, extensions, and material alterations to, 
and certain changes of use of, existing buildings. Building regulations 
help ensure that new buildings, conversions, renovations, and extensions 
(domestic or commercial) are safe, accessible and energy efficient. 

2	 The building regulations are defined by the Welsh Government and cover 
specific topics including structural integrity, fire protection, accessibility, 
energy performance, electrical and installation of combustion appliances. 
They also lay, for example, standards for drains, ventilation, protection 
against the ingress of water and protection against contamination including 
methane and radon gas. To help people to comply with them, the Welsh 
Government produces Approved Documents which offer detailed guidance 
and show ways of achieving compliance, expressed in simple functional 
statements – see Appendix 2 for further information. 

3	 The primary responsibility for compliance with Building Regulations rests 
with designers, builders and building owners, and there are two routes 
open to them when seeking approval for their work1. They can choose to 
pay for either:

•	 a local authority inspector from the local council and run through Local 
Authority Building Control (LABC); or

•	 an approved inspector from a government-approved private building 
control company. 

4	 In practical terms, if construction work is proposed, the work must comply 
with these Regulations. Although work on a new build or extension may 
proceed before any formal consent, nothing can proceed beyond the 
inspection stages without the approval of an inspector. When the building 
is completed to the satisfaction of an inspector, a Completion or Final 
Certificate is issued (depending on who has approved the work). This 
certificate is only provided when all work has been approved and a final 
site inspection has passed. 

1	 The system in Wales mirrors England and has largely been unchanged since the adoption of 
Part 2 of the Building Act 1984 which allowed for the introduction of approved inspectors as 
an alternative to obtaining building regulations approval from a local authority. In Scotland, 
all building control activities rest with local government and there are no private building 
approved inspectors.

Summary report

Page 11

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/55


page 5 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

5	 They both work in the same way, checking plans prior to works 
commencing, physically inspecting work during the development, advising 
any changes as necessary to ensure compliance, before re-inspecting 
the job prior to signing the project off. However, only a local authority 
has powers of enforcement and prosecution where breaches of the 
Regulations occur. An approved inspector should hand the project over 
to the local authority if there are problems with the project that cannot be 
resolved informally. There can be heavy penalties, including fines and 
imprisonment, for breaches of the Regulations, although in practice this 
rarely happens. 

The Grenfell disaster and the Hackitt Inquiry

6	 The building regulation regime was unchanged for many years until 
the Grenfell Tower Fire of 2017, in which 72 people died. Following this 
tragedy, an independent review into Building Regulations and fire safety 
was commissioned by the UK (United Kingdom) Government. Chaired by 
Dame Judith Hackitt, the review’s report2 was published in May 2018 and 
exposed long standing and serious issues3 with the building safety system, 
including: 

•	 Ignorance – regulations and guidance were not always read by those 
who needed to, and when they did the guidance was misunderstood 
and misinterpreted.

•	 Indifference – the primary motivation of the system was to do things 
as quickly and cheaply as possible rather than to deliver quality homes 
which are safe for people to live in. When concerns were raised by 
others involved in building work or by residents, they were often 
ignored. Some of those undertaking building work failed to prioritise 
safety, using the ambiguity of regulations and guidance to ‘game’ the 
system.

•	 Lack of clarity on roles and responsibilities – there was ambiguity 
over where responsibility lay, exacerbated by a level of fragmentation 
within the industry, and precluding robust ownership of accountability.

•	 Inadequate regulatory oversight and enforcement tools – the size 
or complexity of a project did not seem to inform the way in which it was 
overseen by the regulator. Where enforcement was necessary, it was 
often not pursued. Where it was pursued, the penalties were so small 
as to be an ineffective deterrent.

2	 Judith Hackitt, Building a Safer Future, May 2018
3	 Sir John Egan, Rethinking Construction: Report of the Construction Task Force, November 

1998 Page 12

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/707785/Building_a_Safer_Future_-_web.pdf
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://constructingexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/rethinking_construction_report.pdf


page 6 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

7	 The report recommended a new framework to replace the complex system 
that had grown over decades, along with a need to change culture from 
one that prioritises structural integrity and design to one which has equal 
emphasis on fire safety quality controls. Following the Hackitt Inquiry, both 
the Welsh and UK governments prioritised work on addressing the review 
findings culminating in the Building Safety Act 2022 (the ‘Act’)4. The Act 
represents the biggest shake-up of building safety regulation since 1984 in 
England and Wales. 

8	 This report looks at how the Welsh Government, local authorities and their 
key partners are implementing the requirements of the Building Safety Act 
2022. The focus of our review has been on assessing the preparedness of 
bodies to take on their new and enhanced responsibilities, the resilience 
of existing services, and the robustness of building safety assurance 
systems. Appendix 1 sets out our audit approach and methods.

4	  Building Safety Act 2022. Page 13

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/30/contents/enacted


page 7 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

9	 Our overall conclusion is that responsible bodies – particularly local 
authorities and fire and rescue – are unable to effectively discharge their 
responsibilities and ensure buildings in Wales are safe. 

10	 In Part 1 of the report, we consider the priorities set by the Welsh 
Government in respect of the Act and how well prepared local authorities 
are to deliver these. We found the Welsh Government prioritised 
responding to the Grenfell disaster, working with the UK Government. 
This resulted in the Building Safety Act 2022 which seeks to address 
longstanding problems in the regulation and oversight of building design 
and construction. 

11	 We found that the Welsh and UK governments are diverging in key policy 
areas, and some doubt remains on how the Act will be implemented in 
Wales, mainly because decisions in key areas are yet to be decided and 
agreed. This is creating uncertainty, with most local authorities who are 
responsible for delivering these changes and, by extension in terms of joint 
working, fire and rescue services, who are yet to develop comprehensive 
plans that set out how they intend to deliver their new and revised 
responsibilities. 

12	 In Part 2 we consider the strength of local authority building control 
and enforcement services, the effectiveness of the fee-setting regime 
and how services are changing to strengthen resilience. We conclude 
that as a profession, building control and building safety face significant 
staffing challenges. An ageing workforce (see Key Facts below), poor 
succession planning, a wider lack of investment in services and training 
and development highlight that these services are neither resilient nor fit 
for the future. 

Key Conclusions

Page 14



page 8 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

13	 We also have concerns with the financial management of building control, 
concluding that in some authorities current practices are potentially 
unlawful with services not operating in line with regulations and guidance. 
While the pandemic has helped local authorities modernise their services, 
utilising cloud-based IT (Information Technology) and remote working, their 
resilience nonetheless remains weak. Opportunities to strengthen services 
through collaboration and regionalisation are not being prioritised and little 
work has taken place in these areas.

14	 Finally, in Part 3 we examine building safety assurance arrangements. 
We found that the absence of a national framework for monitoring and 
evaluating building control and building safety means that local authorities 
and their partners are not working to agreed appropriate outcome 
measures, targets, or benchmarks. Coupled with limited scrutiny and 
evaluation of building control and building safety, and poor management of 
risk, we conclude that assurance systems are inadequate. 

Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales

The Grenfell Tower fire was a national tragedy, the 
impact of which we continue to feel today. My report 
highlights major concerns with the implementation 
of the new system for Building Safety. Although it’s 
heartening to see the passion and commitment from 
those working in the sector, I am concerned that not 
enough priority is being given to these services on the 
ground. The absence of robust plans, clear decision 
making, and adequate resources raises real fears 
that the new legislation will not be delivered and the 
problems it is seeking to address will remain.

Page 15



page 9 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Key facts

 177 total number 
of staff in building 

control

118 Average applications 
handled per surveyor/

manager

11  total number of staff 
replaced in 2021-22

96% proportion 
of surveyors and 

managers that are 
white

0 number of 
surveyors or 

managers who have 
a disabilityOf the of the 133 

FTE surveyors and 
managers, 54.4% are 
over the age of 50 and 

only 10% under 30

100% proportion of admin 
staff that are white

21 total number of 
staff who left building 

control in 2021-22

Page 16



page 10 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Surveyor

Male

Over 50 years old

Qualified

Manager

Male

50-60 years old

Qualified

Surveyor

Male

30-40 years old

Unqualified

Surveyor

Male

Under 30 years old

Qualified

Admin

Female

Any age

Unqualified

Surveyor

Male

Over 50 years old

Associate member

Surveyor

Male

Over 40 years old

Unqualified

The average local authority building control team is composed of:

Page 17



page 11 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

15	 Our recommendations are set out below. We expect the Welsh 
Government and individual local authorities to consider the findings of 
this review and our recommendations and to complete an organisational 
response form and publish this. We also expect each local authority 
governance and audit committee will receive the report and monitor their 
response to our recommendations in a timely way.

Exhibit 1: recommendations

Recommendations

R1	 The Welsh Government should provide greater clarity 
on the implementation and expectations of the Building 
Safety Act to ensure local authorities are able to deliver 
their new responsibilities and duties. This should include:
•	 clarifying the detailed requirements for competency 

and registration to enable local authorities to plan for 
these changes;

•	 a specific timetable for development and adoption of 
Welsh guidance to ensure local authorities and others 
can deliver their duties; and

•	 the Welsh Government should work with key 
stakeholders, such as LABC Cymru, to support 
understanding and implementation when guidance is 
issued.

R2	 The Welsh Government should ensure that it has 
sufficient resources to deliver the legislative and policy 
changes for Building Safety to reduce implementation 
risks.

Recommendations

Page 18



page 12 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Recommendations

R3	 The Welsh Government should review the mixed market 
approach to building control and conclude whether it 
continues to be appropriate and effective in keeping 
buildings in Wales safe. This should:
•	 assess the status quo against potential changes, such 

as the model of delivery in Scotland;
•	 be framed around a SWOT analysis of costs, benefits, 

threats, and risks;
•	 draw on existing research to identify good practice; 

and
•	 be published and agree a way forward.

R4	 The Welsh Government should increase its oversight 
and management of the building control sector to ensure 
there is a robust assurance system in place for building 
control and safety by:
•	 creating a national performance framework with clear 

service standards to promote consistency of service. 
This should also include outcome measures to 
monitor performance and an evaluation and reporting 
framework for scrutiny.

•	 developing a national building safety workforce 
plan to address the most significant risks facing the 
sector. This should include regular data collection and 
publication, as well as coverage of priorities, such as:
	- a greater focus on trainees to mitigate succession 

risks;
	- establishing aligned, national job roles matched to 

competency levels;
	- increasing the diversity of the sector to ensure it 

reflects modern Wales; and
	- specific funding to enable surveyors to obtain and 

maintain competence should also be considered. 
•	 the Welsh Government should explore with the further 

education sector how best to provide building control 
training in Wales to support succession planning, skills 
development, and competency. 

Page 19



page 13 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Recommendations

R5	 Local authorities should develop local action plans that 
articulate a clear vision for building control to be able to 
plan effectively to implement the requirements of the Act. 
The Plans should:
•	 be based on an assessment of local risks and include 

mitigation actions; 
•	 set out how building control services will be resourced 

to deliver all their statutory responsibilities;
•	 illustrate the key role of building control in ensuring 

safe buildings and be linked to well-being objectives 
and other corporate objectives; and

•	 include outcome measures that are focused on 
all building control services, not just dangerous 
structures. 

R6 	 Local authorities should urgently review their financial 
management of building control and ensure they are fully 
complying with Regulations. This should include:
•	 establishing a timetable of regular fee reviews to 

ensure charges reflect the cost of services and comply 
with the Regulations;

•	 annually reporting and publishing financial 
performance in line with the Regulations;

•	 ensuring relevant staff are provided with training 
to ensure they apply the Regulations and interpret 
financial reporting correctly; and

•	 revise fees to ensure services are charged for in 
accordance with the Regulations.

R7	 Local authorities should work with partners to make 
better use of limited resources by exploring the potential 
for collaboration and regionalisation to strengthen 
resilience through a cost benefit analysis of partnering 
with neighbouring authorities, establishing joint ventures 
and/or adopting a regional model where beneficial.

Page 20



page 14 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Recommendations

R8	 Local authorities should review risk management 
processes to ensure that risks are systematically 
identified, recorded, assessed, mitigated and subject to 
regular evaluation and scrutiny.

Page 21



Responsible bodies 
are yet to develop 
comprehensive plans 
that set out how the 
new and revised 
responsibilities 
introduced by the 
Building Safety Act 
will be addressed

01 Page 22



page 16 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

1.1	 In this section of the report, we consider the Welsh Government’s 
response to Grenfell and the changes introduced, and planned, in the Act. 
We identify how local authorities and their partners are preparing for these 
changes and provide an analysis of how well placed they are to deliver 
them.

The Welsh Government prioritised work on responding to the 
Grenfell disaster and elected to work with the UK Government on 
the Building Safety Act 2022

1.2	 Following the Grenfell tragedy and the findings of Dame Judith Hackitt’s 
inquiry, the Welsh Government established a Building Safety Expert 
Group. The view of the Expert Group was that while the flaws in the 
system are equally valid in Wales as they are in England, the context and 
therefore the solutions need to be different. 

1.3	 The scale of the high-rise landscape in Wales is not comparable to 
England where there are estimated to be over 11,000 high-rise buildings. 
At the time of the Expert Group work there were 1475 high-rise residential 
buildings in Wales with up to five additional high-rise buildings being built 
each year.

1.4	 In March 2019, the Expert Group published a roadmap6 for making 
buildings in Wales safer, setting out both longer-term priorities but also 
shorter-term interventions that could be implemented immediately to 
ensure the failings of Grenfell were not replayed in the future. The Expert 
Group recommended:
•	 clarifying key roles and responsibilities;
•	 ensuring the imbalance between building designers, contractors and 

regulators is tackled;
•	 creating a single system with consistent standards by addressing the 

mixed economy of the two-tier system for building control with both 
public and private building control;

•	 improving capacity and competence of building control officers;
•	 creating an enforcement and sanctions regime which is delivering 

effective compliance and guaranteeing safety; and 
•	 raising standards with non-safe buildings being improved. 

5	  As of March 2023 there are 171 high-rise residential buildings.
6	  Building Safety Expert Group, A Road Map to safer buildings in Wales, March 2019.Page 23

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/building-safety-expert-group-road-map_0.pdf


page 17 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

1.5	 In January 2021, following the work of the Expert Group, the Welsh 
Government published its ‘Safer Buildings in Wales white paper’7. The 
White Paper proposed revisions to the building safety regime and the 
separation of roles between duty holders and residents. Following 
consultation, most respondents agreed with the proposed approach but 
wanted, as much as possible, the Welsh policy regime to be consistent 
with England. Consequently, the Welsh Government elected to proceed 
jointly on some aspects of the UK Government’s planned legislation, to 
take advantage of economies of scale and ensure appropriate alignment 
across England and Wales. 

There is uncertainty as to how key elements of the Building Safety 
Act 2022 are being implemented in Wales

1.6	 The Act received Royal Assent on 28 April 2022 and focuses on the 
following key areas:
•	 the safety and standards of all buildings;
•	 assuring the safety of higher-risk buildings, both in construction and 

occupation;
•	 improving the competence of the people responsible for overseeing, 

managing, and delivering works to higher-risk buildings;
•	 ensuring clearer standards and guidance; and
•	 putting residents at the heart of a new system of building safety.

1.7	 Alongside the Act, there have also been changes to fire safety law for 
buildings containing two or more sets of domestic premises in England 
and Wales. The Fire Safety Act 20218 clarifies application of the Fire 
Safety Order on who is responsible for managing and reducing fire risks in 
different parts of multi-occupied residential buildings and the parts of the 
building it relates to – for instance, the external wall, and doors between 
domestic premises and common parts. 

7	 Welsh Government, Safer Buildings in Wales: A Consultation: A Building Safety White Paper, 
12 January 2021

8	 The Fire Safety Act 2021 Page 24

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/30/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consultation.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/24/contents/enacted


page 18 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

1.8	 Through these changes, the Welsh Government wants to ensure there is 
absolute clarity about who has responsibility for the safety of a building 
at each different point in the process. The Construction (Design and 
Management) Regulations 2015 already set out who the key people 
are during a construction or refurbishment project. The Client, Principal 
Designer, Principal Contractor, designers, and contractors are all identified 
as ‘dutyholders.’ 

1.9	 Additional duties have now been placed on dutyholders in relation to 
building safety. Looking forward, they will be required to cooperate and 
share information with relevant regulatory bodies and will be responsible 
for ensuring compliance with building regulations. They will also need 
to ensure that they, and the people they employ, are competent to do 
the work they are undertaking. They will also have to comply with the 
regulatory requirements imposed on them. 

The Building Safety Act 2022 came into force in April 2023. All 
aspects of the Act apply to England, but only Part 3 (with some 
minor exceptions) applies to Wales. Subsidiary legislation 
and guidance on Part 3 are currently being introduced by the 
Welsh Government, with full implementation and compliance 
set for April 2025. In addition, the Welsh Government is also 
developing legislation that will deal with the 
areas covered in Part 4 of the Building Safety Act 
2022. This includes introducing a new Regulator 
for Wales (yet to be decided) and equivalent duty 
holder roles such as the Accountable Person.

Page 25

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/51/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/51/contents/made


page 19 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

1.10	These reforms apply to every eligible building project, whether it is building 
an extension, a block of flats or a shopping centre. The Welsh Government 
will therefore require that higher-risk buildings9 within the scope of the 
different changes taking place to the various Building Safety Regimes 
will pass through stop points or ‘Gateway points’ before they can pass to 
the next stage of works. On its current timetable, the Welsh Government 
anticipates the new design and construction (building control) regime that 
covers Gateways will come into force in April 2025. The three Gateways 
are:

1.11	 When passing through a Gateway point, those designing and constructing 
the building will have to evidence that the design and construction meet, 
and continue to meet, regulatory requirements and ensure that adequate 
safety measures and building information are in place so that they can be 
appropriately managed, maintained, and improved. They will also have 
to think about how building safety will be managed when the building is 
occupied. Consequently, the Act and subordinate legislation are aimed at 
creating a universal change in responsibility and culture within the building 
industry through the introduction of clearer standards and guidance 
and the establishment of a more effective regulatory and responsibility 
framework for the construction industry. 

9	 The definition of ‘Higher-risk building’ differs between England and Wales. In early 2023, the 
Welsh Government consulted on their proposed definition of ‘a building that is at least 18 
metres in height or has at least seven storeys where it also contains at least one residential 
unit or is a hospital or a care home’. The outcome of the consultation has not yet been 
published. In England, a building requires at least two residential units.

Gateway 1 Gateway 2 Gateway 3

Before Planning 
Permission is 

granted

Before 
Construction 

Begins

Before the 
Building is 
Occupied

Page 26

https://www.gov.wales/building-safety-higher-risk-buildings


page 20 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

1.12	 Importantly, the Act clarifies who has responsibility for fire and building 
safety throughout the life cycle of a higher-risk building and establishes 
two new roles to make this ambition a reality – in England this will be the 
Building Safety Regulator and the Accountable Person. In respect of the 
Building Safety Regulator, the UK Government has elected to appoint the 
Health and Safety Executive to deliver this function (see Appendix 4 for 
further detail). 

1.13	At present, the Welsh Government is planning to make the Building 
Control functions of the regulator for high-risk buildings a role for local 
authorities, but is yet to set out how this element of the new regime will 
work or what its expectations of local authority services are. The Welsh 
Government’s decision to make local authorities the Building Safety 
Regulator for oversight of high-risk buildings is viewed with unease by 
some we have interviewed. Several approved inspector bodies (who work 
across England and Wales) and some fire and rescue service staff raised 
concerns that local authorities are not sufficiently resourced or suitably 
experienced to deliver this role. Instead, they would prefer to see Wales 
adopt the Building Safety Regulator system planned in England.

1.14	Overwhelmingly, local authorities and fire and rescue services are 
concerned about the late development and/or notification of policy 
decisions and options in implementing changes to the building safety 
regime introduced by the Act. For instance, every local authority officer 
interviewed raised concerns over the lack of detail on the process for 
registration of the Building Control profession, one of the most significant 
features of the Act, and something which will affect all Welsh local 
authorities, not just those with tall residential buildings. 

1.15	Everyone working in building control, in both the private and public sector, 
will soon have to register if they want to continue to practise. In addition, 
all local authority building control surveyors will need to complete a regular 
formal assessment of their competence. Building surveyors and managers 
will need to be suitably qualified before they can practices, although there 
may be some transition time for this to take place. If training is required 
before they can undertake work, then this will take resources out of 
already stretched teams and backfilling may be needed to cover for this.

1.16	Taken together, these changes will have a significant impact on local 
authorities. However, at the time of our audit the new system had not 
been set out in draft nor consulted on. The Welsh Government plans to 
introduce the registration of all Building Inspectors and Building Control 
Approvers from October 2023. This is creating uncertainty and ambiguity 
and is reducing buy-in from those with building safety responsibilities, 
especially given the ever-decreasing window of opportunity. 

Page 27



page 21 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

1.17	Welsh Government officials we interviewed acknowledge that they 
have not been able to resource policy work as quickly as they would 
like, and this has not been helped by the recent retirement of two key 
members of staff who have been central to driving the changes in Wales. 
Consequently, many local authority officers noted a growing unease that 
progress in Scotland is well ahead of England and Wales, and England is 
now advancing more rapidly than Wales. This uncertainty is adding to their 
already challenging operating environment. 

Most local authorities and fire and rescue services have a good 
understanding of local building safety risks but are yet to set out 
how they plan to deliver the requirements of the Act

1.18	The implications of the Act are wide ranging and local government needs 
to be well advanced in its preparation for delivering these enhanced 
responsibilities. Even though key policy choices are yet to be finalised in 
Wales, we would still expect to find those who manage building control and 
safety teams to understand the impact of the Act, especially the consistent 
Welsh Government messaging on the increased level of expertise that will 
now be needed to achieve and demonstrate competence and compliance.

1.19	Through our fieldwork we found that in general, both local authority and 
fire and rescue building safety staff have a good understanding of the 
number and locations of high-risk buildings. However, many admit that the 
level of detail and knowledge of design, construction and maintenance of 
these buildings varies and not all those we interviewed felt confident that 
they had an accurate and up to date picture. Despite this, we found that 
there is limited action taking place or planned in terms of updating and 
improving knowledge of the potential high-risk buildings within each area. 

1.20	Many interviewees also flagged a lack of understanding on the potential 
implications of the Act both at a corporate level but also directly in key 
areas of operational activity, such as housing services. While most 
officers noted that there was an increased awareness in building safety 
immediately following the Grenfell disaster, the overwhelming majority 
noted that over time attention has since waned. Indeed, most noted that 
building control as an area of work rarely features as a corporate priority, 
and there is poor knowledge and understanding of the implications of the 
Act.

Page 28



page 22 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

1.21	Very few local authorities have developed a specific plan to implement 
the changes being made to the building safety regime. In addition, no one 
we interviewed in local government could articulate a clear vision on what 
their service will need to achieve in terms of the Act and their enhanced 
responsibilities, nor a route map for its achievement. This reflects the 
low corporate priority given to building control. This is something that 
was echoed in our interviews with fire and rescue service staff, several 
of whom raised concerns with both the Welsh Government’s and local 
government’s prioritisation of building control services.

1.22	For example, building control is not a standalone service in 21 of the 22 
local authorities and is most usually located in planning services and 
overseen by the lead officer for planning. There are also no member 
champions for building control. This means that the service often lacks 
agency, profile, and recognition. This contributes to building control officers 
feeling powerless, with most left to get on with it and manage as best they 
can, focusing on addressing day-to-day issues, rather than being able to 
invest time in planning for the medium to long term. 

1.23	Overall, managers are focussed on maintaining service delivery and are 
not preparing or planning for the Act’s reform of services. This is partly a 
result of the significant uncertainties that remain about how the Act will be 
implemented in Wales. The result is that local authority building control 
services have little influence and no prioritisation and are working in a very 
uncertain environment. 

Page 29



02

Resourcing issues 
make it unlikely that 
local authorities can 
successfully implement 
the new building safety 
regime or that services 
are fit for purpose 

Page 30



page 24 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.1	 In Part 2 of the report, we set out how building control services are 
currently provided, primarily looking at the operating environment for 
local authorities but also considering the role of approved inspectors. We 
summarise the staffing and resource challenges facing the profession and 
how well positioned services are to overcome these.

Building control as a profession faces significant staffing 
challenges

2.2	 To effectively implement the Act requires local authorities and others to 
have staff who are competent, appropriately qualified, and adequately 
supported to maintain and update their skills and knowledge. In addition, it 
is also important that staff have opportunities to develop their experience, 
particularly in more complex buildings and changing construction 
standards, to be able to provide efficient and effective services. 

Building control is no longer seen as a good career choice and the challenging 
demographics are severely impacting the short and long-term resilience of 
services

2.3	 Historically, building control was seen as a positive career role. Many 
managers we interviewed noted that they had joined their local authority 
as a trainee and had benefitted from opportunities to progress their 
knowledge and responsibilities over time and had been supported to 
develop their careers within the organisation. However, in recent years this 
has changed. The impact of austerity has supressed wages and reduced 
staff numbers to the extent that local authority building control roles are no 
longer seen as financially attractive and with less opportunity for career 
progression than in the past. 

2.4	 This is borne out by the ongoing recruitment challenge facing local 
authorities who struggle to fill vacant posts, even where market 
supplements are offered. For instance, at the end of March 2022, there 
were 18.5 Full-time Equivalent (FTE) vacant roles across Wales, including 
14 building surveyors. Despite the detrimental impact on service delivery, 
only 2.2 FTE agency staff were appointed to bolster services and despite 
the increase in building control applications made during the pandemic 
and 2021-22.

Page 31



page 25 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.5	 Our survey of local authority building control services found that at the 
end of March 2022, there were 133 FTE building surveyors and managers 
and 44 admin staff working in these services. This translates to a surveyor 
or manager for every 23,361 residents in Wales. In comparison, the 
most recent published data in Scotland reported 498 building surveyors 
and managers and 134 admin staff10, which equates to one surveyor or 
manager for every 10,633 residents.

2.6	 In addition to the ongoing recruitment and retention challenge, the age 
profile of local authority building surveyors is also concerning. Exhibit 1 
shows that of the 133 FTE surveyors and managers, 54.4% are over the 
age of 50 and only 10% under 30. This highlights operational and service 
continuity risks for local authorities which are likely to see a major loss of 
experience and knowledge when people retire in the next decade. 

Exhibit 1: building control managers and surveyors by age March 2022

The ageing building control workforce represents a major risk for the 
implementation and delivery of the new building safety regime.

Source: Audit Wales survey

10	Data for 2021-22 not yet available. No comparative data for England exists. Scottish 
Government, Building Standards Workforce Data Collection Analysis Report 2021, June 
2022

13
Number under 30

29.4
Over 40 under 50

58
Over 50 under 60

18
Over 30 under 40

13 
Over 60 under 67

1 
Over 67

Page 32

https://www.gov.scot/publications/building-standards-workforce-data-collection-analysis-report-2021/


page 26 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.7	 In particular, the loss of experience in the manager cohort is a significant 
risk. Of all managers, 10 (46%) have worked in local authority building 
control services for over 30 years, while 15 are over the age of 50. There 
is a widespread expectation that significant numbers of managers and 
surveyors will retire due to the uncertainty surrounding the registration 
and competency requirements (see above paragraphs 1.15 – 1.17). 
This will lead to a further reduction in capacity, and a loss of experience 
and leadership during a critical time of change when expectations and 
demands on services are increasing. 

2.8	 At the other end of the career cycle, very few trainees are being recruited 
to bolster services and address looming resource and experience gaps. 
Just seven trainees were in place in 2022, with only four in permanent 
roles following the completion of their studies11. Managers cited a lack of 
corporate support to take on trainees and the risk of losing newly qualified 
staff to approved inspectors as key barriers. This makes succession 
planning extremely challenging for all local authorities. More widely, 
the lack of fire engineers, a shortage of surveyors and assessors with 
sufficient knowledge of both high-rise structural safety and cladding 
systems, continue to be a concern.

2.9	 The Local Government Association12 in England has reported similar 
recruitment and retainment issues, noting that 43% of authorities 
struggle to recruit building control officers. Likewise in Scotland, similar 
demographic and succession issues were also identified but the earlier 
implementation of key changes has resulted in a more directive approach 
from the Scottish Government. 

2.10	The Scottish Government developed a national workforce strategy13 and 
had a vision to establish a sustainable, skilled workforce that makes 
building control ‘a profession for everyone’. To support this ambition in 
Scotland, a Professional Competency Framework was introduced in May 
2021. The framework helps to ensure that building verifiers at each level 
can demonstrate being suitably competent and is embedded through the 
Competency Assessment System14. This drives improvement based on 
current skills and is supported by other developments in the sector, such 
as a local authority hub (see Appendix 4 for further information). 

11	Training for apprentices and new entrants is mainly provided under the National LABC 
programmes hosted by the University of Wolverhampton. The Building Control Surveying 
Degree Apprenticeship can train surveyors to different levels of competency related to their 
role. As a surveyor progresses though the levels, they can assess more complex buildings 
and obtain higher-level roles.

12	Local Government Association, Local Government Workforce Survey 2022, May 2022
13	Scottish Government, Building standards verification service: workforce strategy, October 

2020
14	Scottish Government, Building standards - verifiers: professional competency framework, 

May 2021 Page 33

https://www.wlv.ac.uk/courses/apprenticeship-courses/building-control-surveying-degree-apprenticeship/#:~:text=The%20duration%20for%20the%20Degree,based%20learning%20mode%20by%20webinars.
https://www.wlv.ac.uk/courses/apprenticeship-courses/building-control-surveying-degree-apprenticeship/#:~:text=The%20duration%20for%20the%20Degree,based%20learning%20mode%20by%20webinars.
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/LG%20Workforce%20Survey%202022%20-%20Final%20for%20Publication%20-%20Tables%20Hard%20Coded.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/workforce-strategy-building-standards-verification-service/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/building-standards-professional-competency-framework-verifiers/


page 27 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.11	 Scottish Government officials believe that the loss of experienced staff 
– 48 people (primarily building surveyors and managers) resigned from 
Scottish local authority building control services in 2021, following the 
quicker implementation of the new regulatory regime – is now being 
addressed. Through its workforce strategy and competency framework, 
local authorities are prioritising the upskilling of people and recruiting 
more apprentices. At this time, there are no mitigatory actions akin to the 
Scottish Government’s work planned in Wales. 

2.12	The building control workforce also lacks diversity and is not 
representative of modern Wales. Our survey found that 100% of 
administrative staff and 96% of building surveyors and managers classify 
themselves as ethnically white Welsh or white British, and only 5% of 
administrative staff and no building surveyors or managers self-identify as 
having a disability. In addition, the roles within the workforce are clearly 
split along gender lines – Exhibit 2. 

Exhibit 2: the gender of building surveyors, managers, and administrative 
staff in Welsh local authorities in March 2022 

Professional building surveyor and manager roles are overwhelmingly occupied 
by men and lower-paid administrative roles by women.

Source: Audit Wales survey and ONS (Office for National Statistics), Population and household 
estimates, Wales: Census 2021

0 20 40 60 80 100

Admin support

Female

BS & Managers

Wales Population
by Gender

Male

Page 34

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/populationandhouseholdestimateswales/census2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/populationandhouseholdestimateswales/census2021


page 28 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Access to training is limited and staff are not being supported to enhance and 
maintain their skills and knowledge 

2.13	To meet the registration requirements of the new building safety regime 
and ensure staff are competent to practise requires local authorities and 
their partners to invest in sufficient and timely training. Carefully planned 
and recorded continuing professional development and technical training 
are essential to keep abreast of modern technology and changing 
legislative requirements and their practical application. Importantly, 
professional accreditation such as membership of the Chartered Institute 
of Building, the Chartered Association of Building Engineers and Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors is recognised as crucial to demonstrate 
competence. Exhibit 3 shows that in March 2022 less than half of building 
surveyors and managers in Wales were full qualified members of a 
recognised and appropriate professional body. 

Exhibit 3: the proportion of building surveyors and managers who are 
members of professional bodies and their grade at the end of March 2022

Less than 40% of building surveyors and managers are qualified and full 
members of professional bodies.

Source: Audit Wales survey

39.1%
Qualified/full member

13.5%
Associate member

47.4%
Non-member

Page 35



page 29 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.14	Additionally, some staff noted a growing problem of local authorities no 
longer paying for professional subscription fees because of pressures 
on finances. However, the need to demonstrate competence to meet 
the new registration standards is likely to place additional demands on 
local authority budgets to increase resources in professional training and 
qualifications to ensure they can deliver their statutory responsibilities. 
Most of the local authority officers we interviewed noted that this is not 
being factored into future budget setting.

2.15	The average number of training days taken by local authority staff in 2021-
22 was five days for managers, six days for building surveyors and two 
days for administrative staff. Building Control officers we interviewed were 
clear that opportunities to train were, however, continuing to be limited by 
ongoing budget pressures and are often not actively promoted to avoid 
frontline staff being taken out of service delivery, even for short periods of 
time. 

2.16	The building control fee setting guidance allows local authorities to 
increase their charges to pay for training and development to ensure they 
maintain a competent and skilled workforce. However, despite building 
control officers highlighting the importance of accruing money to fund 
training for staff, they noted that surpluses are often taken to fund other 
corporate priorities. 

2.17	 In March 2023, the UK Government provided a £16.5 million grant to the 
LABC to fund 110 new building control trainees for England to support 
the implementation of the Building Safety Act. No such funding has been 
provided by the Welsh Government. Despite a lack of investment, the 
LABC in England continues to make available training opportunities for 
Welsh local authority staff.

2.18	The resilience issues affecting Welsh local authority building control 
services are being felt in other parts of the industry. We found that the 
retention and recruitment issues facing local authorities are similarly being 
experienced by Welsh fire and rescue service. The lack of competitive 
reward packages and an ageing workforce with increasing numbers likely 
to take retirement in the short term is a growing challenge. Similarly, there 
are ongoing problems with the availability of qualified fire engineers and 
competition with the private sector, which offers better terms, conditions, 
and salaries, continues to encourage experienced fire and rescue service 
staff to leave. 

Page 36



page 30 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.19	Historically, where Welsh local authority staff have left, it has been most 
usually to join approved inspectors who offer more attractive salaries, 
terms of conditions of service, such as bonuses and company cars; have 
less responsibility for dangerous structures and enforcement cases; 
and are not dealing with the ongoing pressures created by austerity. 
However, in recent years the flow of staff from local authorities to 
approved inspectors has reduced and private sector building inspection 
services are also beginning to struggle to recruit sufficiently qualified and 
experienced staff. Representatives of several approved inspector bodies 
we interviewed noted that they have now begun to focus on growing their 
future workforce through trainee programmes due to a lack of available 
qualified staff in both England and Wales. 

The pandemic has helped local authorities modernise their 
services, but enforcement remains a problem

2.20	Despite the resourcing pressures faced by local authority building 
control teams, most continue to deliver their work effectively. This 
continued throughout the pandemic, which helped to accelerate efficiency 
improvements with the switch to home based working and digitisation of 
services. 

2.21	At the time of the pandemic most building control surveyors used to travel 
to sites, meeting people face to face and making decisions on the ground, 
but with COVID-19 most of these processes could not be continued. 
Instead, building control services focused on finding solutions to their 
traditional ways of working by updating and changing services. Whilst 
some authorities were fully digital, for others the pandemic created an 
opportunity to improve their use of technology and switch to cloud-based 
services to both optimise efficiency and performance, but also bring 
working practices into line with the private sector. Several interviewees 
noted that without the pandemic, these developments would not have 
happened as quickly, if at all.

2.22	Enforcement is an important part of ensuring that buildings are safe and 
compliant. Activity can range from persuasion and dialogue to encourage 
change, to more hard-edged measures such as prosecution or the 
refusing to issue a completion notice. Through our fieldwork we found that 
enforcement remains problematic, mainly because local authority building 
control has two potentially conflicting functions. 

Page 37



page 31 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.23	Firstly, they are the local regulator of all building work in their area 
ensuring issues raised in the design and construction of buildings that do 
not meet the required standard are addressed. However, they are also 
secondly in competition with approved inspectors for work and need to 
generate sufficient income to pay for all their services. This is an inherent 
weakness of the mixed market system introduced in the 1980s and reflects 
the conflicting role of local authorities which have both a responsibility 
for policing building control but are also in competition with approved 
inspectors to secure work.

2.24	Given approved inspectors are required to refer individual cases of 
non-compliance with building regulations to local authorities to take 
enforcement action, similar disincentives are also in play. As with local 
authorities, maintaining relationships is an important consideration in 
maximising income and can discourage approved inspectors from wanting 
to take enforcement action. 

2.25	Capacity, resources and capability are also significant barriers that can 
limit enforcement action. Officers cited the demands and cost of taking 
developers, property owners or managers to court as a barrier to local 
authorities in the current financial climate. Several approved inspectors 
echoed these views, expressing scepticism that local authorities have the 
resources or capacity to effectively enforce standards and take quick and 
decisive action. 

2.26	Overall, we found that the relationship between local authorities and 
approved inspectors, which is critical to ensuring buildings are safe, is 
at best limited and at worse epitomised by a lack of trust and scepticism 
about the actions of each other. Indeed, several fire and rescue service 
officers we interviewed raised concerns over the robustness of building 
enforcement regulation more generally, both within local authorities but 
also in respect of approved inspectors. 

Page 38



page 32 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Some financial management practices in relation to building 
control appear to be unlawful 

2.27	The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 (the 
‘Regulations’) set the legal framework for the financial governance of local 
authority building control. The Regulations are intended to enable local 
authorities to be fair and transparent in how fees for services are charged. 

2.28	The key principle of the Regulations is that authorities should recover 
their full costs and service users should only pay for the service they 
receive. Consequently, the Regulations split activities into chargeable, 
non-chargeable work and other building control services. Chargeable 
activity must be funded by fees, non-chargeable and other building control 
services are to be funded by the local authority general fund. Exhibit 4 
provides examples of activities.

Exhibit 4: examples of chargeable, non-chargeable, and other building 
control activities

Chargeable 
activity

Non-chargeable 
activity

Other building control 
services

Approving or rejecting 
plans

Liaison with other 
authorities, eg Fire and 
Rescue Services

Dangerous buildings

Site inspections Enforcement on behalf of 
Approved Inspectors

Demolitions

Consideration of work 
referred from AIs 
(Approved Inspectors)

Identifying unauthorised 
building work

Advice to other 
departments

Consideration of a 
regularisation certificate

Functions to support 
disabled people

Administration of safety at 
sports grounds

More than 30 minutes of 
pre-application advice

First 30 minutes of pre-
application advice

Street naming or 
numbering

Source: CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy), Local authority building 
control accounting, 2010

Page 39

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/404/contents/made
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/l/local-authority-building-control-accounting-guidance-for-england-and-wales-pdf
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/l/local-authority-building-control-accounting-guidance-for-england-and-wales-pdf


page 33 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.29	To aid local authorities in setting and properly accounting for their fees 
and charges, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) developed detailed guidance15. Taken together, the Regulations 
and CIPFA guidance require local authorities to:
•	 set and publish standard fees and means of calculating bespoke fees;
•	 set hourly rate fees for both officers and specific, set factors;
•	 monitor the breakeven position of the service with the aim to break even 

over a ‘reasonable period;’ 
•	 revise fees to prevent surpluses or deficits;
•	 publish an annual financial statement for building control; and
•	 consider establishing an earmarked reserve in the event of a surplus or 

deficit.

2.30	Additionally, the CIPFA guidance refers to proposals for regular monitoring 
from 2010 by ‘the Department/National Assembly’ to assess the impact 
of the Regulations overall and particularly to see whether local authorities 
were meeting the breakeven principle. Given that the building control 
functions under the Regulations exercisable by the National Assembly 
were transferred to Welsh Ministers by the Government of Wales Act 
200616, and the reference to ‘the Department’ appears to be a reference 
to the then UK Department of Communities and Local Government, it 
would seem that the reference to ‘National Assembly’ is erroneous and 
should have been a reference to the Welsh Government. [We understand, 
however, that neither the National Assembly (now the Senedd) nor the 
Welsh Government have undertaken such monitoring.]

Fee-setting approaches vary significantly and many are not compliant with 
Regulations

2.31	Local authorities are required to review their fees each year to ensure 
that the income from chargeable activity is as close to the costs incurred 
in delivering services as possible. This makes ongoing monitoring of 
the breakeven position and regular recalculation of fees critical. It would 
be contrary to the Regulations for fees to be deliberately set above the 
estimated costs to be incurred (taking account of any estimated prior 
surplus or deficit) or knowingly allowed to fall below what it costs to deliver 
services. 

15	 CIPFA, Local authority building control accounting, 2010
16	 Government for Wales Act 2006, Schedule 11, paragraph 30Page 40

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/l/local-authority-building-control-accounting-guidance-for-england-and-wales-pdf


page 34 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.32	Factors that should be considered when setting fees are specified in the 
regulations. Apart from the principle of breaking even and staff costs, 
the factors include use of the building, floor size, and cost. However, 
other potential considerations such as the competitiveness of fees and 
comparing with others are not specified in the Regulations. Such other 
considerations therefore appear not to be relevant considerations that may 
be considered. The CIPFA guidance sets out the process for calculating 
the fees and provides examples on how to do this.

2.33	We found that the process for deciding fees by local authorities varies, 
often significantly, from the guidance and Regulations. Of the 12 
authorities that responded to our data collection exercise and provided 
information describing their fee-setting process, nine were not compliant. 
Most usually because they applied fixed inflationary uplifts; copied 
neighbouring authority fee revisions; used average national schedules of 
rates to set their own charges; and/or did not show how they had factored 
in specific local circumstances that underpin charging such as their staffing 
structure, central recharges and local operating context. 

2.34	At the time of our fieldwork, several authorities noted that they were not 
reviewing fees annually and a smaller number admitted that they had 
not adjusted fees to reflect the actual cost of services for many years. 
In one case, fees had not changed since 2012. In addition, despite the 
requirement to base fees on hourly rates, two authorities were unable to 
provide this information. We have concluded that many local authorities’ 
building control services are not charging and setting fees in line with the 
Regulations and CIPFA guidance. We also note that the published fee 
scales show significant variations for individual activities – Exhibit 5. 

Exhibit 5: example of fee differentials for Welsh local authority Building 
Control services 2022-23

Fee type Lowest fee Highest fee Differential Median

Single dwelling plan fee £117 £288 145.6% £210

Single dwelling inspection fee £274 £510 86.4% £414

Single dwelling notice fee £391 £915 134.1% £671

Composite single dwelling fee £495 £1,830 269.7% £1,155

Source: Audit Wales analysis of published fee scales

Page 41



page 35 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.35	Awareness of this issue was mixed among officers. Some are unaware of 
the financial performance of their service primarily because management 
of finances sits outside the service with non-building control specialists. 
Others were aware of the requirements of the regulations but described 
pressure on budgets which encouraged raising fees or a lack of knowledge 
of the requirements of the regulations corporately. This is extremely 
concerning and poses significant risks to achieving value for money from 
the service.

Financial management of surpluses and deficits is unclear and potentially 
unlawful

2.36	Our survey of local authority officers found that of the 15 who provided a 
response, only five reported that their chargeable income is safeguarded 
(ie earmarked for application to building control services), one that only 
some is protected and nine reported that no income is safeguarded. 

2.37	Where surpluses occur, authorities are encouraged, but not required, 
to create an earmarked reserve. Our review found that only four local 
authorities disclosed earmarked reserves for building control, although 
others may have deemed the sums involved financially immaterial and 
have not reported them. Regarding the financial performance of services, 
we found that 11 authorities were making a deficit at the end of 2021-22 
and seven a surplus. Four were unable to provide this information.

2.38	The principles of the 2010 Regulations require that building control 
income, including surpluses, is to be used to provide building control 
activities. The CIPFA guidance notes that when calculating the total costs 
of the building control function, authorities are allowed to include training 
as an indirect employee cost when calculating fees. In addition, where 
surpluses are generated, these can be used to invest in service quality or 
to address regulatory changes. 

2.39	We found that most building control officers were not uplifting fees to 
reflect the need to fund training and development for their staff due to 
wider corporate budget pressures. Indeed, some officers we interviewed 
anecdotally noted that building control fees were used to create surpluses 
to pay for other council services, although we saw no evidence of this in 
practice.

Page 42



page 36 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.40	Overall, we have concluded that the implementation of the Regulations 
and the setting of building control charges more generally by local 
authorities fall short of legal and practical requirements. Our analysis 
highlights that most fees are not being set correctly and, where surpluses 
and deficits occur, these are not actively managed nor used for the 
purpose intended. This is particularly worrying because the Regulations 
were introduced to support good financial management and governance in 
building control services and correct implementation would help address 
some of the workforce, recruitment and training issues identified above. 

In almost all cases, financial reporting does not meet regulatory requirements 
and this hinders scrutiny of Building Control fee setting, income, and 
expenditure

2.41	To demonstrate their financial governance of building control income and 
expenditure, the Regulations require local authorities to publish annual 
financial statements for these services. The Regulations require that, as 
a minimum, these Statements disclose the chargeable costs and income, 
any surplus or deficit, be published within six months of the financial 
year-end and signed off by the Section 151 officer. The CIPFA guidance 
includes a template that mirrors these requirements and a completed 
example to help local authorities demonstrate their compliance. As 
publishing a financial statement is a requirement of the regulations, failing 
to do so is unlawful. 

2.42	From our review of local authority websites and financial statements, we 
found that only four have publicly available statements and only two of 
these met the reporting deadline. As noted at above, CIPFA guidance 
refers to proposals for scrutiny of whether authorities are meeting the 
breakeven principle. Welsh Government officials have, however, confirmed 
to us that this monitoring has not taken place in recent years and there 
remains a lack of oversight of building control financial performance and 
fee setting at both a national and local level.

Page 43



page 37 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Progress on collaboration and regionalisation has been slow 

2.43	Overall, local authority building control has not significantly changed 
despite the pressure on resources, capacity, and skills. Some authorities 
have made some innovations, such as Monmouthshire which has 
partnered with an estate agent to find new clients. Most authorities also 
operate the Partnership Authority scheme. This allows professionals, such 
as architects, to use the local authority of their choice to approve plans 
and the local authority where the site is located to undertake on the on-site 
inspections. For example, a supermarket chain may be based in England 
and can elect to use their local LABC team to approve plans but then use 
a Welsh authority to inspect a new store in Wales. 

2.44	While the work of LABC Cymru – the pan-Wales officer network – is 
seen as positive, offering support, learning and the opportunity to share 
information, this has not translated into more formal change to help 
improve efficiency and strengthen resilience. The group has proven 
successful at keeping teams informed and supported, and there are 
several positive one-off instances of ‘collaboration in crises’. For example, 
neighbouring authorities helping to deliver inspections and plan approval 
activities in Blaenau Gwent to help address short-term resource pressures 
in that authority. While we acknowledge that these are positive steps in 
the right direction, they fall short of addressing the significant challenges 
facing the sector, and greater, more fundamental change is needed. 

2.45	There are opportunities to improve efficiency and effectiveness of services 
through greater collaboration and regionalisation of services. This can help 
local authorities to compete more effectively, meet the challenge of the 
new building safety regime and provide solutions to address the sector’s 
many serious resourcing issues. For example:
•	 pooling staff to ease capacity issues and to mitigate the retirement risks 

inherent in the sector’s demographics;
•	 increasing spending power and opportunities to make savings through 

the joint commissioning and procurement of goods, services, and 
establishment of uniform charges for activities that cost the same (for 
example, external training);

•	 enabling staff to develop specialisms, such as fire safety, to better 
manage high-risk buildings; and 

•	 strengthening capacity in back-office functions.

Page 44

https://www.labc.co.uk/professionals/registration-schemes/partner-authority-scheme-pas


page 38 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

2.46	Despite stakeholders across the building control and safety sectors 
recognising and articulating the benefits of collaboration and 
regionalisation, we found little progress has been made to drive this 
forward. While many building control staff we interviewed can identify the 
potential benefits of collaborating with other building control teams, this 
has not led to more formal partnerships such as joint investigation teams. 
We acknowledge that the demands currently being placed on building 
control managers as individuals, and their reduced capacity to prioritise 
these activities, is clearly limiting opportunities to drive change. But given 
the challenges facing building control services, change is needed to 
prevent an escalation of the issues already present in the sector. 

2.47	 In Scotland, by comparison, the Local Authority Building Standards 
Scotland (LABSS) have established a hub model for the 32 local 
authorities to collaborate and implement improvement recommendations 
(see Appendix 4). The Hub acts as a central collaborator to move 
the sector in the same direction in the response to improvement 
recommendations. This has the potential to set a consistent service and 
standard across Scotland, supported by Scottish Government operational 
and performance frameworks. It is also helping authorities experiencing a 
staffing issue to broker support from another. 

2.48	 In response to the similar challenges that they face, Fire and Rescue 
Services are changing how they provide services. For instance, South 
Wales Fire and Rescue Service  has moved from a dedicated specialist 
team to a larger team of Business Fire Safety officers. This is allowing 
the service to better manage the impact of staff turnover and create a 
more resilient workforce, by widening out the pool of staff who are gaining 
experience in building fire safety design and construction. Similarly, North 
Wales Fire and Rescue Service has switched from a service of uniformed 
fire officers delivering fire safety work to a service which increasingly 
draws on corporate staff to bolster performance. This is helping to improve 
efficiency and increase capacity. 

Page 45



There is little evaluation 
of building control 
services across Wales 
and no national 
comprehensive 
system of building 
safety assurance

03 Page 46



page 40 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

3.1	 In this final Part of the report, we set out how management and evaluation 
of building control and building safety performance work and how risks are 
identified and mitigated. 

There is limited understanding of how well services are performing 

3.2	 Performance management and reporting are an essential element of good 
governance. Having a good range of key data allows you to understand 
the services you manage and helps underpin evidence-based decisions 
by providing insight and knowledge. The right data is also a precursor to 
feed-forward plans and helps organisations to learn from the past to inform 
the future.

The lack of a national performance management framework for building control 
and building safety makes it difficult to evaluate the performance of services

3.3	 At the time of our work there is no agreed national performance reporting 
framework for building control and building safety services in Wales. In the 
absence of a robust suite of national measures to manage and evaluate 
the performance of services, most local authorities focus on reporting 
against a narrow group of measures. We found that the key indicators 
most used relate to:
•	 timeliness measures such as the length of time taken to acknowledge 

and check applications, whether a site application is carried out on the 
agreed date, recording the site application notes within two days of an 
inspection and the number of completion certificates issued within a 
given period;

•	 monitoring levels of customer satisfaction with the response of the 
service; and

•	 market share – the proportion of the building control market a local 
authority covers.

3.4	 While each of these are important and relevant, they do not provide 
sufficient detail to understand or judge the effectiveness of building control 
services. Whilst timeliness is a key factor in administering an efficient 
building control system, the measure places importance on dealing with 
large volumes of applications in the shortest time possible, without any 
consideration of the quality of the work carried out and does not provide 
any assurance that the work was carried out safely, risks were reduced 
and that the overall safety of a building’s occupants was improved. 

Page 47



page 41 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

3.5	 Because of these weaknesses, local authorities are unable to demonstrate 
that building control work is reducing risk and improving the built and 
natural environment and the quality of life in the area. For instance, we 
found that:
•	 no data is collected on the work of approved inspectors and fire and 

rescue services, and benchmarking to compare performance is not 
routinely undertaken. Consequently, performance reporting remains 
fragmented and does not provide adequate assurance – a major risk 
flagged in the Hackitt Report.

•	 public reporting – notifying key stakeholders on the effectiveness of 
services and the service ‘offer’ – is similarly limited. This does not help 
to provide a comprehensive oversight of all building control and safety 
activity in an area, or nationally.

•	 although there are some measures relating to risk, these are limited 
to buildings that have been recorded as dangerous structures. Risk, 
especially service resilience risk, is not something that is built into the 
performance framework as a central consideration of effectiveness.

•	 little attention is given to actively managing financial performance 
and reporting against the requirements of the finance regulations, fee 
setting, comparison of costs, recharges, and deficits. 

3.6	 In addition, building control teams told us reporting was mainly responsive 
where concerns were raised rather than a routine part of their role. 
Where performance measures are recorded and monitored, this is often 
done on a team’s own initiative, for their own purposes, and can be a 
lengthy manual process, due to poor integration between IT platforms. 
Where IT tools for automatic reporting do exist, we heard of examples 
where the system was underutilised or used inconsistently, due to weak 
processes or operating difficulties. In several cases, analysis is compiled 
on spreadsheets held locally by individuals, posing a risk to resilience and 
continuity when staff are absent.

3.7	 The Scottish Government have a national framework to monitor and 
analyse performance. Measures were introduced in 2012 embedding 
learning from research that analysed previous performance reviews. 
Building safety is a ministerial responsibility in Scotland and providers are 
‘appointed’ as verifiers (see Appendix 4). Although local authorities are 
typically selected, the appointment and reappointment process is driving 
consistency and standards, and provides a robust framework to assess 
performance. 

Page 48



page 42 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Some local authorities work to the ISO 9001 quality management standard, but 
this does not provide sufficient assurance that services are working effectively

3.8	 Several local authorities have accredited themselves with ISO 9001, the 
international standard for Quality Management. The standard uses seven 
quality management principles focussed on:
•	 customer focus;
•	 leadership;
•	 engagement of people;
•	 process approach;
•	 improvement;
•	 evidence-based decision making; and
•	 relationship management.

3.9	 The measures aim to promote understanding and provide consistency, 
adding value, effective performance, and improvement of processes. The 
standard also encourages organisations to adopt a risk-based approach, 
ensuring that preventative measures are taken before risks arise. Once 
an organisation receives accreditation, they are required to evaluate their 
compliance with the standard annually. 

3.10	While authorities have found ISO 9001 helpful for raising standards and 
levels of consistency, we found that some authorities have chosen to opt 
out of the standard due to cost and the challenge of ongoing evaluation to 
demonstrate compliance. It is also questionable how useful the standard 
is in judging the effectiveness, efficiency and robustness of services given 
the many challenges facing building control we have reported on.

Scrutiny and evaluation of building control and building safety are 
limited

3.11	 Effective scrutiny is an essential element of good governance and helps 
provide assurance that things are working well or need to improve. Without 
a robust performance management system, scrutiny can only be as 
effective as the information and measures that are regularly scrutinised. 
We found that many local authorities’ building control services do not 
formally report to a scrutiny committee on a regular basis to demonstrate 
the work, impact and risks facing the service. 

Page 49



page 43 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

3.12	For instance, we found that scrutiny is inconsistent across Wales, with 
many teams only being required to report their performance twice yearly 
and against a very narrow set of measures and information. In several 
authorities, there is no formal scrutiny of services. Several local authority 
officers we interviewed noted that from their experience, after the initial 
heightened interest in building control and building safety arising from 
the Grenfell disaster, member and senior officer contact is mostly limited 
and focussed on single issues of concern – a dangerous structure or 
a constituent’s building control application. Several noted that member 
knowledge and understanding of building control are low and the risks and 
issues facing services mostly unknown. 

3.13	 In contrast, Scottish local authorities are required to annually report 
their performance against a series of key performance outcomes. 
These outcomes are then assessed alongside customer feedback and 
plans are developed to help drive improvement. Staff are encouraged 
to link these with improvement actions which can be used to monitor 
progress and identify key lines of enquiry for those charged with scrutiny. 
The assessment output is designed to be accessible to various levels 
of stakeholder, identifying strategic trends to government, promoting 
improvement operationally to verifiers, whilst also providing a transparent 
assessment for public consumption.

Risk management processes are inadequate 

3.14	There is a mixed approach to assessing risk, with some teams having their 
own risk registers, some feeding into corporate registers, whilst some do 
not formally record risks or track how they are mitigating them. Indeed, 
several officers we interviewed noted that known risks are often noted 
informally within teams and these are considered in isolation from other 
corporate wide risks. 

3.15	This siloed approach poses a threat to resilience as the system relies 
too much on a small number of individuals who hold substantial amounts 
of knowledge without formally being recorded, shared with colleagues 
for information, or escalated for action. Only a small minority of local 
authorities we spoke with could describe the formal procedure of 
escalating risks, with many acknowledging such protocols do not exist. 
Without proper identification and recording of emerging risks, authorities 
are unable to make longer-term plans and prepare for future scenarios.

Page 50



page 44 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

3.16	As contextual information is not routinely integrated with other service 
areas, it is not clear that sufficient understanding is present amongst 
accountable officers at each level of escalation. Where risks are raised, 
they will rarely meet the threshold required to be considered a corporate 
risk. Poor audit trails mean risks are not proactively mitigated, in an 
environment where capacity to provide this mitigation is often limited.

3.17	With teams often left to operate in isolation, raising corporate and other 
significant risks is likely to be more challenging than for higher profile 
services which figure more prominently and are fully integrated into the 
corporate reporting structure. Consequently, local authorities at their 
highest level may not be sighted of the many risks facing building control 
– poor succession planning, an ageing workforce, lack of diversity, 
insufficient skill mix, along with the implications of the new Building Safety 
Act.

Page 51



page 45 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

1	 Audit Approach and Methods

2	 Building Regulations Approved 
Documents

3	 The Building Safety Regulator 
and Accountable Person

4	 Scottish approach

Appendices

Page 52



page 46 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Approach 

For this work our approach has been to understand how well the Welsh 
Government, local authorities and their partners are strengthening and 
improving building control and building safety services following the Building 
Safety Act 2022. We have looked at the robustness of needs information, 
strategies, plans and policies; assessed the resilience of existing services 
and plans to strengthen these; and considered the robustness of assurance 
systems.

We examined all 22 principal local authorities in Wales at a high level, managing 
delivery to be mindful of the pressures local authority officers are under during 
post-pandemic recovery and the cost-of-living crisis. We ensured coverage was 
sufficient to draw a view on the whole sector but not to significantly detract from 
officers’ service delivery responsibilities. Our approach was flexible to fit around 
officers when agreeing and delivering our fieldwork. 

1	 Audit Approach and Methods

Page 53



page 47 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Methods 

We completed our review between January 2023 and August 2023 and used a 
range of methods in delivering our work: 

•	 document review: we reviewed documentation from the Welsh Government, 
local authorities, Fire and Rescue Services and other relevant organisations. 
This included, relevant committee minutes, corporate strategies, business 
plans and policy documentation. We also reviewed information published by 
the UK Government and the Scottish Government. 

•	 interviews – we undertook a range of different interviews:
•	 officer interviews – we interviewed Building Safety lead officers in all 22 

Welsh principal local authorities and all three Fire and Rescue Authorities. 
These interviews took place between January and April 2023.

•	 national interviews – we interviewed representatives of the Welsh 
Government, the Scottish Government, private sector approved building 
inspectors, think tanks, academic institutions, and research bodies. These 
took place between March and April 2023.

•	 focus groups – in line with our approach, some local authorities felt it was 
more appropriate for us to speak to a range of officers in focus groups to 
reduce our impact on service delivery.

•	 data collection – we undertook a data collection exercise with local authority 
officers. This ran from January to April 2023, and we received responses 
from all local authorities. Some local authorities were unable to provide the 
information we requested, and we note this in the body of the report where 
relevant.

•	 survey – working with Community Housing Cymru we surveyed all housing 
associations in Wales but only received two responses. Consequently, we 
have not used this information in drawing together our findings. 

•	 websites – local authority and external resources, eg CICAIR (Construction 
Industry Council Approved Inspectors Register), LABC, etc.

Page 54



page 48 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

The approved documents address the following matters and were last updated 
on the date listed:

•	 Part A – Structural safety – last updated April 2017

•	 Part B – Fire Safety – last updated December 2021

•	 Part C – Resistance to contamination and moisture – last updated April 2017

•	 Part D – Toxic substances – last updated April 2017

•	 Part E – Resistance to passage of sound – last updated April 2022

•	 Part F – Ventilation – last updated October 2022

•	 Part G – Sanitation, hot water safety and water efficiency – last updated May 
2023

•	 Part H – Drainage and waste disposal – last updated April 2017

•	 Part J – Heat producing appliances – last updated April 2017

•	 Part K – Protection from falling, collision and impact – last updated April 2017

•	 Part L – Conservation of Fuel and Power – last updated March 2023

•	 Part M – Access to land and use of buildings – last updated April 2017 

•	 Part N – Glazing safety – last updated April 2017

•	 Part O – Overheating – last updated October 2022

•	 Part P – Electrical safety – last updated April 2017

•	 Part Q – Security – last updated May 2018

•	 Part R – Physical infrastructure for high-speed electronic communications 
networks – last updated April 2016

2	 Building Regulations Approved 		
	 Documents

Page 55

https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-structural-safety
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-b-fire-safety
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-c-resistance-contaminants-and-moisture
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-d-toxic-substances
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-e-resistance-passage-sound
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-f-ventilation
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-g-sanitation-hot-water-safety-and-water-efficiency
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-h-drainage-and-waste-disposal
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-j-heat-producing-appliances
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-k-protection-falling-collision-and-impact
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-l-conservation-fuel-and-power
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-m-access-and-use-buildings
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-n-glazing-safety
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-o-overheating
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-p-electrical-safety
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-part-q-security
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-r-physical-infrastructure-high-speed-electronic-communications
https://www.gov.wales/building-regulations-guidance-part-r-physical-infrastructure-high-speed-electronic-communications


page 49 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

The Act introduces two new roles – the Building Safety Regulator and 
Accountable Person – which are due to come into force in October 2023.

The Building Safety Regulator 

The Building Safety Regulator will have three core responsibilities: overseeing 
the safety and standards of all buildings; helping and encouraging the built 
environment industry and building control professionals to improve their 
competence; and leading implementation of the new regulatory framework for 
high-rise buildings in England. The Building Safety Regulator is also responsible 
for the performance of the building control sector to ensure standards are met, 
and for setting building standards.

The Building Safety Regulator (BSR) will be responsible for overseeing the 
safety and performance systems of all buildings. They will be given powers 
to enforce the rules and act against those that break them. And for high-risk 
properties, they will be able to implement more stringent rules, including how 
they are designed, constructed, and occupied. The three main functions of the 
BSR:
•	 oversee the safety and performance system for all buildings: this will be done 

through overseeing the performance of building control bodies across the 
public and private sectors, and by understanding and advising on existing 
and emerging building standards and safety risks;

•	 encourage increased competence by setting the direction of an industry-
led competence committee and establishing competence requirements for 
registration of building control professionals; and

•	 lead the implementation of the new regulatory regime for higher-risk 
buildings, including having the powers to involve other teams, including the 
Fire Service, when making regulatory decisions regarding Building Safety.

3	 The Building Safety Regulator and 	
	 Accountable Person

Page 56



page 50 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

The new BSR is under the control of the Health & Safety Executive (HSE) 
which is responsible for overseeing and driving improvements in the safety 
and performance of all buildings, and for enforcing a more stringent regime for 
higher-risk buildings. 

Importantly, the provisions of the Act concerning the new Regulator only apply 
in part to Wales and the devolved government’s exact position is still to be 
determined on this point. 

Accountable Person

For all higher-risk buildings, the appointment of an identifiable ‘Accountable 
Person’, who is responsible for ensuring that the fire and structural safety is 
effectively managed for the whole building.

The Accountable Person (building owner, freeholder, or management company) 
will have an ongoing duty to assess Building Safety risks and provide a 
‘Safety Case Report’ which demonstrates how Building Safety risks are being 
identified, mitigated, and managed on an ongoing basis. They will also have 
to demonstrate how they are ensuring residents’ safety. In buildings where 
ownership structures are complex, there may be more than one Accountable 
Person, in which case there will be a Principal Accountable Person.

Page 57



page 51 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Operating model

Within the Scottish system, building verifiers (surveyors) are appointed by the 
Minister for Local Government Empowerment and Planning under the Building 
(Scotland) Act 2003. This allows the Minister to appoint any building verifiers 
for a six-year term. Since the implementation of the Act in 2005, only local 
authorities have been appointed to undertake this role.

Prior to appointment, the Minister must consider the competence, qualifications, 
public accountability, and impartiality of the potential verifiers. To demonstrate 
these, an Operating Framework has been published to clarify how verifiers can 
demonstrate these behaviours. 

After appointment, performance is monitored under a Performance Framework. 
There are seven key performance outcomes within the updated framework 
published in 2021:
•	 minimise time taken to issue a first report or to issue a building warrant or 

amendment to building warrant;
•	 increase quality of compliance assessment during the construction 

processes;
•	 commit to the building standards customer charter;
•	 understand and respond to the customer experience;
•	 maintain financial governance;
•	 commit to eBuilding Standards; and
•	 commit to objectives outlined in the annual verification performance report.

The Act also allows Scottish Ministers to set building regulations, the process for 
approval, enforcement, and set fees. Fees are set centrally and are determined 
by the Minister for all authorities. A calculator is provided within the online 
eBuildingStandards system to enable applicants to access the system and 
determine their fee.

4	 Scottish approach

Page 58

https://www.gov.scot/publications/building-standards-operating-framework-april-2021/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/building-standards-performance-framework-april-2021/pages/4/
https://www.ebuildingstandards.scot/eBuildingStandardsClient/default.aspx


page 52 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Response to Grenfell

Following Grenfell, a ministerial working group was set up in July 2017 to 
oversee reviews into building and fire safety. Review panels were formed 
to cover different issues and made a series of recommendations for 
stakeholders. The Building Standards Futures Programme Board (BSFPB) was 
established to provide guidance and direction on the implementation of these 
recommendations.

Chaired by a local authority chief executive, the Board is comprised of:
•	 Local Authority Building Standards Scotland (LABSS);
•	 Homes for Scotland;
•	 Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors;
•	 Construction Scotland;
•	 Convention of Scottish Local Authorities;
•	 Scottish Futures Trust;
•	 Chartered Institute of Buildings;
•	 Federation of Master Builders;
•	 Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland; and
•	 Scottish Government.

The Board has seven workstreams underway to support implementation – 
Exhibit 6.

Page 59



page 53 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Exhibit 6: Scotland’s Building Standards Futures Programme Board 
workstreams

Workstream Explanation

Workforce strategy To support the adoption of the workforce strategy 
developed in response to the demographic 
challenges faced by the sector. 

Compliance plan To develop an approach for high-value and complex 
public buildings to ensure a planned approach to 
compliance throughout development.

Certification strategy Development of a strategy for future appointment of 
verifiers. 

Digital 
transformation

To support the implementation of the 
eBuildingStandards platform, launched in 2016.

Technical strategy A review of how building standards are developed 
and communicated to promote compliance.

Verification 
standards

A review of the operating and performance 
frameworks to help verifier assessment against 
requirements and linking to skills.

Delivery models A review to consider changes to business models 
within the 32 local authorities, including the hub 
project.

Source: BSFPB

Additionally, to ensure greater compliance and a response to recommendations, 
a Professional Competency Framework was introduced in May 2021. This 
established standardised job roles matched against educational awards and 
professional qualifications. It also provides examples of competencies based 
on experience to match existing staff, such as proven management and 
financial governance skills or specific niche training such as safety at sports 
grounds. The framework helps to ensure that building verifiers at each level can 
demonstrate being suitably competent.

To embed the Framework, a Competency Assessment System (CAS) was 
published. This enables individuals to identify their learning and experience 
gaps to better target training and development of the workforce.

Page 60

https://www.gov.scot/groups/building-standards-futures-board/


page 54 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Local hub model

From the BSFPB, a new delivery model was developed through the Delivery 
Model Development Group (DMDG), comprising the Scottish Government’s 
Building Standards Division, Local Authority Building Standards Scotland 
(LABSS), the host local authority (Fife Council) and the Hub Directors, to foster 
collaboration and implement the recommendations for improving building safety 
and increasing compliance. This was launched in May 2022 and is being rolled 
out in a phased approach and is centred on six business units – Exhibit 7.

Exhibit 7: Scotland’s Building Standards Futures Programme Board 
workstreams

Business unit Function and services

Operational Partnership Unit •	 Maintaining network of bodies
•	 Workload sharing
•	 Access to expert structure and fire 

hubs
•	 Best practice facilitation

Scottish Type Approval Scheme 
Unit

•	 Scheme management
•	 Marketing
•	 Fee setting

Technical and Procedure Unit •	 Technical research
•	 Information paper production
•	 Technical support to the hub

Digital Transformation Unit •	 Support digital delivery group
•	 Liaison and support roles with 

stakeholders, LABSS, and other 
stakeholders

Page 61



page 55 ‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales

Business unit Function and services

Learning and Development Unit •	 Management and operation of a 
virtual learning environment

•	 Management and operation of a 
learning management system

•	 Assistance with apprentice schemes
•	 Assistance with CPD (Continuing 

Professional Development)
•	 Management of the verifier position 

in relation to the Competency 
Assessment Scheme (CAS)

Core Business Unit •	 Hub management
•	 Business and admin support
•	 Engagement with stakeholders

Source: BSFPB

Page 62



Audit Wales

1 Capital Quarter

Tyndall Street

Cardiff CF10 4BZ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

We welcome correspondence and 
telephone calls in Welsh and English. 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a 
galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg.

Page 63



 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance 
 

Council – 21 March 2024 
 

Annual Review of Well-being Objectives  
 

Purpose: To recommend any changes to the Councils well-
being objectives as the result of an annual review 
that requires, as set out in the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, public 
bodies to assess whether their well-being 
objectives remain appropriate or not. 
 

Policy Framework: Delivering a Successful & Sustainable Swansea 
Corporate Plan 2023/28 
 

Consultation: Access to Services, Finance, Legal. 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Council: 

 
1) 
 

Approves that the Council’s well-being objectives remain unchanged 
for 2024/28. 

 
Report Author: Richard Rowlands 

 
Finance Officer: Paul Roach 

 
Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 

 
Access to Services Officer: Rhian Millar 

 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Councils Corporate Plan 2023/28 Delivering a Successful & 

Sustainable Swansea includes a summary of the council's key priorities, 
known as 'well-being objectives', which are a requirement of the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 
1.2 The Corporate Plan and well-being objectives were reviewed and 

updated for 2023/28. The review of the Corporate Plan and our well-
being objectives for 2023/28 was undertaken by consulting with local 
people and by assessing, among other sources, the following evidence: 

Page 64

Agenda Item 7



 

• Future trends and challenges. 

• Future Generations Commissioners Report 2020. 

• Our policy commitments. 
 

1.3 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires that 
each year public bodies must review their well-being objectives. In doing 
so, public bodies can assess whether their well-being objectives are 
appropriate or not, to the extent that:  

 

• they will contribute to the achievement of the national well-being 
goals; 

• public bodies consider they are taking all reasonable steps to meet 
them, and;  

• they remain consistent with the sustainable development principle. 
 
1.4 This report sets out the methodology used to undertake the review of the 

Councils well-being objectives in readiness for 2024/25 and the outcome. 
 

2. Methodology 
 

2.1 Each well-being objective is underpinned by evidence, including and not 
restricted to: 

 

• The Future Generations Report. 

• Welsh Government Future Trends Report. 

• Swansea PSB Assessment of Local Wellbeing. 

• Welsh Government National Milestones and Indicators. 

• Swansea Council Policy commitments. 

• Annual Review of Performance. 

• Quarterly and Annual Performance Reporting. 

• Corporate Risks. 
 
2.2 The well-being objectives were reviewed for 2024/25 by assessing any 

changes that had taken place since March 2023 to the evidence that was 
used to develop the objectives. This was done to determine whether any 
changes needed to be made to any of the well-being objectives in 
readiness for 2024/25. 

 
3. Considerations 

 
3.1 The annual review of well-being objectives concerned the objectives 

themselves, i.e., a review of the evidence to help determine if the 
wording of the objectives needed to be changed, or whether new 
objectives should be added or existing objectives removed, or a 
combination of these different options or that no changes are required.  

 
 

Page 65



3.2 The review did not concern the detail in the Corporate Plan to deliver or 
measure progress meeting the well-being objectives, such as the steps 
in the Corporate Plan, the performance indicators and success 
measures. The detail in the Corporate Plan will be reviewed by April 
2024 following approval of the Council’s budget on March 6th and will link 
in with the service planning and PI setting process and will take into 
account any updates that are required.  

 
4. Outcome 
 
4.1 The outcome from the review determined that no changes were needed 

to the Council’s well-being objectives for 2024/25. A report on the 
outcome from the review is attached at Appendix A. 

 
5. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
5.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty 

and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must 
in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

• Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

• Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

• Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

• Ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. 

 
5.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental, and cultural well-being of Wales by acting, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at 
achieving the ‘well-being goals. 

 
5.3 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid 

due regard to the above. It also considers other key issues and priorities, 
such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the 
United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and 
Welsh language. 

 

Page 66



5.4 The Corporate Plan is a high level and strategic document that sets out 
the Council’s well-being objectives and how it will take steps to meet 
them. 

 
5.5 A full IIA was applied in March 2023 to the development of the Corporate 

Plan and to the well-being objectives for the five-year period 2023/28.  
 
5.6 The annual review of well-being objectives concerns the objectives 

themselves, i.e., a review of any changes made to the evidence since 
March 2023 to help determine if the wording of the objectives needed to 
be changed, or whether new objectives should be added or existing 
objectives removed, or a combination of these different options or that no 
changes are required.  

 
5.7 The review did not concern the detail in the Corporate Plan to deliver or 

measure progress meeting the well-being objectives, such as the steps 
in the Corporate Plan, the performance indicators and success 
measures. 

 
5.8 The review concluded that the evidence suggested no changes were 

needed to the Council’s well-being objectives for 2024/25 and so the IIA 
completed in March 2023 still applies. 

 
6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 In the current and anticipated financial environment further discussion 

and consideration will be required around priorities and target setting to 
ensure they can be delivered within available budgets and resources. 

 
7. Legal Implications 

 
7.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A Analysis of well-being objectives evidence 
Appendix B IIA screening form 
 

Page 67



Appendix A - Analysis of the Evidence for the Well-being Objectives  

1.  Introduction 
 

1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires that each 
year, public bodies must review their well-being objectives. In doing so, public 
bodies can assess whether their well-being objectives are appropriate or not, 
to the extent that:  
 

• they will contribute to the achievement of the national well-being goals; 

• public bodies consider they are taking all reasonable steps to meet them, and;  

• they remain consistent with the sustainable development principle. 
 
1.2 This report is an analysis of the evidence by assessing any changes that have 

taken place since March. This will help determine whether any changes need 
to be made to any of the well-being objectives in readiness for 2024/25. 

 
1.3 The analysis does not concern the detail in the Corporate Plan to deliver or 

measure progress meeting the well-being objectives, such as the steps in the 
Corporate Plan, the performance indicators and success measures. The detail 
in the Corporate Plan will be reviewed by April 2024 as part of service 
planning to see if any updates are required.  

 
1.4 Each well-being objective is underpinned by an evidence pack, including and 

not restricted to: 
 

• The Future Generations Report. 

• Welsh Government Future Trends Report. 

• Swansea PSB Assessment of Local Wellbeing. 

• Welsh Government National Milestones and Indicators. 

• Swansea Council Policy commitments. 

• Annual Review of Performance. 

• Quarterly and Annual Performance Reporting. 

• Corporate Risks. 

• Council and Cabinet reports 

• Scrutiny reports  

• Service Transformation Committee reports 
 
1.5 The analysis has been conducted by identifying the key pieces of evidence for 

each well-being objective, summarising the evidence in each objective 
(highlighting where there is additional / new / a change in evidence) and 
concluding in each case whether the evidence suggests that there should be 
a change to a well-being objective. 

 
2.  Safeguarding People from Harm 
 
2.1 The evidence and key drivers underpinning the Safeguarding People from 

Harm well-being objective includes the following sources of information: 
 

• Director of Social Service Annual Report 2022/23. 

Page 68



• Annual Report - Corporate Safeguarding 2022/23. 

• The West Glamorgan Regional Partnership for Health and Social Care Area 
Plan. 

• Update on Local Area Co-ordination. 

• Swansea Council Corporate Improvement Plan. 

• Integrated impact assessments alongside policy development. 

• Swansea Council Policy Commitments (updated in 2022). 

• Update on how Council's Policy Commitments translate to Adult Services. 

• Delivering of Corporate Priorities / Council's Policy Commitments in relation to 
Child and Family Services. 

• Swansea Council Performance Monitoring Reports. 

• Performance Monitoring – Adult Services. 

• Performance Monitoring – Child and Family Services. 

• Swansea Council Corporate Risks. 

• Residential Care Services (including update on Ty Nant). 

• Adolescent Strategy and Action Plan. 

• Update from Regional Safeguarding Board. 

• Safeguarding Quality Unit Annual Report. 

• Update on Contextual Missing Exploited & Trafficked (CMET). 

• Update on Progress with Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS). 

• Corporate Parenting Board Update. 

• Internal Residential Care Provision Model of Delivery. 

• West-Glamorgan-Regional-Carers-Strategy. 
 
2.2 The evidence shows that there is a need to continue to ensure that there are 

high quality, accessible, and integrated health and social care services for 
adults children and families who need our care and support. Through 
‘coproduction’ – we will involve people in everything we do, focusing on ‘what 
matters most’ to them as citizens and place them at the centre of their own 
care and support and by coproducing services to achieve better outcomes. 
The evidence supports the need to continue to work in partnerships and 
regionally to improve the safety, the health, and the wellbeing outcomes of our 
most vulnerable citizens and carry on with transformation programmes to 
modernise social care services, to achieve a more preventative, sustainable 
approach and net zero carbon footprint. 

 
2.3 Since March 2023, updated evidence and the implementation of the steps to 

deliver this Safeguarding People from Harm well-being objective has been 
reported through Council, Cabinet, Governance & Audit Committee, Scrutiny 
Performance Panel – Adult Services, Scrutiny Performance Panel – Child and 
Family Services and the Social Care and Tackling Poverty Service 
Transformation Committee.  

 
2.4 Despite the challenges and pressures Child and Family Services and Adult 

Services have faced on its post pandemic recovery, it has continued to not 
only deliver a safe and effective service, but also to co-design improvements 
and service change with key stakeholders. We are continuing to involve 
people in everything we do, focusing on ‘what matters most’ to them as 

Page 69



citizens, placing them at the centre of their own care and support and by 
coproducing services to achieve better outcomes. Although new evidence for 
2022/23 show that the numbers of children in need of care and support has 
increased, the number of children placed on the child protection register has 
remained consistent and the numbers of children needing to become looked 
after is on a gradual downward trend, suggesting our range of early help 
approaches are effective. We are continuing to manage the risks to young 
people associated with exploitation outside of the family home though our 
proactive approach to contextual safeguarding and by the development of our 
CMET (children missing, exploited or trafficked) team helping to mitigate 
those risks. New evidence outlined in the Annual Report – Corporate 
Safeguarding 2022/23, shows that we are continuing to promote safeguarding 
vulnerable people as everyone’s business, across the Council by the roll out 
of Safe Voices and Safe Workforce activities. 

 
2.5 In terms of Adult Services, new evidence suggests that there is a need to 

improve social care capacity across adult services, including investment in 
house domiciliary care capacity, extensive work with commissioned providers 
to try new models, work with third sector colleagues on establishing more 
micro enterprises, an enhanced bedded reablement offer and investment in 
different approaches to direct payments both for carers and the cared for. This 
investment, new models of service delivery and commissioning arrangements 
are helping to ensure that there are high quality and more accessible, and 
integrated health and social care services for adults children and families who 
need our care and support. However, workforce sufficiency across essential 
registrant posts remains a limiting factor and increasing demand for adult 
managed care services will need to be dealt with through the remodeling of 
early help and prevention services to ensure services remain effective and 
financially sustainable. 

 
2.6 The evidence reported supports the rationale for Safeguarding People from 

harm to remain a corporate priority and well-being objective. 
 
3.  Improving Education and Skills  
 
3.1 The evidence and key drivers underpinning the Education and Skills well-

being objective includes the following sources of information: 
 

• the Future Trends Report. 

• Future Generations Commissioners Report 2020/21. 

• the Children’s Commissioner – Annual Report 2022. 

• Swansea Council Children and Young People’s Rights Scheme 2021. 

• Swansea – Assessment of Local Well-being 2022. 

• Wales – Well-being of Wales Report (National Indicators). 

• Swansea – Corporate Improvement Plan. 

• The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019. 

• The Pupil Level Annual School Census.  

• The School Workforce Annual Census (SWAC).  

• The Curriculum for Wales 2022. 

Page 70



• Cymraeg 2050 Strategy. 

• Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018 
(legislation.gov.uk) and ALN Code 2021. 

• The Equality Act 2010 (Disabled School Pupils) (Wales) Regulations 2021 
(legislation.gov.uk). 

• The Estyn inspection framework.   

• Estyn inspection data of schools and PRU, inspection of Swansea Council 
Local Government Education Services in 2022 and thematic reviews. 

• Integrated impact assessments alongside policy development. 

• Swansea Council Policy Commitments (updated in 2022). 

• Swansea Council Performance Monitoring Reports. 

• Swansea Council Corporate Risks. 

• Swansea Council Education Policies (the Inclusion Strategy, the Welsh 
Language Skills Strategy, Leadership Support Strategy, the Teaching Support 
Strategy, the Designing Destinations Strategy, the Equity in Education 
Strategy and the New and Better Schools Strategy). 

 
3.2 The evidence shows that there is a need to ensure that all children and young 

people attend school regularly, are included and resilient and have the skills to 
be able to enter local employment opportunities and to develop to their full 
potential. The evidence also shows that there is a need to ensure that children 
and young people’s learning, health and well-being is supported, particularly 
following the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. There is also a need to ensure 
that the support for the provision of additional learning needs is stronger and 
places children and young people at the centre of decision making. The 
evidence also shows that children and young people should have the 
opportunity to learn Welsh language skills, speak the language confidently 
and be aware of the benefits of bilingualism and multilingualism. In order to 
ensure that all children and young people have the opportunity to develop to 
their full potential, there is a need to support and maintain effective school 
leadership and excellent teaching and work towards ensuring that all learners 
receive their education in environments that are safe and sustainable 
communities for learning. 

 
3.3 Since March 2023, updated evidence and the implementation of the steps to 

deliver this Improving Education and Skills well-being objective has been 
reported through Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Performance Panel, Governance 
and Audit Committee, Partneriaeth and the Education and Skills Service 
Transformation Committee.  

 
3.4 New evidence shows that the Inclusion Strategy will address this longer term 

challenges of this objective by embedding universal provision for additional 
needs, specialist places for additional needs and a whole school approach to 
emotional health and psychological wellbeing. The strategy will promote 
attendance, inclusion, learner participation in decision making and reduction 
in peer-on-peer bullying and harassment in schools. The Equity in Education 
Strategy will also seek to ensure that children and young people’s health and 
well-being is supported by delivering a strategy to embed trauma informed 
practice across all schools, actions to reduce the impact of poverty on 

Page 71



learners, support for vulnerable learners and to meet our responsibilities as 
corporate parents. By delivering our Leadership Support Strategy and 
Teaching Support Strategy we will ensure that leaders and practitioners are 
supported to maintain delivery of excellent education in all learning settings in 
order to ensure that learners develop to their full potential and have the skills 
and knowledge to enter employment. Our school buildings programme will 
deliver this objective by ensuring that all learners to receive their education in 
environments that are safe and sustainable communities for learning. The 
implementation of the Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan and Welsh 
Language Skills Strategy will help to address this well-being objective by 
ensuring that all schools are supported to develop learners skills and all 
learners have the opportunity to speak the language confidently and realise 
the benefits of bilingualism and multilingualism. 

 
The evidence reported supports the rationale for Improving Education and 
Skills to remain a corporate priority and well-being objective.  

 

4.  Transforming our Economy & Infrastructure 

 
4.1 The evidence and key drivers underpinning the Transforming our Economy 

and Infrastructure well-being objective includes the following sources of 
information: 

 

• the Future Trends Report. 

• Future Generations Commissioners Report 2020/21. 

• Swansea – Assessment of Local Well-being 2022. 

• Wales – Well-being of Wales Report (National Indicators). 

• Swansea’s Economic Recovery Action Plan. 

• Regional Economic Development Plan. 

• Local Economic Delivery Plan. 

• Lower Swansea Valley Programme (Levelling Up Funds). 

• Swansea Council Community Benefits Policy. 

• Swansea Bay City Deal Programme. 

• Active Travel Programme. 

• Sustainable Transport Strategy. 

• Swansea Destination Management Plan. 

• Swansea Bay Strategy. 

• Tourism Destination Management Plan. 

• Swansea Council Corporate Improvement Plan. 

• The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019. 

• Integrated impact assessments alongside policy development. 

• Swansea Council Policy Commitments (updated in 2022). 

• Swansea Council Performance Monitoring Reports. 

• Swansea Council Corporate Risks. 
 
4.2 The evidence shows that there is a need to increase economic performance 

and create wealth and employment opportunities to improve the well-being of 
Swansea's citizens. There remains an imperative to lever all investment and 
funding opportunities in realising this objective including UK Government City 

Page 72



Deal, Levelling up and Shared Prosperity Fund, Welsh Government 
Transforming Towns, Economy and Creative Wales and other major funds. 
The evidence shows that there is a need to support our local economies to 
achieve resilience in the face of future global, national, and regional 
challenges, in particular the city centre and our small independent 
businesses. In order to transform our economy, there is a need to support 
individuals, businesses and communities through our employment and 
business support, regeneration activities, cultural assets, transport 
connectivity, planning and other practical measures. The evidence also shows 
that there is a need to take advantage of untapped growth potential to 
generate sustainable energy, deliver on net zero commitments, protect the 
environment and boost the economy. 

 
4.3 Since March 2023, updated evidence and the implementation of the steps to 

deliver this Transforming our Economy and Infrastructure well-being objective 
has been reported through Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Programme Committee, 
Governance and Audit Committee, Scrutiny Performance Panel – 
Development and Regeneration and the Economy and Infrastructure Service 
Transformation Committee.  

 
4.4 New evidence shows that the Local Economic Delivery Plan will help drive 

forward investment, economic activity, reduce the ongoing productivity gap, 
increase employment and support the development of new businesses. The 
plan will also support a change in the current business sectoral mix towards 
higher skilled, higher paid employment. Our new Smart City Infrastructure 
Agreements, will help to address the longer-term challenges of this well-being 
objective in relation to developing arrangements on a digital and connected 
future and new models of working. Swansea’s Destination Management Plan, 
the Swansea Bay Strategy and the Tourism Destination Management Plan will 
address the longer-term challenges of this well-being objective by building on 
the visitor, tourism and hospitality economy, capitalising on our assets and 
strengthening our local economy through increasing employment 
opportunities and having a positive impact on places.   

 
The evidence reported supports the rationale for Improving Transforming our 
Economy and Infrastructure to remain a corporate priority and well-being 
objective. 

 
5.  Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities 
 
5.1 The evidence and key drivers underpinning the Tackling Poverty and Enabling 

Communities well-being objective includes the following sources of 
information: 

 

• the Future Trends Report. 

• Future Generations Commissioners Report 2020/21. 

• Swansea – Assessment of Local Well-being 2022. 

• Wales – Well-being of Wales Report (National Indicators). 

• Swansea Council Tackling Poverty. 

• A Snapshot of Poverty in Summer and Winter 2023 (Bevan Foundation). 

Page 73



• Time for Change – Poverty in Wales (Wales Audit Office). 

• “Together we can” – community resilience and self reliance (Wales Audit 
Office). 

• Child Poverty Strategy for Wales 2023 (Welsh Government). 

• Swansea Council Corporate Improvement Plan. 

• The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019. 

• Integrated impact assessments alongside policy development. 

• Swansea Council Policy Commitments (updated in 2022). 

• Swansea Council Performance Monitoring Reports. 

• Swansea Council Corporate Risks. 
 
5.2 The evidence shows that there is a need to address the Cost-of-Living crisis 

and ongoing economic challenges will continue to impact on individuals, 
families and communities across Swansea. Levels of poverty remain 
persistently high – with almost a quarter of people in Wales living in poverty – 
and impacts on life expectancy, health outcomes and adverse effects on the 
poorest areas. People’s experiences of poverty covering a range of common 
issues including access to essential resources such as housing, fuel, energy, 
clothing, footwear, food, and water, as well as support with finances, 
exclusion from services, and emotional and relationship issues. There are 
often extra costs that people on low incomes must pay for essentials – such 
as transport, fuel and food – due to the poverty premium, compounded by the 
ongoing Cost of Living crisis. The evidence shows that the Council has an 
important role to play in helping people to alleviate poverty, improving their 
personal prosperity through better skills and jobs, and addressing some of the 
key issues influencing poverty such as homelessness. The evidence also 
show that it is important to embed the lived experience of people in poverty 
across our services to ensure that we understand and meet those needs and 
that we create communities that are safe and resilient where people’s rights 
and needs are respected and they can prosper. 

 
5.3 Since March 2023, updated evidence and the implementation of the steps to 

deliver this Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities well-being objective 
has been reported through Council, Scrutiny Programme Committee, 
Governance and Audit Committee, Scrutiny Performance Panel – Adult 
Services and the Social Care and Tackling Poverty Service Transformation 
Committee. 
 
New evidence from the Bevan Foundation shows that more than one in eight 
households (14 per cent) either sometimes, often or always do not have 
enough for all the basics and large numbers of people are going without 
essentials, without heating in their home and eating smaller meals or skipping 
meals in their entirety. The Council’s refreshed Tackling Poverty strategy 
addresses this objective by taking a holistic person-centred approach to 
poverty and the development of pathways of support out of poverty. The 
Council’s new Tackling Poverty strategy also builds on the recommendations 
of the Wales Audit Office “Time for Change” recognising a strengths base 
approach where the strengths of individuals, communities and networks can 
be capitalised upon to help tackle poverty e.g. building on community assets 
and creating opportunities for work experience and volunteering. The Welsh 

Page 74



Government’s new Child Poverty strategy will help address the longer-term 
challenges of poverty in terms of access to essential resources, preventing 
need from escalating and improving well-being and long-term outcomes. The 
numbers in temporary accommodation have continued to grow as a result of a 
higher number of presentations, coupled with a lack of move-on 
accommodation. We are now (Quarter 3) at the highest level of households 
occupying Bed and Breakfast (B&B) accommodation ever. To mitigate this, 
we are progressing with an alternative to B&B, which will create an additional 
60+ units of temporary accommodation but there are concerns about being 
able to continue to sustain these high numbers in temporary accommodation. 
 
The evidence reported supports the rationale for the Tackling Poverty and 

Enabling Communities to remain a corporate priority and well-being objective. 

6.   Delivering on Nature Recovery and Climate Change  

6.1 The evidence and key drivers underpinning the Delivering on Nature 

Recovery and Climate Change well-being objective includes the following 

sources of information: 

• the Future Trends Report. 

• Future Generations Commissioners Report 2020/21. 

• Swansea – Assessment of Local Well-being 2022. 

• Wales – Well-being of Wales Report (National Indicators). 

• Local Nature Recovery Action Plan for Swansea. 

• Climate Change Update. 

• Delivering on Nature Recovery and Climate Change - Updates on Net Zero 
2050. 

• Nature Conservation – follow up to Scrutiny Inquiry 2019. 

• Environmental Tourism Briefing. 

• Planning Enforcement: Nature and Biodiversity. 

• Air Quality Management. 

• Water Quality, Management and Pollution Control.   

• Update on progress of Blue Eden. 

• Swansea Council Corporate Improvement Plan. 

• Integrated impact assessments alongside policy development. 

• Swansea Council Policy Commitments (updated in 2022). 

• Swansea Council Performance Monitoring Reports. 

• Swansea Council Corporate Risks. 
 
6.2 The evidence shows that our natural environment and biodiversity is under 

threat and in decline due to unsustainable human activities. Habitats and 
species are being lost at an alarming and unsustainable rate. We need to 
raise awareness of the impacts of biodiversity loss and climate change at the 
local level and provide information, advice, and practical support and 
incentives to encourage others to take action and collaborate to deliver 
positive solutions to these challenges. Tackling climate change, is one of the 
greatest challenges facing us and we need to reduce our carbon footprint and 
to mitigate for and adapt to the likely risks and impacts. Our unique variety of 
habitats and species and wonderful range of parks, greenspaces, nature 

Page 75



reserves, beaches and landscapes needs to be maintained, enhanced and 
sustainably managed for the benefit of everyone now and into the future. 

 
6.3 Since March 2023, updated evidence and the implementation of the steps to 

deliver this Delivering on Nature Recovery and Climate Change well-being 
objective has been reported through Council, Cabinet, Governance & Audit 
Committee, Scrutiny Performance Panel – Climate Change and Nature and 
the Climate Change and Nature Recovery Service Transformation Committee. 

 
6.4 New evidence shows that the implementation of the Local Nature Recovery 

action plan will help to address the longer-term challenges of this well-being 
objective by taking actions to protect and sustain many of our species and 
habitats. The implementation of actions to manage air quality, water quality, 
soils, biodiversity and pollution control will also help address the long-term 
challenges of sustainably managing and enhancing the quality of our natural 
resources, increasing our economic resilience. New evidence relating to the 
implementation of actions taken by the Council to respond to the climate 
emergency and the nature emergency will help address this long term 
challenge by reducing global warming and our carbon footprint, to maintain 
healthy resilient ecosystems that will continue to provide long-term quality of 
life. Progress with the project formerly known as Blue Eden and the 
completion of collaboration agreement and proposed land transactions to 
facilitate the development, will also help with the long term challenges of this 
well-being objective by exploring and support projects such as on and off 
shore renewables. There are limited financial and human resources to deliver 
and push towards the Net Zero 2030 ambition. In the main we are relying on 
external funding and without large investment – particularly on our buildings 
and fleet; the emissions figure will no doubt begin to plateau. We will look at 
opportunities to secure funding, but this is challenging given the pressures in 
the Councils Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

The evidence reported supports the rationale for Delivering on Nature 

Recovery and Climate Change to remain a corporate priority and well-being 

objective. 

7.   Transformation and Financial Resilience 

7.1 The evidence and key drivers underpinning the Transformation and Financial 

Resilience well-being objective includes the following sources of information: 

• the Future Trends Report. 

• Future Generations Commissioners Report 2020/21. 

• Swansea – Assessment of Local Well-being 2022. 

• Wales – Well-being of Wales Report (National Indicators). 

• Medium Term Financial Plan 2024-6. 

• Medium Term Financial Planning 2024/25 – 2026/27. 

• Budget Paper for 2024/25 (pending). 

• Revenue Budget Report 2024/25 (pending). 

• Successful and Sustainable Swansea Corporate Transformation Plan. 

• Follow up Report - Scrutiny Inquiry into Procurement. 

Page 76



• Digital Strategy 2023-28 and Transformation Programme. 

• Workforce and OD Transformation Programme. 

• The Governance and Assurance Arrangements of Swansea Council's 
Strategic Partnerships. 

• Consultation and Engagement Strategy 2023 – 2028. 

• Human Rights City Action Plan. 

• Swansea Council Corporate Improvement Plan. 

• Integrated impact assessments alongside policy development. 

• Swansea Council Policy Commitments (updated in 2022). 

• Swansea Council Performance Monitoring Reports. 

• Swansea Council Corporate Risks. 
 
7.2 The evidence shows that the Council is facing unprecedented cuts to funding 

in real terms, alongside an increasing demand for council services and 
increasingly complex needs. Demographic changes are driving an increase in 
demand for Council services and also impacting on the local labour market 
and the composition of the council workforce. Complex challenges such as 
substance misuse, strategic planning and meeting the needs of older people 
increasingly require a whole systems approach and working in greater 
collaboration with other partners and our local communities. In order to meet 
our statutory obligations to and to deliver services effectively and efficiently, 
we need to transform how we operate, ensuring we are protected from major 
external risks such as cyber security and improve how we consult and engage 
with our population. 

 
7.3 Since March 2023, updated evidence and the implementation of the steps to 

deliver this Transformation and Financial Resilience well-being objective has 
been reported through Council, Cabinet, Governance & Audit Committee, 
Scrutiny Inquiry Panel - Procurement and the Corporate Services & Financial 
Resilience Service Transformation Committee.  

 
7.4 New evidence outlined in the Successful and Sustainable Swansea Corporate 

Transformation Plan will help address the long term challenges of this 
objective by ensuring that council’s transformation approach will ensure that 
our services will become more efficient and sustainable. The delivery of our 
Digital Strategy and Digital Transformation Strategy will aim to improve our 
customer service ensuring our citizens can access council advice, guidance, 
information, and services, how and when they need them. It will also provide 
the opportunity to capitalise on technological advancements in terms of 
accessing key services such as education, health and social care. The 
delivery of our Workforce Strategy and our Workforce and OD Transformation 
programme will help meet this well-being objective by ensuring that we 
respond to the changing nature of the local labour market and the council’s 
workforce is motivated, committed innovative, supported, skilled and customer 
focused. The Council’s refreshed Consultation and Engagement Strategy and 
Co-production strategy and tool kit will aim to deliver this well-being objective 
by improving our consultation and engagement with our population and 
commitment to involve local people in the design and delivery of local services 
when it is appropriate to do so. 

Page 77



 
The evidence reported supports the rationale for Transformation and Financial 

Resilience to remain a corporate priority and well-being objective. 

8. Conclusion 

8.1 Overall the evidence suggests that all six well-being objectives should remain 

unchanged and corporate priorities for 2024/25. All the new evidence 

generated since March 2023, supports the wider evidence base and the 

rationale for prioritisation. Nevertheless, there may be a need to review as 

part of service planning some of the specific steps for delivery in line with 

emerging evidence, to ensure are resources and services are appropriately 

and effectively focused to deliver our well-being objectives. 

 

Page 78



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix B 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: SDU 
Directorate: Corporate Services 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 
 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 Other  

 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
Annual Review of Well-being Objectives.  
 
The Corporate Plan is a high level and strategic document that sets out the Council’s well-being 
objectives and how it will take steps to meet them. 
 
A full IIA was applied in March 2023 to the development of the Corporate Plan and to the well-
being objectives for the five year period 2023/28.  
 
The annual review of well-being objectives concerns the objectives themselves, i.e., a review of 
any changes made to the evidence since March 2023 to help determine if the wording of the 
objectives needed to be changed, or whether new objectives should be added or existing 
objectives removed, or a combination of these different options or that no changes are required.  
 
The review did not concern the detail in the Corporate Plan to deliver or measure progress 
meeting the well-being objectives, such as the steps in the Corporate Plan, the performance 
indicators and success measures. 
 
The review concluded that the evidence suggested no changes were needed to the Council’s 
well-being objectives for 2024/25 and so the IIA completed in March 2023 still applies. 
 
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  No  
     Investigation  Impact 
     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)           Page 79



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix B 
 

2 
 

OIder people (50+)           
Any other age group              
Future Generations (yet to be born)            
Disability            
Race (including refugees)            
Asylum seekers           
Gypsies & travellers            
Religion or (non-)belief           
Sex           
Sexual Orientation           
Gender reassignment            
Welsh Language           
Poverty/social exclusion           
Carers (inc. young carers)           
Community cohesion           
Marriage & civil partnership           
Pregnancy and maternity           
Human Rights           
 
 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 
 
Consultation and engagement was undertaken to inform the development of the Corporate Plan 
and to the well-being objectives for the five year period 2023/28. The annual review of the well-
being objectives concluded that the evidence suggested no changes were needed to the 
Council’s well-being objectives for 2024/25 and so consultation or engagement is needed. 
 
 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   
 

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 
together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          
 

 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk Page 80



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix B 
 

3 
 

                         
 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 

Q7 Will this initiative result in any changes needed to the external or internal website? 
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
Q8  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this 
proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the 
organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 
whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who 
are mainly women), etc.)   
 
Outcome of Screening – The Corporate Plan is a high level and strategic document that 
sets out the Council’s well-being objectives and how it will take steps to meet them. 
 
A full IIA was applied in March 2023 to the development of the Corporate Plan and to the 
well-being objectives for the five year period 2023/28.  
 
The annual review of well-being objectives concerns the objectives themselves, i.e., a 
review of any changes made to the evidence since March 2023 to help determine if the 
wording of the objectives needed to be changed, or whether new objectives should be 
added or existing objectives removed, or a combination of these different options or that 
no changes are required.  
 
The review did not concern the detail in the Corporate Plan to deliver or measure 
progress meeting the well-being objectives, such as the steps in the Corporate Plan, the 
performance indicators and success measures. 
 
The review concluded that the evidence suggested no changes were needed to the 
Council’s well-being objectives for 2024/25 and so the IIA completed in March 2023 still 
applies. 

 
Q9 Please describe the outcome of your screening using the headings below: 

 Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 
 Summary of involvement (Q3) 
 WFG considerations (Q4) 
 Any risks identified (Q5) 
 Cumulative impact (Q7) 

 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the  ‘Integrated Assessment Implications’ 

section of corporate report)  
 
See above 
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 Page 81



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix B 
 

4 
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome 

    
 

NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 
Screening completed by: 
Name: R Rowlands 
Job title: Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 
Date: 09/02/24 

 

Approval by Head of Service: 
Name: Lee Wenham 
Position: Head of Communications & marketing 
Date: 09/02/24 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 82



 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance  
 

Cabinet - 21 March 2024 
 

Quarter 3 2023/24 Performance Monitoring Report  
 

Purpose: To report corporate performance for Quarter 3 
2023/24. 
 

Policy Framework: Delivering a Successful & Sustainable Swansea 
Corporate Plan 2023/28 
 

Consultation: Access to Services, Finance, Legal. 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 
1) 
 
 

Notes the Council’s performance achieving the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives in Q3 2023/24;  

2) Endorses the use of this information to inform executive decisions on 
resource allocation and, where relevant, corrective actions to manage 
and improve performance and efficiency in delivering national and 
local priorities. 

 
Report Author: Richard Rowlands 

 
Finance Officer: Paul Roach 

 
Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 

 
Access to Services Officer: Rhian Millar 

 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This report presents an update on quarter 3 2023/24 performance in 

respect of delivering the Council’s Well-being Objectives (priorities) set 
out in the Corporate Plan 2023/28 Delivering a Successful & Sustainable 
Swansea: 

 

• Safeguarding people from harm.  

• Improving Education & Skills.  

• Transforming our Economy & Infrastructure.  

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



• Tackling Poverty & Enabling Communities.  

• Delivering on Nature Recovery and Climate Change.  

• Transformation and financial resilience. 
 

2.0 Council Performance: Corporate Plan Delivery Performance Q3 
2023/24 

 
2.1 The Council has been reviewing its performance management reports so 

that it can report on progress meeting the corporate well-being objectives 
in a more holistic way that incorporates both qualitative and quantitative 
data and offers a more rounded view of performance delivering the 
corporate priorities.  

 
2.2 The report at Appendix A seeks to provide an overview of performance 

each quarter that integrates progress meeting the steps in the corporate 
plan with related corporate plan success measures, corporate plan 
performance data and the corporate risks. An overall assessment is 
provided by the Chief Executive, which builds on the assessments on 
each objective provided by lead Directors and Heads of Service. 

 
2.3 The charts below provide a summary of performance at Q3. The charts 

show that the vast majority of corporate plan steps, success measures 
and performance indicators are on track and corporate risks remain 
static. 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 84



 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 85



2.3.1 The quarter 3 report continues to show demonstratable and positive 
progress across all of the Councils well-being objectives, which are all 
rated green and are on target. The following includes some examples of 
good performance at Q3: 

 

• In Social Services, a workforce development programme is in place 
to increase capacity through improved recruitment and retention of 
Social Workers. 

• The co-produced Carers Assessment was successfully launched on 
Carers Rights Day in November and is being used by Children and 
Adult Services. 

• The numbers of children needing to become looked after is on a 
gradual downward trend. 

• The Council has secured a consistent approach to school 
attendance improvement planning; as a result, there is a steady 
improvement in school attendance rates. 

• A highly successful Inclusion Conference for school leaders was 
facilitated during this reporting period resulting in greater awareness 
of diversity. 

• 96% of all planning applications are determined within the agreed 
timescales; this performance is now consistently top quartile when 
benchmarked at the all-Wales level. 

• The Local Area Co-ordination Team were successful in winning the 
Equalities, Inclusion and Cohesion category in the inaugural Safer 
Communities Awards in November. 

• The Installation of EV charging point at Heol y Gors depot was 
completed.  

• Metrics are showing strong performance on the payment of 
invoices, use of automation, handling of complaints and data 
protection. 

 
2.3.2 Progress at quarter 3 is not without its challenges. These include service 

and staffing pressures, inflationary challenges, the impact from the cost 
of living and service demands. The Council is responding effectively and 
managing the risks appropriately. The following includes some examples 
where continuing improvements are needed: 

 

• An area of significant concern continues to be the number of 
children requiring a residential care placement. The number 
remains too high and is a direct consequence of a national lack of 
foster placements. The Council is starting to see some early 
indications of success with growing our in-house Fostering service. 

• Attendance at the Pupil Referral Unit remains below 60%, with 
insufficient progress. Attendance at Special Schools, although 
improving, remains below target. Grant funding has been used 
sensibly to support schools where attendance progress is slowest. 

• The construction sector remains a challenging environment and 
presents a risk for the delivery and cost of major capital projects, 
with persistently high inflation continuing the impact the price of 

Page 86



materials, supply chain and labour availability. As a result, some 
major regeneration and housing developments could be delayed 
owing to these external factors and complications, but mitigation will 
be deployed wherever possible. 

• The numbers in temporary accommodation have continued to grow 
as a result of a higher number of presentations, coupled with a lack 
of move-on accommodation. We are now at the highest level of 
households occupying Bed and Breakfast (B&B) accommodation 
ever. To mitigate this, we are progressing with an alternative to 
B&B, which will create an additional 60+ units of temporary 
accommodation but are concerned that we will not be able to 
continue to sustain these high numbers in temporary 
accommodation for much longer. 

• There are limited financial and human resources to deliver and 
push towards the Net Zero 2030 ambition. In the main we are 
relying on external funding and without large investment – 
particularly on our buildings and fleet; the emissions figure will no 
doubt begin to plateau. We will look at opportunities to secure 
funding, but this is challenging given the pressures in the Councils 
Medium Term Financial Plan. 

• 2023/24 continues to be a challenging year with a forecast 
overspend by year-end on service budgets of £1.507 million and an 
overall total overspend of £3.284m as at the end of December 
2023. It is anticipated that these forecast overspends (which include 
excess unbudgeted base costs) will be offset by contingency 
reserves this year, adding pressure to 2024/25 and beyond. 

 
3.0 Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
3.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty 

and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must 
in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

• Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

• Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

• Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

• Ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. 

 

Page 87



3.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that 
public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental, and cultural well-being of Wales by acting, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at 
achieving the ‘well-being goals. 

 
3.3 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid 

due regard to the above. It also considers other key issues and priorities, 
such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the 
United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and 
Welsh language. 

 
3.4 This report is on performance during Q3 2023/24 in delivering the 

Council’s key priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan, so there is no 
direct impact on people or communities. 

 
4.0 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 In the current and anticipated financial environment further discussion 

 and consideration will be required around priorities and target setting for 
 performance improvement. 

 
5.0 Legal Implications 
 
5.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A Q3 2023/24 Performance Monitoring Report 
Appendix B IIA screening form 
 

Page 88



���������	
�	
��������������  !"�#$%��"&�'(#)�0� � � � ��34567896@58ABCD@�E6FE46�9AFG�H8AG 3456IGEAFPCD@�QB5R8SCFD�T�7UC44V 3456WA8DV9FAGCD@�F5A�QRFDFGX�TID9A8VSA5RS5A6 3456W8RU4CD@�YFP6ASX�8DB�QD8̀4CD@aFGG5DCSC6V3456b64CP6ACD@�FD�c8S5A6�d6RFP6AX�Ta4CG8S6�aH8D@6 3456WA8DV9FAG8SCFD�T�eCD8DRC84d6VC4C6DR6�fg�h�ip�qr�gs���t�����u��� v�q�uw�
�xyx�v�q�uw�
�xyx��f���r�
��
���
��	
��q	��g�r����	��f	����u	���
�w��������	�g�gs���
	�
�����q
	�������	h��f���	r�qg��������w�g���	w��q�gs����fgqf��
������
������
��������	����
�������f	r�f��fg��g���	��g�f	r��g���qf�����������f����g�q�r�����
sgq���������hhg����
���r
����g�h���g	��
��qf����������gu��q��	h�q	���	h��gsg���������
sgq����u�������f���	r�qg��g��
���	��g����hh�q�gs�������u����g����f��
g�������
	�
g���������	s�
������
u��	h��f�������������g�����	s�
������
��qr

�������
����
������g�f�����������
�����q	u��������fgqf�q	�hg
u���f����	�g�gs���
	�
����g��w�g���u������������������������f�����b��q
	�������	w��q�gs�������qr

������
���ctd�
����������
g	
g����������g���w����������g�f����g����
	�q�gs���q�g	���	��
������w
g����f����w�q��	����
����w�����
�����������g�g	���fg�����	�g�gs���
	�
����g��
�g�h	
q���w�����ruw�
�	h��f������g�q�r������f�
���
���	u���f�
��hr
�f�
��	
������������g��g����������	����r
��	s�
������
h	
u��q����
������
�u���w���f������	h��f�����
������������	�w����������f���u����	h��f���������
��������q
�������fg�����
�����u�����������g������gu���	�w����	�����f��
g�������g������qf�	h��f������w�g��	w��q�gs����
��q���
������������������
������
��w�g���ug�g���������h�
����g���	��gw���ug�gug�g����f��
��g�r���
g����������g�g	����q	��
	��u���r
����
��w�g���gu���u�������f�
��	��gw�������g���	
�f�����g����f����f��q	r�qg���
g���u�����u����h
�u��	
�������
	q����g��qr

������w�g���
�sg����������g���w��g�����q��h	
��f�����
��	h��f������hg���qg������
������fg��g���hr
�f�
�gu�
	s���f��
	wr�������	h��f��
g���u�����u�����
	q�����eg�������fg�����f��
g���������g��h	
��f���
���h	
u��g	������hg���qg���
��g�g��q���f	����	u��ug�g���g����
���hh�q�gs�g��
��rqg����f��
��g�r���
��g�����f�
��g����g�����q	�q�
��	���f��	s�
����
g������
������r���	��f��qr

����qf����������g�fg���g��
��rw�gq���q�	
�hg���q�������r�q�
��g�����w	r���g����wr�����������u����h	
�hr�r
�����
��s�
������w��g�s���f����	�g�gs���
	�
����g��w�g���u�����������f����f���
	�
����	r��g�����g�fg���f��
��	
�����g�����f��g��gsg�r���������q���
����f	����f����f��q	r�qg��g��r�g���g��
��	r
q����hh�q�gs���������fg��g���sg���q���w���	�g�gs���q�g	����g���� f
P

age 89

Gordon.Wright�
Square


Gordon.Wright�_1
Square


Gordon.Wright�_2
Square


Gordon.Wright�_3
Square


Gordon.Wright�_4
Square


Gordon.Wright�_5
Square


Gordon.Wright�_6
Square


Gordon.Wright�_7
Square


Gordon.Wright�_8
Square


Gordon.Wright�_9
Square


Gordon.Wright�_10
Square


Gordon.Wright�_11
Square


Gordon.Wright�_12
Square


Gordon.Wright�_13
Square


Gordon.Wright
FreeText
1�

Allison.Lowe
FreeText
Appendix A�



���������������	

��	�������	����	� !"#$%"�'$�"�("')�"#0�%12"3�4'56�'#�!7'47�47'30)%#�4"#�7"8%�57%�9%$5�$5")5�'#�3'(%�5@�9%�57%�9%$5�57%6�4"#�9%A�$"(%�!'57'#�57%')�("B'3'%$C�� !"#$%"�'$�"�7%"3576�4'56�'#�!7'47�"33�D%@D3%�4"#�%ED%45�5@�3'8%�7"DD6A�7%"3576A�(23('33'#F�3'8%$G�5@�"47'%8%�57%')�@!#�!%339%'#F�@254@B%$�"#0�"F%�!%33C�� !"#$%"�'$�"�72B"#�)'F75$�4'56�4@BB'55%0�5@�%#7"#4'#F�57%�7%"357A�!%339%'#FA�$"(%56�"#0�5@�D)@B@5'#F�57%�)'F75$�@(�823#%)"93%�"0235$A�47'30)%#A�"#0�("B'3'%$C��H%�"'B�5@�D)%8%#5�"#0�'#5%)8%#%�%")36A�!7%)%�"�D%)$@#�@)�47'30�'$�"5�)'$I�@(�7")BA�"92$%A�#%F3%45�@)�%ED3@'5"5'@#A�"#0�5@�%#$2)%�57%�)'F75�4")%�"#0�$2DD@)5�"5�57%�)'F75�5'B%C��H%�!'33�4@#5'#2%�5@�D)@B@5%�$"(%F2")0'#F�823#%)"93%�D%@D3%�"$�%8%)6@#%P$�92$'#%$$A�"4)@$$�57%�4@2#4'3A�57)@2F7�"�$I'33%0�"#0�D)@(%$$'@#"3�!@)I(@)4%A�@2)�%3%45%0�B%B9%)$�"#0"#6�@)F"#'$"5'@#�@)�D%)$@#�!7@�2#0%)5"I%$�!@)I�@#�@2)�9%7"3(C Q��

	��	�R%")#'#F�()@B�57%�)%4%#5�D"#0%B'4�"#0�3@@I'#F�(@)!")0�!'57�57%�7%3D�@(�57%�4@2#4'3P$�S%4@8%)6�T3"#�!'33�)%B"'#�"�I%6�(@42$�F@'#F�'#5@�UVUW�"#0�9%6@#0A�"$�!%�4"))6�@#�!'575)"#$(@)B"5'@#�D)@F)"BB%$�5@�B@0%)#'$%�$@4'"3�4")%�$%)8'4%$A�5@�"47'%8%�"�B@)%�D)%8%#5"5'8%A�$2$5"'#"93%�"DD)@"47�"#0�#%5�X%)@�4")9@#�(@@5D)'#5C��H%�")%�!@)I'#F�'#�D")5#%)$7'D$�5@�'BD)@8%�57%�$"(%56A�57%�7%"357A�"#0�57%�!%339%'#F�@254@B%$�@(�@2)�B@$5�823#%)"93%�4'5'X%#$C��Y7)@2F7�P4@D)@0245'@#P�̀�!%�")%�'#8@38'#F�D%@D3%�'#�%8%)657'#F�!%�0@A�(@42$'#F�@#�P!7"5�B"55%)$�B@$5P�5@�57%B�"$�4'5'X%#$A�D3"4'#F�57%B�"5�57%�4%#5)%�@(�57%')�@!#�4")%�"#0$2DD@)5�"#0�96�4@D)@024'#F�$%)8'4%$�5@�"47'%8%�9%55%)�@254@B%$C��a6�%#$2)'#F�57%)%�'$�7'F7�12"3'56�"#0�B@)%�"44%$$'93%A�"#0�'#5%F)"5%0�7%"357�"#0�$@4'"3�4")%�$%)8'4%$�(@)�"0235$A�47'30)%#�"#0�("B'3'%$�!7@�#%%0�@2)�4")%�"#0�$2DD@)5C�� !"#$%"�'$�%#F"F%0�'#�!@)I�@#�"�)%F'@#"3�$5)"5%F'4�"DD)@"47�5@�$2DD@)5�57%�!%339%'#F�#%%0$�@(�4")%)$�"#0�6@2#F�4")%)$A�57'$�#%%0$�5@�5)"#$3"5%�'#5@�"�43%")�"DD)@"47�3@4"336�5@B"I%�"�0'((%)%#4%�'#�57%�3'8%$�@(�'#0'8'02"3$C b')%45@)$�c$$%$$B%#5d"#"F'#F�H'#5%)�D)%$$2)%$�!'57@25�"00'5'@#"3�H%3$7�e@8%)#B%#5�(2#0'#F�5@�$2DD@)5�$@4'"3�4")%�7"$�"00%0�5@�57%�f@2#4'3g$�47"33%#F%�5@�9@57�B"'#5"'#�$"(%�"#0�%((%45'8%�$%)8'4%0%3'8%)6�!7'3$5�$%%I'#F�5@�D)'@)'5'$%�57%�5)"#$(@)B"5'@#�"#0�'BD)@8%B%#5�"45'8'56�57"5�!'33�%#"93%�4@#5'#2%0�0%3'8%)6�"F"'#$5�57%�f@2#4'3g$�$"(%F2")0'#F�!%33�9%'#F�@9h%45'8%Ca6�57%�%#0�@(�57'$�('#"#4'"3�6%")�57%�f@2#4'3�!'33�7"8%�0%D3@6%0�4ipB�@(�)%$%)8%$�5@�$2DD@)5�)%4@8%)6�@(�$%)8'4%$�D@$5�4@8'0G�57'$�6%")g$�H'#5%)�D)%$$2)%$A�%E4%D5'@#"3�'#(3"5'@#")6D)%$$2)%$G�"#0�57%�)%0245'@#�'#�'#4@B%�()@B�43'%#5$�3'#I%0�5@�57%�4@$5�@(�3'8'#F�4)'$'$Cb%D3@6B%#5�@(�)%$%)8%$�"5�57"5�3%8%3�4"##@5�9%�$2$5"'#%0CH@)I(@)4%�$2(('4'%#46�"4)@$$�"33�56D%$�@(�%$$%#5'"3�)%F'$5)"#5�D@$5$�)%B"'#$�"�3'B'5'#F�("45@)C�Y7%�3"4I�@(�)%F'$5)"#5�$@4'"3�!@)I%)$�"#0�57%)"D'$5$�'$�#%F"5'8%36�'BD"45'#F�42))%#5D%)(@)B"#4%�"#0�)%B"'#$�"�$'F#'('4"#5�(252)%�)'$IC�R'I%!'$%�D3"4%B%#5�$2(('4'%#46�(@)�47'30)%#�!7@�#%%0�5@�9%4@B%�3@@I%0�"(5%)Cb%$D'5%�57"5�47"33%#F'#F�4@#5%E5A�D%)(@)B"#4%�"F"'#$5�B@$5�@(�@2)�I%6�D%)(@)B"#4%�5")F%5$�)%B"'#$�$5)@#F�0%$D'5%�"�Uqr�'#4)%"$%�'#�0%B"#0G�D")5'423")36�"4)@$$�"0235$%)8'4%$C�Y7%�f@2#4'3�!'33�#@5�9%�"93%�5@�B"#"F%�$'B'3")�'#4)%"$%$�'#�0%B"#0�'#5@�"0235�B"#"F%0�4")%�$%)8'4%$�F@'#F�(@)!")0C�c�7'F7%)�D)@D@)5'@#�@(�"0235$�!'33�#%%0�5@�9%$2DD@)5%0�57)@2F7�D)%8%#5'@#�"#0�%")36�7%3D�$%)8'4%$C�Y7%$%�$%)8'4%$�")%�2#0%)�D)%$$2)%�"$�"�)%$235�@(�$'F#'('4"#5�)%0245'@#$�'#�F)"#5�(2#0'#F�"#0�57%)%(@)%�57%�)%B@0%33'#F�@(%")36�7%3D�"#0�D)%8%#5'@#�"4)@$$�"0235�$%)8'4%$�5@�'BD)@8%�%((%45'8%#%$$�"#0�%#$2)%�('#"#4'"3�$2$5"'#"9'3'56�'$�"�D)'@)'56CY7%�#2B9%)$�@(�47'30)%#�"44%$$'#F�9@57�%")36�7%3D�"#0�$5"525@)6�47'30)%#�$%)8'4%$�)%B"'#�9)@"036�'#�3'#%�!'57�%ED%45"5'@#$C�Y7%�#2B9%)�@(�47'30)%#�#%%0'#F�5@�9%4@B%�3@@I%0"(5%)�)%B"'#$�@#�"�F)"02"3�0@!#!")0�5)%#0C�Y7%�#2B9%)$�@(�47'30)%#�$29h%45�5@�"�47'30�D)@5%45'@#�D3"#�'$�!'57'#�"#�%ED%45%0�)"#F%C�Y7%�@#36�")%"�@(�$'F#'('4"#5�4@#4%)#4@#5'#2%$�5@�9%�57%�#2B9%)�@(�47'30)%#�)%12')'#F�"�)%$'0%#5'"3�4")%�D3"4%B%#5C�Y7"5�#2B9%)�)%B"'#$�5@@�7'F7�"#0�'$�"�0')%45�4@#$%12%#4%�@(�"�#"5'@#"3�3"4I�@(�(@$5%)D3"4%B%#5$C�Y7%�f@2#4'3�'$�$5")5'#F�5@�$%%�$@B%�%")36�'#0'4"5'@#$�@(�$244%$$�!'57�F)@!'#F�@2)�'#�7@2$%�s@$5%)'#F�$%)8'4%C
t

P
age 90

Gordon.Wright_1
FreeText
Safeguarding people from harm�

Gordon.Wright�_14
Square


Gordon.Wright_2
FreeText
2�



����������	
��������������	�
	���������	���	����������	 �������� 	 !��	"#$�����%���	
&	 ��'���	('
�'��� )$01234562789@5	2B	CD47EF@4GB	H6B9@4BB	I	1234562789@5	F67	PFBQ	D6R@472HR4	S4FSR4	9BT4D47EF@4GB	H6B9@4BBG	2U7FBB	QV4	WF6@U9RX	Y9QV9@	BUVFFRBX	Y9QV	S27Q@47BX	2@8	QV7F65V	̀4BQaR2PF752@	1234562789@5	bF278	2@8	S27Q@47BV9SBX	Y4	Y9RR	6@847Q2c4	2	74D94Y	F3	SFBQIS2@84P9U	U274	2@8	B6SSF7Q	S7FD9B9F@ d@	9@Q47@2R	2@8	4eQ47@2R	8FP9U9R927E	U274	U2S2U9QE	74D94YX	9@UR689@5	QV484D4RFSP4@Q	F3	2@	dBB9BQ9D4	f4UV@FRF5E	1Q72Q45E	2@8	9@Q47@2Rg4B984@Q92R	U274	S7FD9B9F@	74D94YX	29PB	QF	9@U742B4	8FP9U9R927E	U274U2S2U9QEh	d	̀F7c3F7U4	84D4RFSP4@Q	S7F572PP4	R9c4Y9B4	29PB	QF9@U742B4	U2S2U9QE	QV7F65V	9PS7FD48	74U769QP4@Q	i	74Q4@Q9F@	F3	BFU92RYF7c47Bh	pFU2R9QE	H2B48	S74D4@Q9F@	2@8	427RE	9@Q47D4@Q9F@	2@8	B6SSF7Q3F7	S274@QB	2@8	U2747B	9B	29P48	2Q	9PS7FD9@5	427RE	V4RS	2@8	7486U4BQ2Q6QF7E	84P2@8h a744@
q���	rs����t	��u	'��������	����s�
't	��'�����	�	�t	���s'���	����	$us��	��u	v���u	��uw�%��t	��'�����	�'�	'
�s��x	'��������x	��u	�&&������	��	�������	'����	��'�	��u�s��
'�x	�
	���	'����	��'�
�x	��	���	'����	��%�y	��	�
%%��	�
	���������	����%����
�	&
'	�����'	��'�	��	�������x	�
	�����	
���
��	���'�����	�
	���'����	�
s����u�'���	u�����'t	
&	��'�y $	��u�s%	��'%	w��������	(���	���	����	���'
��u	��u	����������	��	�����	&
'	�su���	'�rs�'�%����	
��'	���	����	�	t��'�y 0'����%�'
����	
s��
%��	&
'	����u'��	��u	t
s��	��
���	�t	�'
%
����	'�����	
&����u'��x	t
s��	��
���	��	���'t�����	��	u
x	��'
s��	
s'	��'����t	�
	�s��
'�����u'��	��u	t
s��	��
���	�
	����	��&��t	��	�
%�	����	����'	&�%��t�	��'
s��	����
'�
'���	��'������	��'����t	�
	����	����	��'�u	&
'	����u	�������	�	�����'	��&��	������	��'���	�
	�'
��u�	���	����u'����	��'�	&���������	������	��������	�t	�'
�'�������	���	����u'����	��'�	&������t	
&&�'���	����	rs����tx	�
�	&
'	�'
&��x	�
���	�����%��������	%
��	���u�uy ��	����	�	�'
����	�s%��'	
&	����u'��	��	����'���	'���u��������'�	�#��	���'��s��ux	��	��'�x	�
	�	����	
&	&
���'	��'�	
���
��	��u��'������	�'�����	%�'���	us�	�
	s���'�����t	�'
s�u	�����0
��'�%�����	���%�����y	��	�'�	s�����	�
	�'
�	����
s��'���u������	��	'���	���u�u	�
	����	����u'��	�
���	�����	��	�
�����u	�
	��	&'
%	��y	��	����	���	�
��������t	
&	�'������	"%
���
�	&����	��	
s'	�t	����	����u'����	�
%�	��s��u���	��'������
%�������	�������	������%�����	��u	���	u����
�%���	
&	�	"���u�%�'����t	�����%����	�'����u	��	�t	)�
�����x	�����	��	����us��u�
	��	�
%�����u	�t	#�y#y"�y	��	�uu���
�	�
	�����	���������'
�����x	��	�'�	���
	�
'����	����	��'���'�	�
	����	"	�uu���
����'
��'����	��	���	�
���	�'��x	����	���	�������
�	
&	'������'������%	����	v��	��'�t	��	���	���	���'x	�&	
s'	�
����
�	��u�
%%s���t	�%����	������%����	�'�	����
s�	���s�y	��	���������	
s�	�	�����	
���
�	&
'	�
��	
&	�����	�'
��'����y	 ��	��	�&
'%�'	����u'����	�
%�	��	�'t��t&'tu	�����	����	�'
��u�	�	#���u
&&�'	��u	���	
���'	��	�	"	��u	�
%�	��	���	��s��'��tuu	�'��	
&�������y	��	�'�	�
'����	
�	�'������	�
�s��
��	�
	%���%��������	0
��	�'���	&s�u���	'����s�	�
���x	��u	���������	���	'���
&	�s�����������t	
&	���&&���y	����	����	��&
'%	���	��w(	 s''��'s��%���	u'���	��	�����	
���
���x	��	��	
s'	�'������	��uu����
�%���	����	&
'	
s'	
&&���'�y

0'���

d
P

age 91

Gordon.Wright�_15
Square


Gordon.Wright_3
FreeText
3�



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$01'���&�'%����2�'����3��4���'������4���'������34�������4���'������4'�%����4���'������34�������'�%������&����3���3����3�������
�%�5��6�'�%�3��������		��������������'���3�
����
���3���	����	�'����'��	�7����8����'������	���4'���'��	���&&�'����'���3�������'�3�6�	�'������'�4���������3�'���������'��	����	'�����
��2��69���&�	4������'��������5�'�����%���5���3��6����������8��
�@����
�������4'��	�'�������������8��
�
����
�'�	���'6�����%�'�����4�	�%�� (�'���'�
���8�'A����8��
�@����
�B��
�'3���	��'�	�����4����	'������
�	�%%4���6���3�
�����������
�%�����
8�6�7��4'������'���3��'��	�����3�&����	������'��%������	'��������'%�3�����	�'����3	�%%4���6��C4��%������'��	����'��������'����8�3�������4'��
��� �����8�'A���5�������%������3�4����&������������'����&4�3���	�����4�����������'�&��	��B��4���'���4'��� �	�����7$�'����8��&�3�6�B�'���������'��	��������'%���&�&4�	�����5���������3�	���	��65�������������'�6����������������%������5�&4�	�������3��4�	�%����������3��������%����8��
�	4''������'��	��4��'�5&�%�����D	�'�'����3�	������4����������4�3�'8�67���$��'��'�%%���&8�'A�8�������4�3�'��A������"E�"F7��
0'���

�4���'�����4����3�	�'�'�5���'����	�'�'����3�6�4���	�'�'����'�	����������
�������	���'��4������&�4����3�	�'�'�5���'����	�'�'����3�6�4���	�'�'���6�	��'�34	������8���'��	
�������
��'��
���4���'������	
������
��'��8��8�����������4�	�%��7 G�8�2�'�'��	�����4���������3����&��3���3��&&�'�3���2�'�'�$�����%�����&��
��'����3�7�2�'�'���
�'���'��A�������������������
�0���'�%����&4�3�����'���������'�%���3���3�����8���������'�%�����
���4���'����3���'��	���&�'�2�'�'��8����������'�������$34�����'��	�������
����8�6��'7 0'����4��3�������A����35��'�&���������8�'A&�'	����3��4���'������
��'�8������������6���&�'�	'4��%���5���3�'�����������8�'A&�'	���
���	�����4������3�����'�
��
�C4����6���	�����'��	��5��6�	�%%����������&��'�'���6�&�'�	�'��8�'A�'�9��
'�4�
��4���'�������3�'�
��9��6�&�	4��������8�'A&�'	��8��������5��'�	��	������3�'3����3�'�&���������3������%��������4���'����	
�8�'A�'��������
��������
�6�	����� ��	������'��	���
�����%��4'����'A&�'	��('��'�%%�7�1
����%��&�
���'��'�%%��������
������
��
�6��A����3���3��'����3�8�'A&�'	��
���8���'����������'�����7������������������
��
��'���&��
��'��'�%%�5�8�'A����8��
������'�����&��
��!�'�	��'�������3�������
�������'����67 0'���H%���%�����
�������0��%�'����'����������'���'�
���8�'A��'��'�%%�5��6�8�'A���8��
���'���'������	
����������'���3��4���������5���3�I�'������	�'����%�3����&
����
���3���	����	�'�7 ('��'�%%��)�%���������'�	A������'������&�'������%��'�"#7 0'���

P
P

age 92

Gordon.Wright�_16
Square


Gordon.Wright_4
FreeText
4�



�������������	����������������	�� � 
����������������������	�  �!	�"	��� #�$����"��	%&�"�	���&�����'(� �������& �)	&�	&�0���%����	0���1��2��&����3 4�&�� 0��(�&	�%�20�5�2&�������2�	���%�
&	����	�������&� ��	�&���6�5����& �'&%��"	��)�������	�"� �	 0�������	��������)	�(���&���'�	7�)	�"	����6�&�) ������)� &�0���%�'�����8��9���	02�%08��2��&����9��))	���(����5�	)�	�������"��	%&�"3������ �	�)�	�����2��)	������%������	��&�0!	�"	�����5���&�����&��@����2�	3 $	���A�)	���%�������������	 0�(� )���%��(��5����& 1��'�  2�&�"���%�)	�����&�������	��	�(� )&�"����	�%����%����%�����������	0���	�&���3 
�������(��&��	����%�%����%���%�&������'&�(�	��	�&��������%	�����&���'&�(&��BCC6���)��&�0�&���(����	�&���(���2����&�)����%3D�%"������	��E�FG�H�'&  ���	�(�	�&�)����	����	������%�&����	���)��&�06�%����������&���%�� �����%�&�������������� ���	�%���%"	������	���I� �(�$���	�����3 ��2�	�����0���%����������%�	%��&���	����	�)	���&��3 ����"��	%&�"��(��7 &��6�2���%�����(�����&��� ��&�&�������%�	%�6�%��� �)�%���	��  �������P��� �����	� $	���Q��������R�� &�0�&���(��%� &��	0�����������	0����&� ���	�&���3 5���&���%������������2�%%&�"�R�� &�0�����	�����'&�(&���%� ���	�&������%�5(& %���%�Q��& 0���	�&������%��(	��"(���&%����S2���%�)	���&����	���'�	7�6��3"3��&"�����������06���  �2�	��&��������&���&��3 $	���I�	7�	����� ���))�	��%�&���(�&	�'�	7���%�)	�����&��� �%��� �)����3 I�	7��	���!	�"	�����&��&��) ������%�&������&��&�"���� &�������%��))�	��������'&�(��(�&	�'�	7���%�)	�����&��� �%��� �)���� $	���5�	�	���	��&%���&�&�%���%���))�	��%�&���(�&	��'��'�  2�&�"3 T(����S)	�%���%�5�	�	�������������'������������  0� ����(�%���5�	�	��#&"(���
�0�&��@����2�	���%�&��2�&�"����%�20�5(& %	����%��%� �����	�&���3�T(������&��&���%���))�	����	�5�	�	��&��%�����2��	�S���%�	�%�&��Q�2	��	0��E�F3�T(����	�&����)��&�&���&��(���2������S)	�%���%�20�5�	�	�3 $	����'�������&�&U�����V)�	&����������� ����W��	��0���'�	%���(�&	��'��(�� �(���%'�  2�&�"���������3 !	�"	�������&���"	���%6�	��2 ������)��('�0����%�(��)&�� ���(������))�	�6���%�	�)�	��%�&�� ��� ���%�	�"&��� �)�	��	�����	�)�	��3 $	���
X

P
age 93

Gordon.Wright�_17
Square


Gordon.Wright_5
FreeText
5�



���������	�
����	�����������  !�
#�$%�&'()�
01
$�234�&'3(5
$�(65�7�&'
2'(82
9!�$�
'!�
&��4
10$
2@##0$'
9(2
73'3)('�4
0$
$�4@%�4 A�B�C D�B�C�����1 E�$%�&'()�
01
%077@&3'8
$�(65�7�&'
#(%F()�2
01
%($�
9!�$�
&��4
10$
2@##0$'
9(2
73'3)('�4
0$
$�4@%�4 A�B�C GHBIC����H3 E�$%�&'()�
01
P($�
(&4
Q@##0$'
#5(&2
4@�
'0
6�
$�R3�9�4
%07#5�'�4
93'!3&
2'('@'0$8
'37�2%(5�2 A�B�C SGBAC���TSU E�$%�&'()�
01
�&V@3$3�2
%07#5�'�4
93'!3&
H
90$F3&)
4(82
1$07
$�%�3#'
01
'!�
$�#0$'�4
(55�)�4
(6@2�B H�B�C DHBWC�Q�I6 E�$%�&'()�
01
34�&'313�4
%($�$2
011�$�4
(&
(22�227�&'
('
'!�
#03&'
01
(22�227�&'
01
'!�
X%($�4
10$X W�B�C WTB�CPYQ�S( E�$%�&'()�
01
%0&'(%'2
$�%�3R�4
9!�$�
(
4�%3230&
9(2
7(4�
68
'!�
�&4
01
'!�
&�̀'
90$F3&)
4(8 W�B��C WABHACPYQ�D(  !�
$('�
01
500F�4
(1'�$
%!354$�&
ab�Pc
#�$
��d���
01
'!�
�e�H
Q9(&2�(
#0#@5('30& ��GB� ��GBSPYQ�W(  !�
#�$%�&'()�
01
R323'2
'0
%!354$�&
0&
'!�
PEf
9!3%!
9�$�
&0'
0R�$4@�B W�B��C HDBIGCPYQTS g@76�$
01
P!354$�&
h
i0@&)
E�0#5�
Q@##0$'�4
68
P!354
(&4
Y(7358
Q�$R3%�2
('
'!�
�&4
01
'!�
#�$304 �dS�� �d�WSPYQTG3  !�
&@76�$
01
P!354$�&
h
i0@&)
E�0#5�
2@##0$'�4
68
'!�
p($58
q�5#
q@62
('
'!�
�&4
01
'!�
#�$304 �d��� WA�

rstuvwxy��������
���
� ������� ������ ������ ��������c��

d
P

age 94

Gordon.Wright�_18
Square


Gordon.Wright_6
FreeText
6�



����� ���	
�����	��	�������
	�
	 ��	!��"�	#� ���� $%&	�����	'�� �� ��
	(�)�& ��	0�'(1	" 	�
�	��	 ��	2����� ��� �3456789@6	B6C	D 56789@6 E7@F6G HIG97P Q6@CR@S7TI6

U
P

age 95

Gordon.Wright�_19
Square


Gordon.Wright_7
FreeText
7�



�����������	
�
���������������	���� !�""# $%&'()%0123(�5'657'�&068�9%08@ABACADEA FGHIA PQRAEHGSA�UAVECGWHGXD @GVY�̀ASAI aACSGEA bDcACADH@dHGDe d̀VH�fWgdHA hCASGXiV�@GVYaEXCA piCCADH�@aEXCA

q
P

age 96

Gordon.Wright�_20
Stamp


Gordon.Wright�_21
Square


Gordon.Wright_8
FreeText
8�



���������������	

��	�������	����	� !�#$%&�$''�()0'12!%�$%1�345%6�7!47'!�&4�$&&!%1�8()44'�2!65'$2'39�&4�@!�0%('51!19�&4�@!�2!80'0!%&�$%1�)$A!�85((!88B5'�B5&52!8C� !�#$%&�$''�()0'12!%�$%1�345%6�7!47'!�&4�)$A!�6441� !'8)�'$%65$6!�8D0''8C� !�#$%&�&4�857742&�$%1�E$0%&$0%�!BB!(&0A!�8()44'�'!$1!28)07C� !�#$%&�&4�857742&�$%1�E$0%&$0%�!F(!''!%&�&!$()0%6C� !�#$%&�$''�'!$2%!28�&4�2!(!0A!�&)!02�!15($&04%�0%�!%A024%E!%&8�&)$&�$2!�8$B!�$%1�858&$0%$@'!�(4EE5%0&0!8�B42�'!$2%0%6CG��

	��	�H%8520%6�345%6�7!47'!�)$A!�&)!�8D0''8�&4�@!�$@'!�&4�!%&!2�'4($'�!E7'43E!%&�47742&5%0&0!89�0%('510%6�&)48!�$2080%6�B24E�&)!�I#$%8!$�P$3�Q0&3�R!$'C�H%8520%6�()0'12!%�$%1�345%6�7!47'!S8�'!$2%0%69�)!$'&)�$%1�#!''T@!0%6�08�857742&!19�7$2&0(5'$2'3�B4''4#0%6�&)!�0E7$(&�4B�&)!�Q4A01TUV�7$%1!E0(C�W112!880%6�&)!�0%!X5$'0&0!8�(2!$&!1�@3�&)!�'0%D�&)$&�!F08&8�@!&#!!%�!15($&04%$'�$&&$0%E!%&�$%1�!(4%4E0(�72487!20&3C��H%8520%6�&)$&�&)!�857742&�B42�&)!�724A0804%�4B�$110&04%$'�'!$2%0%6�%!!18�08�8&24%6!29�'!88�$1A!28$20$'�$%1�7'$(!8�()0'12!%�$%1�345%6�7!47'!�$&�&)!�(!%&2!�4B�1!(0804%�E$D0%6C��H%8520%6�!X5$'�47742&5%0&0!8�B42�$''�'!$2%!28�&4�'!$2%� !'8)9�87!$D�&)!�'$%65$6!�(4%B01!%&'3�$%1�&4�724E4&!�&)!�@!%!B0&8�4B�@0'0%65$'08E�Y�E5'&0'0%65$'08EC��H%8520%6�'!$1!28�$%1�72$(&0&04%!28�$2!�857742&!1�&4�E$0%&$0%�1!'0A!23�4B�!F(!''!%&�!15($&04%�0%�$''�'!$2%0%6�8!&&0%68C��2̀4A010%6�$�8()44'�!8&$&!�&)$&�08�850&$@'!9�8$B!9�$%1�858&$0%$@'!C R02!(&428�W88!88E!%&

ab
P

age 97

Gordon.Wright�_22
Square


Gordon.Wright_9
FreeText
Improving Education and Skills�

Gordon.Wright�_23
Square


Gordon.Wright_10
FreeText
9�



���������	
������������	�������	���	�������	�	����������	��������	��	������	����������	����� �����	�������!"	
�	�	������#	�����	��	�����$	����� �����	��	������	����������	�����"	%�����$	����������������	����� ��	�����!	����	��������!	������	��������	&���	���	����	��������!	������	'��	()((0()(1"	
���������	��	���	�����	��'�����	����	�������	2���&	3)4#	&�������''������	���!����"	
���������	��	��������$	�������	��	����� ��!	2��	���	���!����	����	��	���&"	
���������	��	�������	�������#	������!�	����� ��!#	�������	2���&	���!��"5����	'�����!	���	2���	����	�����2�$	��	�������	�������	&����	����������	���!����	��	���&���"6������!	��0����!�	�'	����������	�������!	'���������	76�8�9	���	���!������	&���	&���	��0�����������	����������	��������!	��	'���	��������	���!�������	�����!	����	��������!	������"	
&���	��0���������	�'	
���������	@������!	A����	7
@A9	���	B��������	�����	���	��������	��	2�����	���	�'	���	�������C�	���������	��	'����	����	��	���	��������$	��D���������	�'���	
@A	
��"	%��!����	��	2�����	���	'����	������	��'�����	�������	��	E����	���	������	��	�������������"	F�&� ��#	���	�������	��	���������	��	�������	������	��'�������������	������	���	�������	���	���'0	������	�!�����	��������	��������"	
	��!��$	�������'��	���������	���'������	'��	������	�������	&��	'����������	�����!	����	��������!	��������������!	��	!������	�&�������	�'	�� �����$"���	���������	���G	'��	H��������	���	6G����	��	�����2�$	����!����	2$	�� ������!	�����2����� �	������������	2��&���	�����$���	���	�������	��	&���	��	&������!	 ���������	�������������	�������������	'��	��������	������	6&�����	�������"	
������	��	����� �	E����	�G����	��	H��������	���	���!������!	&���	&���	��'�	F��!���	��������$	6�����	����� ��!�������������	�����!	���	��������!	������"	8������	���''	��������#	��������!	%�����������	!����#	���	��������	��	!������	�������	��	����� �	E����	�G����"	6������	'��	��!����	�������!��	�������	���	'������	��	G�����!	��������	��'�	������"	
	���'��������	�������!	�''��	���	���� ����	&���	��	���������!	���	���	�'	
���'�����	B������!����	��	��	�''���� �	���������������	��	�������"���	�������	���������	��	��������	���	�������	�����2��	����������	������	���	�������#	��������!	!� �����!	2�����"	6�����	���������!	��	� ������	���	D�����$	�'	���������������������	�����!	����	��������!	������	&���	�&�'�	������	��	�����	��	��	 �����	'����&��!	����������	������"	5���	D�����$	���!����	�������	��	��� ����	��	�������	��	����������������	��	����������	�������	�����"	
�����!�	��������	������� �#	���!����	�������	���	��������	��	!������	������	����������	�������$"	
������	��	������	������������ �2������	��	�������	�� �	�� ������	&���	&���	�	����!�	�$����	��	�����	��	������	����	�������	���#	'��	�I�����#	���	��G��	��	�������	��'��������	����	����&����	��	���	�������"6������	�� �	����� ��	�����	!�������	��	����!��!	���������	&���	�������!��!	2��!���	�����!	����	��������!	������"
	���'�	������!��	����	'��	������!	���	���	�������C�	��2�����	'��	��������2��	�����������	'��	�������!	���	2���	���������	'��	��2����	�������������	��	P������	Q"	
���� ��	���� �	��	��������$	������	'��	�	()(R	����!�������	�'	�������	�������	���	2����	�'	�	��&	���!��	����	�������	������	2$	()(S	&��	�������	�����!	����	��������!	������"	6����!���!����	�����!	����	��������!	������	���	��������	��	���	��� �����	�''��	�'	'���	������	�����	��&	2���!	����$	'��	���	T��������	��	U���	8���	��������	������	6&�����	�������"

VW
P

age 98

Gordon.Wright�_24
Square


Gordon.Wright_11
FreeText
10�



����������	
��������������	�
	���������	���	����������	 �������� 	 !��	"#$�����%���	
&	 ��'���	('
�'��� )$01���2��
�	��'����3	�	��	4���	5�����'	���	����2��
�	��'����3	�
	�%��5	2����'����'
����
�	&
'	�55���
���	���5�6	����������	������	&
'	�55���
���	���5�	��5	�	4�
�����

�	���'
���	�
	�%
��
���	������	��5	��3��
�
�����	4��������7	8��	��'����3	4����'
%
��	�����5����6	����2��
�6	���'��'	��'��������
�	��	5�����
�	%�9���	��5'�52���
�	��	���'�
�����'	�2��3���	��5	��'���%���	��	���

��7 8��	1���2��
�	��'����3	"@"#�"@"A	��5	�	�2��
'����	����
�	������	��	�����7('
�'���	�
	���	��5	
&	����	B2�'��'	����25��	���	5����
�%���	
&	��'
�
��5	%
5��	
&	�'
����
�	&
'	���	�2��
'����	�2&&����������������	(�����	�'
�'�%%�6	�
	��	��9��	&
'4�'5	&
'�
��2�����
�7$��	���

��	����	����	
&&�'�5	�2��
'�	�
	5����
�	�����5��������
�	�����	����
'�5	�
	����'	�������7$	'����4	
&	C52����
�	 ���'4���	8���	$�	���

�	DC 8$�E�'
����
�	���	��9��	�����6	4���	'��
%%��5���
��	�
	���'������5	�
	F������	��	G��2�'3	"@"H78��	$55���
���	I��'����	P��5�	��5	1���2��
�	8��%	��'2��2'�	�������	'����4�5	�
	�2��
'�	���	���%	�
	��	����	�
	��9�	&
'4�'5$55���
���	I��'����	P��5�	��5	C52����
�	8'��2���	$��7	8�������25��	�������3	�2��5���	��5	'���������	
&	���	C52����
���(�3��
�
�3	���%7
0'���

�����	I���2���	�9����	��'����3	�	��	4���	5�����'	�	��'����3	����	�%��5�	������'��'	1����	�
	���	���

��7	8��	��'����3	4���	���2'�	����	���	���

��	�'�	�2��
'��5�
	5����
�	���'��'�Q	�9����	4�����	��5	
2���5�	���	�����'

%7	��	4���	���'��'�	�
����9	�����	4���	�
�&�5����	4���	���3	�����	���

�7 8��	�����	��	C52����
�	���%	�
����2�	�
	�2��
'�	���

��	
�����'	���'��'	1����	�
2'��36	4���	�	�2%��'	
&	���

��	����������'
�R�6	�����'	��5	0
�5	����2�	
��'	���	����	���5�%��	3��'7	������	2������5	�'���	&2�5���	��'
2��	(�'���'�����	�
	���
�5��������	���&&	&'
%	
��	������%�5�2%	���

�	��5	
��	C�������%�5�2%	���

�	�
	�2��
'�	4���	����	4
'9	2����	���	��5	
&	���&��������	3��'7 0'���I��5�'����	�2��
'�	��'����3	�	��	4���	5�����'	�	��'����3	�
	%�������	��5	�2��
'��&&������	���5�'����6	����25���	�
��'�����6	��'
��	���	���

��7	8��	��'����3	4����'
%
��	���&��%�'
��%���	��5	�
����
'���
�7	��	4���	
2'	���

�	���5�'�	�
�%�'
��	����'	
4�	4��������	��	
'5�'	�
	�2��
'�	�'������
��'�	��5	���'��'�	4���7 $	'����	
&	%�������%�	�'�	��	�����	�
	�2��
'�	��4	��5�S��'�����5	���5�'�	��	���	������7	$	'��2��'�3	2�5���5	���5�'�������5�

9	��	���'�5	4���	���

��	��5	�
��'�
'	������%���������	����	����	5�����'�57	T2'���'	�������%����	�
	���$'4���43'	�3���%	����	����	'
���5	
2�	�
	�
��'����	�
53���'9�7	8��	���

�	1%�'
��%���	8��%	D�18E	����	5����
��5	��55�����'�5	�	��'���	
&	���&�����2���
�U�%�'
��%���	�������������
��	�
	�2��
'�	�&&������	���

�	�%�'
��%���6	4���	�S�������&��5���9	'������57	8��	�%����	4���	��	%���2'�5	52'���	���	��S�B2�'��'7
0'���

8�������	�2��
'�	��'����3	�	��	4���	5�����'	�	��'����3	�
	�2��
'�	����'��36�2%�'��36	��5	5������	�
%�������	�
	%�������6	'���
'�	��5	������'���	���'��'�Q�9����7	8��	��'����3	4���	�'
%
��	�S��������	��'
��	���	���

��7	��	4���	���	������'��
	�B2��	���'��'�	4���	9�3	�9����	�
	������	���	�'���	
&	���'����7 �
'9	�
����2��	�������	���	����
�	�����	5����
��5	��������25���	&
'	I���2����6	I���'��3	��5	F
%%2������
�	��5V����%�����	��5	P2%�'��3	��	���

��	��5	���	��4	!��������'����3	����	��	�
4	��	�����7	(�'���'�����	�'�	�
%%����
��5	�
�'
��5�	�'
&����
���	���'����	�'
2�5	�%�'
����	��������	��5���'����	D4���	���	('�������	���

�	1%�'
��%���	$5����'����'2%�����	��	5�����E6	4����	4��	���
��5	��5	�
�5������5	�3	��'
2�	
&	�4�����	���

��	�
	���2'�	'��������7	��	����	2��5(�'���'�����	�'���	�
	�2��
'�	4
'9	
�	I���'��37
0'���

WX
P

age 99

Gordon.Wright�_25
Square


Gordon.Wright_12
FreeText
11�



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$0!���������!��������������'����1������2����3�����'�����'����1�����4���'����	����������'����5������67�	4''�	4�4%�	������'�����5�	�'��'����3�2�'8�'�����3��34	�����9���2�����	
���������������2��
�	�%%4���1����'�����	
�%�����5��%���1�'����3���
�'�34	�������'���3�'����������'���4		���&4��&4�4'���&�'����'��'�9 (�'���'����
�������4�$��'��2��%�������	����3�'���'�����	���1��
�&4�4'���8�����'�@4�'�%������&��
���'���2��
��
'���2�'8��'��%���'��3������8���
���2�'8�&�'2�'3����'��
����A��B�1��'�9 0'���C@4��1����C34	��������'����1������2����3�����'�����'����1�����%��3��'�4%���&�'%�3��'�	��	���	'���������	
����5��	���������'�34	���
���%��	���&�����'�1������'��'����3�%�����4'�'�������������������	�'��'������'����9����2�����4'�4���'��������'��'������		�����4���'������������	���
'�4�
�	�%%4���1�&�	4���3�	
����9 D'�4%����&�'%�3��'�	��	��5�%������
����
���3���
�'��'�������
��������'���3�3�����	
����9�$�	��&�'��	��	���'��������'�1�2��3�����'�3��������
��3���	
�'�����E4��9�D���	����	�43�3���'��	�����������4���'��&�%������&�	��������'�15���'��3�3�����15�'�&������������'����5�	�%%4���1�&�	4��3��	
����5�4����'����&'���	
����%�������3�4��&�'%��'����9�$���2��1���%�
�������3�������3������	�43���������'�������34	�����������&�'�F��8�3$&��'�G
��3'��5�����4���'����3�%�����'��
��'��34	��������'��'���9�)����4���&��
����1���%�2������8�����	�������'�1�"H"I9 $%��'
P�2���3������'��	
�������'����1������2��������'���3������&&�	�������3��&&�	�����34	����������&'���'4	�4'�����%����	4''������3�&4�4'��3�%��3��&�'��	
�������	��9���2����3�����'����'���&�'%�3��	
����Q��������4������4'��	
�����4��3������3%��������	���'��'�%%����3������'�����3�����
��3������%����������4��2��
����
���	���3������%���������RF!(S�2
�������4'����	�%%4���1�����&����&'�%�	���'�	��9���2�������'�34	���4'�	�'����&����'����2��
����
���	
�������������3�%�8������������������&�'�	�%%4���1�4���2
�'����	���3�%��3��A����9 D
����'�����	��4������('��'�%%��&�'��4����������G�%%4������&�'�F��'�����
��������3'�&��3�'��31�&�'����'������1�G������9G���4��������
�����8������	���������'��'���2��4��3����	�����	
�����3�G�������2������2������8�3����	����3�'��&��
�1�2��
����%�������
����A�������5��9�9��
���4���	�������&�������4��'1�����	�9�D
���'��	��D'���&�'%������G�%%������&�'�C34	��������3��8�����
��	����3�'�3�����4�������	
����('��������(���9 0'���

TU
P

age 100

Gordon.Wright�_26
Square


Gordon.Wright_13
FreeText
12�



�������������	����������������	�� � 
����������������������	�  �!	�"	��� #�$
��� �%�&���&�%	�����&��'����(�)�� ��)�����	���"01 ��%	�%���&���&� ���	��'����%%�	�)�"�����)�)�����%��)� )���% ����(�	2��	����(���	�%�	��&�����'���'��3&����)���4��2)  ����	�)��5	�����	���)���6���)�����)��
����7�	��8��1�5'������� ���)������'��	���	����	������'���&&)�)��� �9��	�)�"�@��&����&A�� ��)���5����'���7�������� �&�&1���	��)�(����3&����)����'�	()����'��������'�� �B3�5��C�'������� �&�&�()�'���	�%�	����6�7)����)��D����	0��8�E1 $	���6���)���&������%%�	����'�� �������%%�	�� ��	��	��&��� �%�F� �'� ��"��"���2)  �G�)� )���()�'��'��F3�!�&� )��	0�% ��1 ��'�� ���	����%%�	��&�()�'�F� �'� ��"��"��%	��)�)���)�� )���()�'�'��F3�!1������7�	������'�� ��'������')���&��(�	&��)���'�)	�)�	��	�A�)�'�H��	��01�I��&)�"�'���7��������	�&��'	��"'!�	���	)���'������%%�	���')��(�	2�()�'��(�������&�&����)��	����(��%%�	�)�"���	�(�	2�)���')���	��1�F)�'��'��F� �'�$���	�������	��� )�)�"��'��"	��������	�)���')���	��G��')���  �(��������% ����	����	���")��  0���	�����	��0��	��)���')��)�%�	������	��1 $	���3����	�"�&���2�P�%���&���%%�	����	���'�� ������������&�	��2�� ��&�	�')%&��� �%������%%�	���)�)���)�� �&)�"�Q�� )�)���)���1 9��&�	�')%�&��� �%������%%�	���)�)����	��%	�����&���	�����'�� ����&��'�����7�	���&�	��2)�"��%��)�)��Q�� )�)���)����)�	�%�	��&�()�')���'������� �%�	��	������)�&)����	�1�5'�����)��� �)&& �� ��&�	�')%�&��� �%�����%	�"	�������&����)�	 ��&�	�')%�&��� �%�����%	�"	�����'�����	0�"��&	�%	�������)����	����(������')���	)��  01��%% )���)�����	���		��� 0��%�����	��8��R�8�E1�5'����'�� �A�%	��������5���B�A5C���%%�	���'��&� )��	0�����'����%	�"	�����1���0���	�'�		�Q�)	��������	�������	�&�)�����A5S��7��%�2������	1
$	���

!	�����&�����(��)�)�����	���'�� �"���	�����������%%�	����'�� � ��&�	�')%1 6�7)�����%%	���&��'����	���"0���&��'��(�	2�% ������&� )��	��'���	���"0�)��D� 0��8��1�5'���	(�)�(0	�% ����	��(������������  0	�  �&��������� �	2��70��'����&�����'�����&��)��0��	���&��'��	���)�)������"���	��	����) �������������T(7���) ���������&1�  ���'�	����)�����	����"�)�"���&��	������	��21 $	���!	�����&� ��� ���&�	�")��� ��%%�	���)�)������%	�����)��� � ��	�)�"������%%�	��U��  ��������')�"���&� ��	�)�"1 9��� ���&�	�")��� ��%%�	���)�)�����	�%	�����)��� � ��	�)�"��	��'�	�&�()&� 0�()�'���'�� ���'	��"'��'����'�� �A�%	�������5���G����(�	2����&���(� ����	1 $	���6���� ��&�()�'� ��	��	�����%���PVW��'�)������&�&��� �%�&�����(�%���PVW���&�����)��� ���	���"01 !���PVW���&������)��� ���	���")���&��� �%�&1�!���PVW�%	��)�)����	��0�)����(����% ������&�	�%�	�����) �7 �1�5')��)��7�)�"����&���)���	��&)�����)����()�'���'�� ����&���  �"��	�"�	&)�"��'�����)7) )�0�����������  �7�	��)���%	��)�)��1�
)�����)����'� &�()�'��'�� ����&���  �"������%���)7 ����  �7�	��)������	�����'������ &7������	�&���	������'�� �1 $	���3���	�&���)��7 �����) )�)������&� )��	���)��	�� ��	�����'�� ���� �����	���%�)����"�G)�� )���()�'��'��F� �'�$���	����������	1 �  �	���%�)����"��%�%) ��'����7��������	�&���)��	�� ��	�����'�� ��� �1 X �� Ỳ
P

age 101

Gordon.Wright�_27
Square


Gordon.Wright_14
FreeText
13�



��������������	�� � 
����������������������	�  �!	�"	��� #�$��%�&���'�����	���"&����� &���(	�"	�������	������&��% ��������&�&�����	� ��	�&�")��'	������	���"&����� &���!	�"	�����0���%����(	�'���'���	1�%&�����((	��� 2�(	&�	������%�&��&�������0��3� �0�$���	�����%4��0����'������	�0��5�6) $	���

78
P

age 102

Gordon.Wright�_28
Square


Gordon.Wright_15
FreeText
14�



���������	�
����	���������� �!"#!$%&'!
)0
12134
&%%!$5&$#!
3$
%6!
�2134
7!0!""&4
8$3% 9@ABBC DEAF9C�����F �!"#!$%&'!
)0
12134
&%%!$5&$#!
3$
G1!#3&4
G#6))4G HEABBC HDAI9C��8B@9& �!"#!$%&'!
)0
12134
&%%!$5&$#!
3$
1"3P&"Q
G#6))4G E ABBC E AFDC��8B@9R �!"#!$%&'!
)0
12134
&%%!$5&$#!
3$
G!#)$5&"Q
G#6))4G HEABBC HHAI�C
STUVWXY àbcd̀
f̀g
h Y àbcd̀ iadp̀q rsqcat ùdgvdwaxs̀

y�
P

age 103

Gordon.Wright�_29
Square


Gordon.Wright_16
FreeText
15�



�����������	
�
���������������	���� !�""# $%&'()012�4567890(1�@�AB0CCDEFGFHFIPF QRSTF UVWFPSRXF�̀FaPHRbSRcI ERad�eFXFT fFHXRPF gIhFHFISEiSRIp eiaS�qbriSF sHFXRcta�ERadfPcHF utHHFIS�EfPcHF

vw
P

age 104

Gordon.Wright�_30
Stamp


Gordon.Wright�_31
Square


Gordon.Wright_17
FreeText
16�



���������������	

��	�������	����	� !�#$%&�&'�($)0!�!1'%'2)1�3!(4'(2$%1!�&'�1(!$&!�#!$5&6�$%7�!235'82!%&�'33'(&9%)&)!0�&'�)23('@!�&6!�!1'%'2)1�#!55AB!)%C�'4�D#$%0!$E0�1)&)F!%0G� !�#$%&�&'�5!@!(�$55�)%@!0&2!%&�$%7�49%7)%C�'33'(&9%)&)!0�)%�(!$5)0)%C�&6)0�'BH!1&)@!�)%1597)%C�IP�Q'@!(%2!%&�R)&8�S!$5T�U!@!55)%C�93�$%7�D6$(!7�V('03!()&8�W9%7T� !506Q'@!(%2!%&�X($%04'(2)%C�X'#%0T�Y1'%'28�$%7�R(!$&)@!� $5!0�$%7�'&6!(�2$H'(�49%7!(0G� !�#$%&�&'�!%09(!�'9(�5'1$5�!1'%'2)!0�$(!�0933'(&!7�&'�$16)!@!�(!0)5)!%1!�)%�&6!�4$1!�'4�49&9(!�C5'B$5T�%$&)'%$5T�$%7�(!C)'%$5�16$55!%C!0T�)%�3$(&)195$(�&6!�1)&8�1!%&(!�$%7�'9(02$55�)%7!3!%7!%&�B90)%!00!0�$%7�'(C$%)0$&)'%0�&6$&�$(!�&6!�4$B()1�'4�'9(�1'229%)&)!0�5$(C!�$%7�02$55G� !�#$%&�&'�3('@)7!�$%�!%$B5)%C�$33('$16�&'�0933'(&�)%7)@)79$50T�B90)%!00!0�$%7�1'229%)&)!0�&6('9C6�'9(�!235'82!%&�$%7�B90)%!00�0933'(&T�(!C!%!($&)'%�$1&)@)&)!0T�195&9($5$00!&0T�&($%03'(&�1'%%!1&)@)&8T�35$%%)%C�$%7�'&6!(�0933'(&�$%7�(!C95$&'(8�4($2!#'(̀0�)%�7!5)@!()%C�&6!0!�3($1&)1$5�2!$09(!0G� !�#$%&�&'�!%09(!�D#$%0!$�)0�$�35$1!�16$($1&!()0!7�B8�090&$)%$B5!�1'229%)&)!0�#)&6�0944)1)!%&�C''7�a9$5)&8�6'90)%C�$%7�35$1!0�4'(�#'(̀�$%7�5!)09(!G� !�#$%&�&'�1'%&)%9!�&'�4'(C!�0&('%CT�6$(7A#'(̀)%C�%!&#'(̀0�#)&6�'9(�!b&!(%$5�3$(&%!(0�#6'�$(!�1'A7!5)@!()%C�#)&6�&6!�R'9%1)5G� !�#$%&�&'�&$̀!�$7@$%&$C!�'4�9%&$33!7�C('#&6�3'&!%&)$5�&'�C!%!($&!�090&$)%$B5!�!%!(C8T�7!5)@!(�'%�%!&�F!('�1'22)&2!%&0T�3('&!1&�&6!�!%@)('%2!%&�$%7�B''0&�&6!�!1'%'28Gc��

	��	�V'0&AR'@)7�0933'(&�$%7�(!1'@!(8G��d�7)C)&$5�$%7�1'%%!1&!7�49&9(!�$%7�%!#�2'7!50�'4�#'(̀)%CG��e%C')%C�3('791&)@)&8�C$3�#)&6�(!0&�'4�IP�A�D#$%0!$E0�3('791&)@)&8�fQgd�3!(�6'9(�#'(̀!7h�0&''7�$&�ipGqr�'4�&6!�IP�$@!($C!�)%�ststG�D#$%0!$�6$0�$�6!$5&68�5!@!5�'4�%!#�B90)%!00�4'(2$&)'%0�B9&�&6!�(!5$&)@!�0)F!�'4�&6!�B90)%!00�B$0!�fpti�B90)%!00!0�3!(�utTttt�3'395$&)'%h�)0�B!5'#� $5!0�fpvqh�$%7�IP�fwuih$@!($C!0G�e%!�$%7�4)@!�8!$(�09(@)@$5�($&!0�4'(�!%&!(3()0!0�6$@!�)23('@!7�$%7�)%�stst�#!(!�)%�5)%!�#)&6�&6!�!a9)@$5!%&�($&!0�4'(� $5!0�$%7�IPT�B9&�&6!�)%1(!$0)%C�1'0&0�'4�C''70$%7�0!(@)1!0T�3$(&)195$(58�!%!(C8�1'0&0T�$%7�()0)%C�)%&!(!0&�($&!0�$(!�1(!$&)%C�@!(8�16$55!%C)%C�&($7)%C�1'%7)&)'%0�4'(�5'1$5�B90)%!00!0G��d�%!#�49&9(!�4'(�B'&6�&6!�R)&8�R!%&(!�$%7�02$55!(�7)0&()1&�$%7�5'1$5�1!%&(!0�$%7�$7$3&)%C�&'�%!#�#$80�'4�#'(̀)%C�)%1597)%C�&($%03'(&�2!&6'70�$%7�1'%%!1&)@)&8�$%7�3'0)&)@!)23$1&�'%�35$1!0G�G�e%C')%C�)009!�'4�9%!235'82!%&�$%7�)%$1&)@)&8�$%7�!%09()%C�$�093358�'4�C!%9)%!�3$&6#$80�$%7�'33'(&9%)&)!0G�Y1'%'2)1�$1&)@)&8�$%7�!235'82!%&�($&!0�)%�D#$%0!$�$(!�5'#!(&6$%� $5!0�$@!($C!0�$%7�49(&6!(�B!5'#�!a9)@$5!%&�IP�($&!0G�X6!�x'90!6'57�y%1'2!�Q$3�A�$5&6'9C6�Q('00�S)03'0$B5!�x'90!6'57�y%1'2!�('0!�)%�D#$%0!$�B8�iGpr�B!&#!!%�stu��$%7�stuqT�)&�1'%&)%9!7�&'�5$C�B!6)%7� $5!0�$%7�&6!�IP#6!(!�()0!0�#!(!�usGvr�$%7�upGir�(!03!1&)@!58�'@!(�&6!�0$2!�3!()'7G�y%�stuq�Q('00�S)03'0$B5!�x'90!6'57�y%1'2!�)%�D#$%0!$�#$0�wpGqr�'4�&6!�IP�$@!($C!G�� $C!�($&!�C$3�A�e@!(�&6!�8!$(�&'�d3()5�stsuT�$%%9$5�2!7)$%�4955A&)2!�!$(%)%C0�)%�D#$%0!$�f#'(̀35$1!�B$0!7h�('0!�B8�pGsrT�#6)16�#$0�C(!$&!(�&6$%�&6!� $5!0�f�uGsrh�$%7�IPfAtG�rh�$@!($C!0G�R'%0!a9!%&58T�$%%9$5�2!7)$%�4955�&)2!�#$C!�($&!0�)%�D#$%0!$�0&''7�$&�quG�r�'4�&6!�IP�$@!($C!�)%�d3()5�stsuG�R'%&()B9&!�&'�$�(!791&)'%�)%�7!3()@$&)'%T�&6('9C6�&6!�1(!$&)'%�'4�090&$)%$B5!�#!55�3$)7�!235'82!%&G�X6!(!�$(!�3'1̀!&0�'4�7!3()@$&)'%�$1('00�&6!�1'9%&8T�#)&6�$�%92B!(�'4�$(!$0$2'%C�&6!�6)C6!0&�5!@!50�'4�7!3()@$&)'%�)%� $5!0G�y%�&6!�stuq� !506�y%7!b�'4��95&)35!�S!3()@$&)'%�f y�ShT�D#$%0!$�6$7�$%�$B'@!�$@!($C!�3('3'(&)'%�'4�)&0�U'#!(�D93!(�e9&39&d(!$0�fUDed0h�4!$&9()%C�)%�&6!�2'0&�7!3()@!7�utr�)%� $5!0T�#)&6�uw�fuuGprh�'4�)&0�u�i�UDed0�)%�&6!�uqu�futrh�2'0&�7!3()@!7G�R6$%C!�&6!�19((!%&�B90)%!00�0!1&'($5�2)b�&'#$(70�6)C6!(�0̀)55!7T�6)C6!(�3$)7�!235'82!%&G�iwGvr�'4�!235'82!%&�)0�19((!%&58�0!(@)1!�0!1&'(�B$0!7T�$%7�&6!(!�)0�$%�9%7!(A(!3(!0!%&$&)'%�'4�B90)%!00!0�)%�3('4!00)'%$5T�01)!%&)4)1�$%7�&!16%)1$5�0!1&'(0�#6)16�&!%7�&'�6$@!�B!&&!(�0̀)55!7�$%7�6)C6!(�3$)7�('5!0G�D#$%0!$�6$0�$�6)C6!(�3('3'(&)'%�'4�(!&$)5�B90)%!00!0�&6$%�&6!� !506�$%7�IP�$@!($C!���&6!�35$%%!7�(!C!%!($&)'%�016!2!0�#)55�6!53�7)@!(0)48�&6!�1)&8�$%7�7)0&()1&�1!%&(!0G���!0)7!%&�0̀)550�A�1'%&)%9!�&'�930̀)55�3!'35!�&'�&$̀!�$7@$%&$C!�'4�'33'(&9%)&)!0�)%�%!#�$%7�!2!(C)%C�)%790&()!0G�d77(!00�0̀)550�C$30�)%�0!1&'(0�0916�$0�1$(!T�6'03)&$5)&8�$%7�1'%0&(91&)'%G��!1'C%)0)%C�$%7�#'(̀)%C�#)&6�7!!3�0!$&!7�$%&)A0'1)$5�B!6$@)'9(T�1()2!�$%7�$00'1)$&!7�)009!0�$%7�3('@)7)%C�(!$5�$5&!(%$&)@!0�$%7�0933'(&G�Y%$B5)%C�1(!$&)'%�'4�090&$)%$B5!�!%!(C8�0'9(1!0G��x!53�(!791!�1'22!(1)$5�3('3!(&8�@)$B)5)&8�C$3�#)&6�3('@)0)'%�'4�a9$5)&8�45!b)B5!�$7$3&$B5!�'44)1!�03$1!�)%�(!03'%0!�&'�)%1(!$0)%C�5!@!50�'4�)%#$(7�)%@!0&2!%&�)%&!(!0&�$%7�5'1$5)%7!3!%7!%&�B90)%!00�C('#&6�)%�B'&6�&'#%�1!%&(!0�$%7�2'7!(%�)%790&()$5�0!&&)%C0�y%1(!$0!�&6!�093358�'4�$44'(7$B5!�6'90)%C�B8�B9)57)%C�$%7�$1a9)()%C�%!#�6'2!0�$%7�5''̀)%C�4'(�)%%'@$&)@!�0'59&)'%0�&'�1'%@!(&�!b)0&)%C�B9)57)%C0�)%&'�(!0)7!%&)$5�$11'22'7$&)'%G�W'55'#)%C�1'235!&)'%�'4�&6!� x�DT�1'%&)%9!�&'�)%@!0&�&'�)23('@!�&6!�!%!(C8�!44)1)!%18�'4�!b)0&)%C�6'2!0�$%7�(!791!�&6!�)23$1&�'4�49!5�3'@!(&8�4'(�(!0)7!%&0GS)(!1&'(0�d00!002!%& ��
P

age 105

Gordon.Wright�_32
Square


Gordon.Wright_18
FreeText
Transforming our Economy & Infrastructure�

Gordon.Wright�_33
Square


Gordon.Wright_19
FreeText
17�



���������	
������������	��	�����������	��	�������	����	 �!!"#����	�#$����%�	��	�%�� ��!����!&	������%�'	���	%���	��$����&	��	���	�����	��%�!%�(	������)�	��	#�	�����(�(	��	#����	��	������'	0��((�����1	����	�����	��%�	�!���(&	#���	����!���(1	(������������	����	���	2�)���!	��	)��!�����	���	����)����	�������%�!&1	���!)(���	�����1	������	��(	#)(����'	3� �%��1	����	��������	�����(�(	��	
�#��1	��(	���	��������	���%�(�(	���!���	���	�������	���!!������	��%��������	���	(�!�%��&'���	��	�����������	��(�������	���	�)�����!&	�!!	��	������1	 ����	���!����	���	��������	��	�����������	������	�����	�����	����)��('	4�	������)!��	����	��	���	�!������	���%��������������1	 ����	�%��	567	��	�!!	�!������	���!��������	���	(��������(	 �����	�����(	�������!��'	����	�����������	��	�� 	����������!&	���	8)����!�	 ���	#�������9�(	��	����!!"@�!��	!�%�!'	A��9���	����(1	��	���)!(	#�	���������(	����	���	������)�����	������	�������	�	���!!������	��%��������	��(	��������	�	���9	���	���	(�!�%��&	��(	����	��	��$��������!	���$����1	 ���	����������!&	����	���!�����	������)���	��	������	���	�����	��	�������!�1	�)��!&	�����	��(	!�#�)�	�%��!�#�!��&'	
�	�	���)!�1	����	��$��	������������	��(��)����	(�%�!�������	��)!(	#�	(�!�&�(	� ���	��	�����	�B�����!	�������	��(	����!��������1	#)�	����������	 �!!	#�	(��!�&�(	 ����%��	�����#!�'

CD
P

age 106

Gordon.Wright�_34
Square


Gordon.Wright_20
FreeText
18�



����������	
��������������	�
	���������	���	����������	 �������� 	 !��	"#$�����%���	
&	 ��'���	('
�'��� )$0123456728	7@2	AB7478C	DC	5AB@2E4F	6@4GE4F	7HH72I@4EIEA5	34G	B74IE4@E4F	I7	B7PP3D723IAQEIR	7@2	P7B3P	2AFA4A23IE74	H32I4A25	34G	4AIQ72S5	I7	E8HPA8A4I	IRA	AB7478EB2AFA4A23IE74	HP34T	UA	QEPP	83VE8E5A	IRA	DA4AWI5	IR27@FR	IRA	B2A3IE74	76	A8HP7C8A4I	34GI23E4E4F	7HH72I@4EIEA5	672	IRA	P74FXIA28	@4A8HP7CAG	34G	AB7478EB3PPC	E43BIEYA	YE3B788@4EIC	DA4AWI	BP3@5A5	E4	B74I23BI5T	1RA2A	QEPP	3P57	DA	3	67B@5	74	X ` 	b��c	�%���%������
�	
&	�
d��	����	�����	)���
���	e�
�
%��	!�����'f	(���	���g�����	��c	���
�����c	g
'h	���h����	��c	&d�c���	��'��%�	�d��	��	ip	���'�c('
���'��f	qd�c	��c	�����	0
��'�%���	�
d'���r )e!(	c�����'f	�
����d���r 0'���s
����d���	�d��
'�	�
	�d������	t�
��	���'�	d�	��c	�u������v	��'
d��	���	�d�������g�����	�'
����
� ('
����
�	��	�����w	�u���c�c	g���	ip	���'�c	('
���'��f	qd�c�d��
'�	��c	
��
���r 0'���(d����	x�����	y��%�	���d'���	�d��������	���	'd�	�&&�������f	�f	�c��'���	�
	���'�������	���������
�	��	��	��	���	�
��������f	��c	����'���	����
'	
'	���	�������c	��u�����
'r  ��
���	����h�	
&	�������c	�'�%����w	c'���'�w	��������	��c
��'��
'�	�
	���d'�	�
%�������	g���	'��d�'�%����r	)�����������
�	��h��	g��'�	�
���
%��������	�c����&��cr	 ��
����'
�'�%%�	
&	'��h	'���c	��������
��	
&	&

c	�'�%����	�
	%
���
'�
%�������	g���	&

c	�f�����	��c	&

c	����c�'c�	'��d�'�%����r $%��'x���	�'����	��
d���c�	
&	��g	�
��	&
'	���	��
���	
&	�g�����w	��%���	�
	�'
��c�����	�d����f	��c	���d'�	�%��
f%���r )����	
&	ip	���'�c	('
���'��f	qd�c	�d��
'�	%���d'��	��c�'���	�d��
'�	�
����d�	�
	��	�'
��c�cw	��	��'���d��'	0'
g��0'����r 0'���!�����'	��	������	�'
�'�%%�	����	f��'w	&
'	���	��u�	&���	f��'�w	g����	�u���c���c	�'
g�	��	�d��	g���	���	'�����'���
�	
&	���	���f	��c	�'
g���	�����
'	��
�
%f y��	"�"�	�����	����
�	��	�
g	��%
��	�
%�����r	 ��
��'	�
!���%��'	��g	���

h�	��	���	s��f�	c'���	%d��	���c�c	&

�&���	�
���	���f	����'�r	y��	&�'�g
'h�	c�����f	'��d'��c	�
	��	x�����0'
d�c	��c	�	�����'	��c	�����'	s�'���%��	(�'�c�	g��	�����c�c�f	���'
u�%����f	#�w���	��
���r	s�'���%��	��	�g�����	g��	���
%�'h�c	g���	��	�
%%d���f	��'�c��	��c	���	'��d'�	
&	����'&'
�������'���cr	y��	���%	��	�
g	�d�f	g
'h���	
�	���	���d��	s'
��
&�������	���	&
'	��	!���c��	g��h��c	��c	c����
����	���	"�"�������	�'
�'�%%�r 0'���
!�����'	�	'����	
&	��g	��c	�u������	�%%�'����	���'����
��w	�d%%�'	�
���'��	��c	���g	�����	
&	$'���	��
g��	������d����c	��	�	��'��'	���'	�'
g���	�������'
�'�%%�	t����dc���	���	���&	�'
�	���	�����vw	g����	�
%%����c	g����
%%d���f	�d��
'�	&
'	(�����d%	�d�����	������r y��	"�"�	�����	����
�	��	�
g	��%
��	�
%�����r	 ��
��'	�
!���%��'	��g	���

h�	��	���	s��f�	c'���	%d��	���c�c	&

�&���	�
���	���f	����'�r	y��	&�'�g
'h�	c�����f	'��d'��c	�
	��	x�����0'
d�c	��c	�	�����'	��c	�����'	s�'���%��	(�'�c�	g��	�����c�c�f	���'
u�%����f	#�w���	��
���r	s�'���%��	��	�g�����	g��	���
%�'h�c	g���	��	�
%%d���f	��'�c��	��c	���	'��d'�	
&	����'&'
�������'���cr	y��	���%	��	�
g	�d�f	g
'h���	
�	���	���d��	s'
��
&�������	���	&
'	��	!���c�	g��h��c	��c	c����
����	���	"�"�������	�'
�'�%%�r

0'���
)�����	���	�����	����
���	$�'	��
g	��	�g�����w	�'������	����	
&	��
d���c�	
&�����
'�	�
	���	s��f	&
'	����	���d��	�����	��c	'����g	�
g	���	c�����'f	���	�����	g������	���	��'
	��'�
�	��'����r (�������	�
g	g���	d�c�'g�f	g���	h�f	��'���'�	&
'	���	"�"������	$�'	��
g	g����	����	f��'	g���	����dc�	���	�����	����
���$'%�c	q
'���	!�fr ��d����d'�	�	%��
'	��g	������	&
'	���	!������%�	d���	��	���	�d�c'���	��
�����s���'�w	���d'���	���	d��	
&	����	d���	&
'	���	&d�d'�r ��'h�����	���	�
%%����c	g���	c���d���
��	���c	g����'
��������	�������r 0'��� ��

P
age 107

Gordon.Wright�_35
Square


Gordon.Wright_21
FreeText
19�



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$01�����2�����3�'4�3��
���'���'������2��5�����'������5�'���������1'�������6��3�'4����2���'���
���7������8��%�'�������5�&2�2'��&��'�	��&�	2��2'�����5�����2'���������%��55�5��	'�����
��1��9�1���'����5�!���'�	����5���	���	���'��@ 1��'5�����'���������5���5�����������3�'4�A��2�'9�B"C@�(�'���'���5����4�
��5�'��������5���5�'��59����%����&�'3�'5@ 0'���DEFGHIPEQ�STU�VWSX�FGY�VP̀ GSXaH�WGIEFHSÈVS̀EU�SP�H̀bbPES�F�HSEPGc�FGY�EUHWdWUGS�UVPGPQXeX�IPV̀HHWGc�PG�fUX�YUgUdPbQUGSH�FGY�UGTFGVWGc�fUX�FHHUSH h ���'4����3��
��2'�'����������'���'�8��'��'������pq���������'�����'��������5�prst%���������'�����	���'���'�
���3��
�u'���������
�����2'���3���'�����	���'���'8�3��
�����������&�	2�����1��'���9�(
����"8��
��1���	�1���'���������5����v
�%�������@ ('��'����������2%��'��&��
����q��'� �	���3��
�u'���������
��2��'���2� �	�����	�������&2�5���������������9@ 0'���('��'�����
��(���	��v
���'����5�$���'��w����5������%����������	2'���2'�
����'�	�2��5�����&�'�&2�2'������'���������5����4������������������2����������	2'���
�&2�2'���&��
��x�9��2%��2��5���@ ��'4��	�����2�������(���	����5�$���'��w���@ 0'�����'4�3��
���'���'�����5�������	�%%�'	����%���3
����2���@ 6�3�y���3
�������	���	���'�	������2�����u���
�'�5�('����'��9�2�5@ 0'���!���������5��'�%����%�'��	��9�������8���	�25������3�
�����8�'�����8��&&�	�����	���5�&��5���5�����'����&�	�������@ )�����'�������'��'�%%��	�����2������2��������������������&2�5��������'�8������'��	2��'�v'���&�'%����v�3����'������5������2���'�����
��������'�������2��%�7�5�2���'�����'�������'� �	��&�������3��
��
��1�2�	��B���7�����������	9�&'�%�3�'4@ 0'���('��'����3�'4�����
����3�1��������2�'��0�'5�����'� �	�@ (1�$���'��%�����������'��'����5�3��
���3�9���������5	���'�	��'�����
���'�3�@�y����	���'�	�����	�%%��	��%�5�9��'�2� �	�������'��%�����&�&2�5���������������9 0'���('��'����3�'4�����
����3�	��9�	���'��1�%%2���9�w2���'� �	���'���5��������3
�%������
��1���'������'�'9@ 1���'�	�����2�5�������'�3��
�5�%��������3�'4����������@���'4���'��&����'�����qs�
��&�A��2�'9�&�'�q"�3��4��3
�	
�3����%�4���
��2��5����3���'���
�@�v
��&2'���2'����	4����&�'��
���'� �	����������'����5�'�5�52�����y�����'9��&��2'���2'�������������5%�����'�����@����'��'�����4��������3�	���'�	��'�
�3���'��
��3���������&&�	���
���'� �	����%�����@�('� �	��	�%��������5����q��
�&�y�9�"t"s@ 0'���1�%�������
���
���5�5�%���������&�v9�!�3���������5��
����5�%2�������'�9�	�'���'4@�2'��9��������2�5�'��4����9����%���!�7��������'���&��
��'�������%���@�!�%���������&�y�1(�3����&�'%���'���&��
��'���'��	���'��%���@ 0'���('��'�����
���2��5��&�rq�r"�v
�������3�98����	'�������������������
2��3
�	
�3������
�%�������3��2�����������5�2�������7�
2�5'�5���3� ���@ �	
�%��%������&�'3�'5�3��
�����	�����5��'�	��	���	�%����������y�'	
�"t"C@ 0'���1�����2������'��'����5������%������5�������%�����
'�2�
��
���49�������'4���'�	�������������9�w���@ (�������������	��������3�����@�(2���	���������	������	��3�����	�%�����������
����5��&�A��2�'9@��	
�%��5��������������'��'������@ 0'���('��'����
������5��	2�������&�'��
��1��9@ !2�����������&��'����2���������������'���'��
��w�������������'�%�'4���5@ 0'�����'4���������'���'�
���3��
�(��5�'9��!�������'98��2���'���
�����������&�����33
��49�5�������'9����'�	�����������5�'�@ ('� �	��	�%�����@ ��2�('��'�����
��5������%������5�'����������&��
��)���'�v�3��	�''�5�'8���	�25������3��������@ (�������q��������������	�%�����@�v3��&2'�
�'�������������5�����2�5�'�����������u��&2�5���3�'��3�����������9��'��'�%%���&3�'4@ 0'���!�����'���3��'�%���5���%�'���%�������5�5������%����8����3���������3����
�����'�2�5��3��������9@ ��'4���'��'�������3���@ 0'��� ��
P

age 108

Gordon.Wright�_36
Square


Gordon.Wright_22
FreeText
20�



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$01�%%�������%�'�������2���	��������3 ('��'����	�����2����4��
�)
��������2���	��������3���������4�'5'���'6����	��7�	���'������������6��8���'�����
����������&�'&2�2'��%�����%�����&��2���	��������3 0'���('��'����6��	2�������&�'��
����4�����'�	������92�'�2%@���%��������&&�'����%%�'������8��'���	��&�'�������'����6���4�6�'��62	��������'���2'	�3 !��	2�������	�����2��������A'���������
 $%��'��'��������'��'����6��	2�������'���'6��������4�&�''7���'��	�����5����������4��
��
���2�
�������&�B�����63 !��	2�������2�6�'4�73 $%��'1�%%�������'��'����6��	2�������4��
���'���'��'���'6�����
��C���'������������'���	���	��D������3 B8���������&��
����'��%�������#E���F�'	
���'��6���6������6���4������'����3��26������������6�&�''�6�����������%�'����%����4�'5��
'�2�
�6������6���������&�'���	������'���������'��	
4��
��4������A����'���73�F�������4��
������'����6�'���&����
�'������������6�&&�'�6����!�	�����
����4�7��'3 0'���1�%%������������%��������2'���4�����6���������3 A���������&2�6�����2���'������G'���&�'%����G�4��@�B	���%�	)�	���'7�H2�6@�AI��
�'�6�('����'��7�H2�6���6�AI�P���������A�H2�6����6�����'����	�2��7�4�6������'��������3 0'���!�����'�����
��'�&2'���
%������6�2��'�6���&�'�%���������4�'����	5� ('��	����'2	�����6������2�6�'4�73�1���'�	��'�
���������6���4�'	
���	���4
�	
��'��6�&&�'����&'�%�������E���&2'�
�'�6�%���������2'��7���'����4�'�92�'�63�H�	����������4�'5��2�6�'4�7�4��
��
�������6�'���	�������&�G�4��1���'��!���'�	��Q�2������&&�	��&'�%���	5�"������G�4�
������6��
��'�%������&���'�����4��
����
��%%�6�����1'�&����'�����'��3�!�	������&�'��
��&2�2'���&��
��P�%�(2��'�92�'�63 0'���('���6��%�'�����'�7��&&�	�����
�%�����6�%�'���&&�'6�����
�%��@��������6��%�'�������%���������	����
�2����3 $�F�'��Q�%����26����'����4����2�6�'4�7����	�� 2�	�����4��
4�6�'�Q)$��26����'����4@�4
�	
�4�����6����&7�&2�6���������������5����������		�2�����	'����6��'���2'�����Q)$@��06�	�'�������������'����3��26����'�62	������'�92�'�6�4
�	
�4����%��	������2%��'��&�2�����������6�����'�63�C�6�	������8���6��2'���&�RST3S%����'�U�7��'��2�����"V"WX"Y�&�'���5���&�'4�'6��
����'����7�
����������	�26�6�����
��6'�&��Q)$�1�������'��'�%%�3�G
���4������	�26���
���	92���������&��'���'�������6���6����6�������&�'�	�2�	�����6��&&�'6�����
�2����3�C��������	�26���&2�6����&�'�&���������7�������%���������6����&7��
��%����������Q)$��4��6�������&�'�&2�2'��6������%����3�!�����'7�4��������6�6��
'�2�
���'���'�
������6��8��'����	���2����	7��6��	�@4
�	
�4������	'�����	���	��7���6���	������
���'��'�%%�30���4�7�'���'����������'�2�
�����Q�2�����H2�2'��('��'�%���'6X����'����0'�2��&�'������	
�%���������&�'4�'6������'��	�������6�6�����'73Q$(��1��7�!����H2�6�����4�'6�6�̀R#VV5a�&�'��'��6����	
�%����	���'��2������	�����&�'���4�������	
�����73�
$%��'

bc
P

age 109

Gordon.Wright�_37
Square


Gordon.Wright_23
FreeText
21�



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$0(1���	�2����
�3��%�����1'�����'������'����4��'���'�������4�2�%������51�������		1��������'����&��&�'�����������4�'��1���'�4�'���'���'���	1��46 3
��('��������	��'�2�1�����3��%�
��4���25�������	��������������7��
�'��1�������8�'�����4������91�'������4�	�%�����������1�
�1���������4�'4����4�	���'�	�����1��8���@������&�'	�%���7
�'����	����'A6�B����	��������	@����C41�����D���4����4�%�	E���'�41	����
�7���'����&&�'���1'	����������%��	��46�$���'��1��'�4�'����	�4������'�������������4��A��
��3'�4��������4�'4��3��%��4�����'�	@6�B&��1&&�	�������&�'%�������
�������������������1�4�'��@�����4����'��'�������&�'	�%�����	�������@��6 $%��'
D�%�������
������
�2�1�����F1����A�����4�'4�C�2F�E�G���4����������������2F��"6 H�7��2F��"I"#�7������	�%��������1��'A�'�91�'�%����&'�%�$�'��"I"P���4����'�41	�����7�'�91�'�%�������	�14����
�%���'��4A&�'������������
����&���'�	���'������
'�1�
�1����4�����	�1�	��
�1��������'��	
��$(�QR��A��
����4��&�&����	����A��'�"I"ST#I6�$U$���&�7�'��
���������'�	1'�4���4�7�����������7��
%���1'�%������4�4�������������'�A����
7�A�6�B���������%���4�
������1���A�VWQ6X%����'�91�'�4����%�����
������4�'4���	�14����
���$(�QR�%��������6�!1���������������&����	����4�	������&1�4�����'��'�������
���$(�QR���'����	���������%���1�������
�'����&1'�
�'�	��������'��������1���'���
����'��'�%%�6

$%��'
D�����1��������
����Y���
�����&��
��5�'��2�%����1��48�7
�����%�����������'��'�������&1'�
�'�'��'�&��������&�	�1�	���
�%��6 #��	
�%��������'��1����������&�4������%������������'�����1��4�����'��	���4���������%���D'��7����CS�1����E8�2����!A�A��C""E8�'��4���CG#E8�(����������'%�������'�	̀4�&�'�D'��7�����7�������$�����'����6�2����!A�A����4��'��4�������	�����4����'�	���������������'%������T�$�����'����������������	
�%�����	�%%��	�����"PT"R6�!�	����������4�����'A���%��������1� �	����2)$��14����'����76��'�@���A�)��4�CGRS�a����E���(����������'%��������1�%����46�a!��('�������1�%����46�bY��'����	���1�������C�!(E�4���������	
�%�6�(�������������	��������4��$�������	�������1�%����46U��1���������'�����Y�'	����������	�''��4��1����	����������T�$���'%��������'����4�����4����&A�	����'�41	�����6�0���7�A�'���'����2c(��5�'	
�"P65��&�'4�������$d��C(�'���'�
����''����%���E�e�3��4�'4�	1%�������4�!������%����$�'��%����	1''����A�������'���'�4��A���������4��Y��'����	���1���������%����&�'����1���&���4�'�4�	���A�f���"P6

$%��'
ghipiqr�tuv�ruwtuxr�t�vy�rh�r�tuv����qtyut��r��ixt��rxiuip��qwhi��w�ru��hyu��t�hi���q�i�yx���htpr�ih� � �('��'�����
��)����	�%�����7��������	���!������%����(��������'���4�����1����4���������������4����	��%�@����&'�%�7�'@�&�'��1�4����4�	����������4������%����'������� !�����'A�$�'��%�������'���4��A�D�1�	�����4�����
�0���'�%�����4�7�'@�1�4�'7�A6�c�'���@�A�����������	����&�'�D��4�4�����������
���	�%%��	�4��������4���'� �	��7�'@����&�'%1�����@�A1�4�'�����������4��	�6 0'���$�'�������7��7��������A���'����A6 )���'������3D���'��4���7�A�&�'7�'4�7��
�	��	���'�������&'���1'	������%�'@�������&��������4�����6�)�	�%%��4�������&'�%�3D�7�'���1�����D�������5�%��'�������&�'%�%�'@�����6 0'��� ��

P
age 110

Gordon.Wright�_38
Square


Gordon.Wright_24
FreeText
22�



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$01��'�%�2�����'��	��3�&�	4��������%�������������5�����2�3�6��
����
��&4�2������������ 7���'�'���'4	�4'���6��
����
��(��������$����	���������'��	����2�
��8��4'���9���'��%������'��	���'���	
�24��2�&�'�%���%������������"@"#A"B���2�"BA"C�'����	�����DE�1
���'���'4	�4'���6�����%�'����	�����&&�	���	D���2���'��	��2�����'D'�������	� 0'���F�%%��	����'����6��&��
��2������2���'G������D�����	DE F�����4�2�2��	4������6��
�F�������%�%��'�����
�������
������	D&�'�2������2���'G�����'�������E�H�'%���'���'���������'���'�2�&�'�'����������E 0'���('��'����1$8IC�2��	4�������6��
�����
�0���'�%�������&��2������4������
���4���'������'��'�����2������%���E F���4��������'���������'���2�2������&�'%��0�2'�&������&�&����2�	4%���E�F�����4������������6��
��03���	�42�����
'�4�
��P0$3��2��6�������&�������'������Q��	��2���2��&�"@"#A��'�D�"@"BE 0'���RSTUVWXUSW�̀S�abc�daXXbS̀ẀUV�Wa�ecaT̀fU�gaaf�daXXbS̀Wh�̀SicpVWcbdWbcU q �('�%�����4����������4����&����'������	
���&�'���	������'���	�4��E 7�������6��
�s4���'�����4����2�H$�����2��	4���&4�4'����������&�'�'�6�
3��4�����������D���2��	
�24������&�%��	
���	��&�'%�2�&�'s��4�'D�"@"BE�P�����&�'�7D�D22�8�6D223�F��2�06���%���2)���
�������'���2�����
����'��23�6
�	
�6�����������������%����
'�4�
�H$�E�F���'�	��&�'�	
�������'��%��%�'���%�������(�������6�'2�2���2��4'��D��4�2�'��G����&����4%��'��&�G�D�������4� �	�����'����6����	����E $%��'F�����4�����������������'G����2����D��'���E 1'��	
��#��6�'2�23��'��	
��B��4��������2�'�6��
��4�%������2�����&�s��4�'D�"BE�('��'�%%�����	4''����D�������2�����'�2�����%�����&4��E 0'���('��'����'�����4���&�&'����4���	����H�E 1�'����	�%��������&�'��
���&����	����D��'�'�%����E��4���'������&'���'4	�4'��6�'G���'��4�2�'6�DE 0'���F�%%������	�%���������D��'���4��'�2��E 1'��	
��#��6�'2�23��'��	
��B��4��������2�'�6��
��4�%������2�����&�s��4�'D�"BE�('��'�%%�����	4''����D�������2�����'�2�����%�����&4��E 0'���F�����4���
��'����	�%�����&��4���
����'��������������E !�	�%��'�"#�It��
����'�����&�'������	
��&�9)H�&4�2�������	�%�����2E�Iu��
����'�������	��2����	
��&�9)H�&4�2�������	�%�����2E�Iv��
����'������
�'2����	
��&�9)H�&4�2������	��������'��2�6��
�F�������7�%��'���2��'2�'�����	�2�6��
��4�����' 0'���F�%%�������������������6��������2����'����	��2���6����������6��
���'��'�����'������E 8�Q���4���D��&��������6�������'�	����23�'����	�%�����'��'�%%���������6��
�%�%��'�������%���E 0'���F�%%������'�����4����6�2'����������%����2���6�($1Fw�x('��'��D�$	�����1��%�&�'F�%%4���D�w��
6�D�y��'��'�%%�� �)��x($1Fwy��'��'�%%��	�%�����2E�!'��������'� �	���������E 0'���F�%%��	���
���I@�%���������	���'��2�4��'�2��E ��'G���'��'�������6���E 0'��� ��
P

age 111

Gordon.Wright�_39
Square


Gordon.Wright_25
FreeText
23�



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$0('��'����1�����'2��&�����3���
�'����'������	
�� 4�&��5�����1�#0�'��&�	���'����1���2�1�����
��2�16�����3���
�'7�6����3�����	��������8��'6�'2�
��1���'9�������@�4����&�'(������#0��6�%����1��
'�6�
�8��������8�6�1�����@�A�1�'
����(�'B��1���	
&��#0�������1�����
����'��1���1�
���������3���'�	����1��2�6��'�@���'B�����
��#0����������(�	�����6���16�����������'�2�"C"D@ 0'���4�%%������1�����'���������'��B������'B�&�	��������3��
����3�����@ 46'�����61������������1�����
����'��1���1������������������������1%�������6�1�'��B�������
����'��1@�!������1�3�'B�6�1�'��B��������������
�����&��
��	���6���������
'�6�
������������6'��2�3
�	
3�������'������1������'�2�"C"D7������
�'�3��
��'����'�������@ $%��'E��6'���
�������������2��&�1�1�	���1�'���6'	��������	B���3��1�7������'���1�%���'3�'B��������'2�	�%%6���2F�'�	'6��������	���3�'1����'������@ 4��G�1�����'����%�%��'���1���
��	�1�	�����������1�'�	����1	����1�'��������������&��1��	B@�H�	'����1�	�����&'�%�3����1�����������	'����������6�&�'�������61����'2��'���6'��
�3���'@ 0'���

II
P

age 112

Gordon.Wright�_40
Square


Gordon.Wright_26
FreeText
24�



�������������	����������������	�� � 
����������������������	�  �!	�"	��� #�$
� %��	�&�'����	��(�������% %�%��) 0�	������&%����11�%���&�%���2��1�	%�&���&����%�%������  ��%������&��11%�"���&�	��(���%���2��1�	%�&)�
���% �&�3�	(���&�	��(�����%�%�%� �12��������2������� ���%����2	��"2������ %�����	��4�32%�23%  �'��	� ����&�%����	 4��5�67���"��2�	�3%�2�1	����	� �����) ��'�	0�������&�895��%  %��� ��� �	��&��1"	�&��) !	�"	�����1	�"	���%�"�3�  7����%������%&���%�%�&�&��������1 ����'4���&����4��	) $	���!	�����&��2���	�����&������%��' ����������1�	���1%��2�����	� ��� ��1�	���� �'�) 0��1 ��� @ ������	�&������������	�
�'��2���) ��	(��%�"�2�����������&�3%�2�&%�����%����2� &�3%�21	��1���%����������) $	���A�	(�1	�"	����&�����2����3�0��� ���B��	��$�	&����1	�C���) !0���1�	%�&�3%  �1	����&����	��2����D��9E�3��(�����3�	(��1��2���2����&��%"�)���	�1�	�������'%����3%  ���  �3������11�	���2�1	�1��� ���'C����������&%�"����% �'% %�4) $	���0�������&��2��12���&�&��� %�%������F4�
�3%��������&��2��� &��� �%G���	�4���	1�	( F4�
�3%������&��� %�2�&)�F2����0!�&��� %�%���3%  ���	��1�	�����2��A% ����
%D�����	�%�������	���) ��'�	H9GH��F2��I%�"�3�4����1 ���&) !	���%�� ����1 ��%������%�%1���&�%����	�2��2%��4��	�32%�2�3%  �'���  �3�&�'4����%������1�	%�&) $	���!	�"	����&�&%�����%�����������3���		4���	�%��� %�(%�"�A� ���3%�2��2������2�A������P�" ��& 
%�����%������&�	3�4) $	���

QR
P

age 113

Gordon.Wright�_41
Square


Gordon.Wright_27
FreeText
25�



���������	�
����	���������� � !"#$
&'
(&)0$1(02
201$0#3
4506
�#7&)3
�$5(82
9
�&$01$
@&!! )507
�#)#'50
(A1 2#2
5)
06#5$
(&)0$1(02 � BC@D E6#
F#$(#)01G#
&'
1AA
!1H&$
1IIA5(105&)2
4506
1)
#(&)&!5(
5!I#$105P#
0610
1$#
1II$&P#3 QRRS QRRSC@T �P#$1G#
E $)1$& )3
E5!#
'&$
U1)3
@61$G#
V#1$(6#2
(&!IA#0#3
5)
06#
I#$5&3 QRWRR DWRDCFDX1 E6#
I#$(#)01G#
&'
1AA
FA1))5)G
�IIA5(105&)2
3#0#$!5)#3
45065)
1G$##3
05!#2(1A#2 YRWRRS YBW�DS
àbcdefghipqrstp
vpw
x ipqrstp yqt�p� ���sq� �ptw�t�q��p

��
P

age 114

Gordon.Wright�_42
Square


Gordon.Wright_28
FreeText
26�



�����������	
�
���������������	���� !�""# !$%&'()$01&2�)4$�56)&)07�8�9&($%'@$46@4$ABCDCECFGC HIPQC RSTCGPIUC�WCXGEIYPÌF BIXa�bCUCQ cCEUIGC dFeCECFPBfPIFg bfXP�hYifPC pECUÌqX�BIXacG̀EC rqEECFP�BcG̀EC

ss
P

age 115

Gordon.Wright�_43
Stamp


Gordon.Wright�_44
Square


Gordon.Wright_29
FreeText
27�



���������������	

��	�������	����	� !"#!!$�&'&(�)$0�&'&12�"3!�456"�57�89@9$A�BC9696�)$0�5$A59$A�!B5$5D9B�B3)EE!$A!6�#9EE�B5$"9$F!�"5�9DG)B"�5$�9$09@90F)E62�7)D9E9!6�)$0�B5DDF$9"9!6�)BC566�H#)$6!)I�P5@!C"Q�96DFE"9R09D!$695$)E2�B5DGE!S2�AC5#9$A�)$0�9DG)B"9$A�D5C!�G!5GE!�9$�T)E!6I�U3!�B5F$B9E�3)6�)$�9DG5C")$"�C5E!�"5�GE)Q�9$�3!EG9$A�G!5GE!�"5�)EE!@9)"!�G5@!C"Q2�9DGC5@9$A�"3!9CG!C65$)E�GC56G!C9"Q�"3C5FA3�V!""!C�6W9EE6�)$0�X5V62�)$0�)00C!66�"3!�W!Q�966F!6�9$7EF!$B9$A�G5@!C"Q�6FB3�)6�35D!E!66$!66I��T!�)E65�6!!�)�C5E!�75C�5FC�B5DDF$9"9!6�9$�6FGG5C"9$A�G!5GE!�"5�0!E9@!C�!)CEQ�9$"!C@!$"95$62�9DGC5@!�"3!�#!EEV!9$A�57�E5B)E�G!5GE!�)$0�VF9E0�B5EE)V5C)"9@!�C!E)"95$639G6�#9"3�6!C@9B!GC5@90!C6I�YFC�@9695$�75C�"396�GC95C9"Q�96�"5�BC!)"!�#!EB5D9$A2�6"C5$A2�C!69E9!$"2�B5$$!B"!0�)$0�GC56G!C5F6�B5DDF$9"9!6�)6�G)C"�57�5FC�C!6G5$6!�"5�")BWE!�)$0�)EE!@9)"!�G5@!C"Q�9$H#)$6!)I��U)BWE9$A�G5@!C"Q�)$0�!$)VE9$A�B5DDF$9"9!6�96�)�#!EEV!9$A�5VX!B"9@!�V!B)F6!�#!�$!!0�"5̀�R�B5$"9$F!�C!6G5$09$A�"5�"3!�AE5V)E�!B5$5D9B�GC!66FC!6�R�9$BEF09$A�"3!�456"�57�89@9$A�BC9696�R�"3)"�)C!�9DG)B"9$A�5$�5FC�B5DDF$9"9!6I�R�")CA!"�6FGG5C"�75C�G!5GE!�9$�G5@!C"Q�5C�)"�C96W�57�G5@!C"Q�9$�5C0!C�"5�)EE!@9)"!�G5@!C"Q�)$0�")BWE!�"3!�E5$A!CR"!CD�9DG)B"6�5$�5FC�65B9!"QI�R�75BF6�5$�3!EG9$A�G!5GE!�"5�)@590�"3!�$!!0�"5�)BB!66�6!C@9B!6�VQ�GC5D5"9$A�!)CEQ�9$"!C@!$"95$6�)$0�GC!@!$")"9@!�)B"95$I�R�!DV!0�"3!�E9@!0�!SG!C9!$B!�57�G!5GE!�9$�G5@!C"Q�)BC566�5FC�6!C@9B!6�"5�!$6FC!�"3)"�#!�F$0!C6")$0�)$0�D!!"�"356!�$!!06I�R�BC!)"!�B5DDF$9"9!6�"3)"�)C!�6)7!�)$0�C!69E9!$"�#3!C!�G!5GE!a6�C9A3"6�)$0�$!!06�)C!�C!6G!B"!0I�R�9DGC5@!�"3!�G!C65$)E�GC56G!C9"Q�57�9$09@90F)E6�"3C5FA3�5GG5C"F$9"9!6�"5�0!@!E5G�6W9EE62�9DGC5@!�!DGE5Q)V9E9"Q2�)BB!66�X5V6�)$0�E55W�)7"!C�"3!9C�5#$�#!EEV!9$AIb��

	��	�8!@!E6�57�G5@!C"Q�#39B3�C!D)9$6�G!C696"!$"EQ�39A3�R�#9"3�)ED56"�)�cF)C"!C�57�G!5GE!�9$�T)E!6�E9@9$A�9$�G5@!C"Q�R�)$0�9DG)B"6�5$�E97!�!SG!B")$BQ2�3!)E"3�5F"B5D!6�)$0�)0@!C6!!77!B"6�5$�"3!�G55C!6"�)C!)6I�P!5GE!a6�!SG!C9!$B!6�57�G5@!C"Q�B5@!C9$A�)�C)$A!�57�B5DD5$�966F!6�9$BEF09$A�)BB!66�"5�!66!$"9)E�C!65FCB!6�6FB3�)6�35F69$A2�7F!E2�!$!CAQ2�BE5"39$A2�755"#!)C2�75502�)$0�#)"!C2�)6#!EE�)6�6FGG5C"�#9"3�79$)$B!62�!SBEF695$�7C5D�6!C@9B!62�)$0�!D5"95$)E�)$0�C!E)"95$639G�966F!6I��U3!�!S"C)�B56"6�"3)"�G!5GE!�5$�E5#�9$B5D!6�DF6"�G)Q�75C�!66!$"9)E6�R�6FB3�)6�"C)$6G5C"2�7F!E�)$0�7550�R�0F!�"5�"3!�G5@!C"Q�GC!D9FD2�B5DG5F$0!0�VQ�"3!�5$A59$A�456"�57�89@9$ABC9696I��U3!�C5E!�5FC�B5DDF$9"9!6�GE)Q�9$�")BWE9$A�G5@!C"Q�)$0�GC!@!$"9$A�G!5GE!a6�$!!06�7C5D�!6B)E)"9$A�"5�"3!�G59$"�#3!C!�"3!Q�$!!0�6!C@9B!6�5C�9$"!C@!$"95$6I��43)$A!6�"5�G5GFE)"95$�)$0�0!D5AC)G39B6�)6�#!EE�)6�E5B)E�G5GFE)"95$�$!!06�)6�5FC�B5DDF$9"9!6�3)@!�D5C!�5E0!C�G!5GE!2�V!B5D!�D5C!�FCV)$96!0�)$0�C!cF9C!�D5C!�35D!6�"5�V!VF9E"I��YGG5C"F$9"9!6�"5�#5CW�BE56!C�#9"3�B5DDF$9"9!6�"5�")BWE!�"3!6!�9DG5C")$"�B3)EE!$A!62�VF9E09$A�5$�"3!�$!"#5CW62�6"C!$A"36�)$0�)66!"6�57�5FC�E5B)E�)C!)6Id9C!B"5C6�e66!66D!$"
fg

P
age 116

Gordon.Wright�_45
Square


Gordon.Wright_30
FreeText
Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities�

Gordon.Wright�_46
Square


Gordon.Wright_31
FreeText
28�



���������	
������������	�������	��	����������	��	����	 �������	��	���	�!!����	��	������	 �"���#	��$��	����������	��������	����������	�����$	���	����	�!	%�"���	������	��$	�������	��������	 ����������	 �&���	���"����'	(�	�����&��)	0�	 �������$	���	
�����	1� ���	��	$���"��#	�������	����	��� �����	 ������#	��	���	2������#	3��������'���	��!����	�!	���	��������	3�"���#	2������#	���	 ��������$)	�	$��!�	��	��$��	��"��0	&��	0�	��"�	 ����$	&���	 �&���	������������	�����	����#	45467	����	����0�	��	����	������� �����	����	������	�������	�����$���	���	 �&��������	�!	8����	9�"�������@�	����$	3�"���#	2������#'	8�	��"�	$���"���$	���	A��&����	�����������	������	$�����	�����&��0���	BC55�	 ��"�$�$	��	�����������	!��	��������"��	����	20�����	2 ����'	8�	�����"�$	�	������	D��$	2�  ���	9����	�!!��	�!	BECF�	��$	���	��������#	�$�����������	����	�����	��������	!��$	 �"���#	��$	!��$	���������#'	G�����������	�������	�	��#	���������	�������	����	 ������#	��$	0�	���	��"��0���	���	 ���������	��$	!����	��$��	���	G������	2�  ���9����	HG29I	��	������	������������	 ������������	��	20�����'���	�������	��	������	���$	 �������	��	���	�!!����	��	���&��	�����������	��	&�����	���������)	��!�)	0��������	��$	 ��� �����	 �����'	
	��#	$��"��	!��	����	0���	��	���	A��&���������������	�����!��������	3��������'P��	%����	
���	����$�������	����	0���	�������!��	��	0������	���	AQ��������)	(��������	��$	��������	�������#	��	���	���������	��������	2�!��	�����������	
0��$�	��	R�"��&��)�����������	���	�� �������	�!	�����	0���	��	��� ���	 �� ��	��$	�����������	������	20�����'	8�	���	$�"��� ���	�������	 ����	��	��� ����	��	
�$��	8����@	��"��0�	�!	�������� ���������	�����$	������	����� �����	��$	��������#	����������)	��	0���	��	��"��0���	���	����#	��� 	�!!��	��	!����	���	 ��"������"�	���"���	!��	 �� ��	��$	�����������'	S��#�"����	��$	����"�����	0���	��������$	��$	!��$�$	&#	���	�������	��	��� 	�����������	$�����	���	���T� 	��	���������	�����$���	���	A"��#���	�����"��	�	���������	��� ����'8�	��������	��	�������	��$	��������	�����	��������	��	 �"���#	��$	���	����	�!	%�"���	������	�������$�	� ���������	��$	 ��!�������	�����'	8���	��	�	 ��!�������	!����0�����������	��������	�!	 �"���#	��$	��������#	0���	��	����������	��$	0���	��!���	���	�������T0�$�	�  �����	��	�����"���	����	 ������#	�"��	���	 ����$	�!	���	��� �����	3���'(�	������#)	0�	���	��	�����	��	$���"��	���	��#	�����������	��	���	��� �����	3���	!��	454UV46	��$	0�	���	0������	��0��$�	�����"���	���	W�#	3��!�������	(�$�������	&#	�����$	�!	#���'

XY
P

age 117

Gordon.Wright�_47
Square


Gordon.Wright�_48
Square


Gordon.Wright_32
FreeText
37�

Gordon.Wright�_49
Square


Gordon.Wright_33
FreeText
29�



����������	
��������������	�
	���������	���	����������	 �������� 	 !��	"#$�����%���	
&	 ��'���	('
�'��� )$0��'������	1�'����
�	�	��	2���	1����
�	%���
1�	
&	2
'3���	2���	��
���	2���	����1�4��'�����	�
	�
��'
15��	��1	�5�����	
5'	������1	��'������	����
��6	
5��
%��	��1�'�
'�����	&
'	7��3����	(
��'�8	��1	9
%%5���8	@�����%���A !'�&�	
&	���	'�&'����1	7��3����	(
��'�8	��'����8	��	��1����
�%���	��1	�5�����	�
	����'���	'����2	�'�
'	�
	���	��5���	
&�5����	�
��5�����
�A	(�������	��	5�1�'2�8	
�	���'
����	��1�5�������
�	��%�������A	��	����	�
��'��5��1	�
	�����0
��'�%���B�	1����
�%���	
&	���	9���1	(
��'�8	��'����8	2������	15�	�
	��	�5������1	��	"C"DA $%��'9
��	
&	E�����	�	��	2���	'�15��	������	
&	�
��'�8	��1	%�������	���	�%�����	
&	�������	�
��'�8	�8	'
�����	
5�	�
��'�%���	�'����6	�'
��1���	2��&�'�	'�����	�1����	��1�%���%������	��'����1	����%��	����51���	���	F&'��	�5�	'�1�G	����������	��1	�2�����������A �
	&�'	����	'��
'����	8��'6	2�	����	�1%������'�1	HI"P6PQC	
&�'���	&5�1���	�
	
'��������
��	�
	����	����	���	�5'1��	
&	���9
��	
&	E�����	�'����6	����51���	���	@�������	9
%%5������	0'���2����	���	�5��
'��1	�	'����	
&	�
%%5���8	�����������	�5��	���2�����	������A	���&�'�	)�����	$1���
'�	�
����5�	�
	1���	2����4�'�%��8	�
%���4	�����	�5�	�'�	�5��
'����	��
���	�
	����%����&���	��1	�11'���	��''��'�	�
	&��������	����5��
�A 0'���7��3����	��1	�'��������	�
%���������	�	��	2���	�%���%���	���	R
5����	�5��
'�('
�'�%%�	��'����8	�
	�5��
'�	��
���	2�
	�'�	�
%�����	
'	��	'��3	
&	���
%����
%�����A ��	�'�	�
����5���	�
	�'
�'���	2���	���	����
��	2�����	���	R�(��'����86	2��'�	2�	�

3	�
	��3�	�	'���1	'��
5����	���'
���6'�15��	������
��6	���'����	���	�5���8	
&	���
%%
1���
�	��11����
�	��'���'����	2
'3���	�
	�'�����	�
%���������	2��'���'�
������A	R
2���'6	2�	�'�	�
����5���	�
	���	'��
'1	������	
&�
%���������	��1	'�����	�5%��'�	��	��%�
'�'8	���
%%
1���
�AS�	�11���
�	2�	�'�	������	���'����1	������	
&	�
5���
�1�'�T5�'���	�5��
'�A	7���	�����'�	��	���	��%�	��'
��	
���'	E$G�	�������	��1	2�	�'�	���
%���	���'�������8	�
���'��1	
&	����'���5'�	
�	�
5����	��1	�5��
'�	��'�����	�
	1�����'	���	����
��2�����	���	R�(	��'����86	��'���5��'�8	2���	�	'�15���
�	���
%���������	&5�1���	&
'	"#U"D	��1	R
5����	�5��
'�	0'���'�%������	���	��%�	&
'	����	8��'	��1	"DU"QA
)�1

V�3���	%
'�	�
%��	���������	�	��	2���	
&&�'	%
'�	���'�8	�&&������	��1	�&&
'1�����
%��	�
	����	%���%���	�
5���
�1	�
���6	��	2���	��	���'������	���	�����������8	��1T5����8	
&	�
����	�
5����6	�
	����	%
'�	��
���	������	���
%%
1���
�	����	���5������	&
'	����'	���1�A 7
	1���	"DI	�11���
���	�
5����	�'
��'����	����	����	�11�1	�
	����
5����	��
�3	����51���W	X�2	�5��1�U�
���'��
�	Y	̀CIA$�T5�����
��	Y	̀DC $%��'S%�'
����	��
���G�	�'
���'��8	�	��	2���	1�����'	�'
�'�%%��	
&	�%��
8������86	�3����1����
�%���	��1	�
%%5���8	�������%����	����	����	��
���	�
	�%�'
��	����'�'
������	&
'	���	&5�5'�	��1	�
�5����'	����'	��%�	�
	�
��'��5��	�
	����'	�
����
%%5������A 7��	9
%%5������	&
'	�
'3	(�5�	�'
�'�%%�	2��	���	���������'&
'%���	���%	��	�����	&
'	B���
	2
'3B	
5��
%��	5�	�
	 ��
��'"C""A	7��	$5�5%�	7�'%	&
'	
5'	E�&��
��	E��'����	�'
�'�%%����	��1	����	��3��5�	
&	�
5'���	'������	&'
%	&�%��8	���'����	�
1������	����'��8	�
	��'1�����	��1	������'���8A	@15����
��
�����5��	�'�	�
����5���	�
	�11'���	�
��'�8	�%�����	
�	����1'���
	
��'�
%�	���	��''��'�	�
	&5�5'�	�'
���'��8A 0'���
ab

P
age 118

Gordon.Wright�_50
Square


Gordon.Wright_34
FreeText
30�



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$01�	2�������'�3�����'�������������4����	������'����4��
�	�%%2����������
�����
�%���3�����'����'�'��������'�����������	���������&���5���52���6����5����5������'�����4��
���'���'��7���	�����2'	����&��2���'�����%��������5�%��5�������'��	��8 9�	���$'���@��'5��������
���	�����2�5�����2		���&2��3�
������5�2���'����	������������5�	�%%2������A����B���%��'C��
�����%4����
��DE2�������C�F�	�2�������5�@�
������@�����'3�����
����2�2'�����&�'�@�%%2�������$4�'5�8�G4���'���&�'%������'��'�%%�����D��������@�%%2���������5��
��G�	H�����(���'�3('��'�%%��5�����'�5��
'�2�
��
���
�'�5�('����'��3�12�5����'��%���%��������'� �	�������%�'����	�%%2���3�'�������	����55�����'�%�'���'������������2�	�%��8 0'���
D%��4�'����	�%%2������������4�����%��5��
���'��	�������&�
2%���'��
����	'����2'�4�'H�4��
�	�%%2������C��%��4�'������	�����������������%�'���������5�����
�	���'�52	������&���'��	��C�	�%%2���3�	�
��������5���	�������2�8 G
��@������'�����������������������4����4��
����'�IP���'���'�4�'H���������
�'�����'���5���5��	�C��2���'����5��2�5��	�8�G
�	������'��������5�������%����%��������Q�'	��������������8�G
�D�����%����G��%��'��5�����������
��'�&2�2'���&&�'�&�'�R����'&�8 0'���S�������	�%%2���������&�������4������	H����������	������
����2'��
'�2�
���'����5��������������5��2���'��&�'��������4
���'���2���'������'����'��H��3��%�'�������
��'����	���&���&�'	�%������5�2������������7���	
�������������'���	����	�����������5��'���'�38 T��2�'3�"P"U�G
��$������	������
����2'��	'2���3�F�E2�'3�'���'�4����2�%����5����@�����������
��"V�!�	�%��'�"P"#��&��'��
�$������	������
����2'��	'2���3�F�E2�'3�(�����	�%�����5��5������5���E2�'38G
�����%�
���������2��������
��@�2�	��6�1�'4�'5�(����&�'�@�������&�'�'������������
��"V�W�'	
�"P"U8�$��	����������4�������5�������5����5�����'�����
��"U'�	�%%��5������8���'H������'���'�
���4��
���(C�RT�C�	�����2��5���3�&�'��
����4
��&��5��
�%�����������
��$����������'�	���8 0'���
�2��5����	�%%2���3�������������4����	�����2������'�4��
����������&����	�%%2��������	'�����4�������3�2���������'����
������5����'��	
������	'����'���������	�%%2���3���5�������������X�2	
������	��������'�'����Y���5���������
�����'���5�	�%%2���3�
2���������5�4��
��2'�9�	���9��'�'3�(���8 $���4�'�2�5��&�D��������@�%%2�������&2�5��
���������4�'5�5�
���E2�'��'�����������̀UabCPPP8�G
��@�$�G��'��'�%%��
���2���'��5�VPc�������������'2�������
���E2�'��'�2������
����5��&W�'	
�"P"U��'���5��������'�2�������&�'�&'�����5��2���5���5�	����������	'�����
��@�2��38�dV��'�2���
����������4�'5�5&2�5�������5�����'��4���������	����'� �	��C��'���5����4�'%���54��	�%�������	���&�'����������������5�cV��'� �	��
���������2���'��5��
'�2�
�e���5�3�1��5�&2�5���8�G
�����'� �	���
���������'���5����%����C�&��5���'	������5�&��5���2	
�'��&�'	
��5'�����5�&�%�������	'�����4�����8

0'���

fg
P

age 119

Gordon.Wright�_51
Square


Gordon.Wright_35
FreeText
31�



�������������	����������������	�� � 
����������������������	�  �!	�"	��� #�$!�% &�'�(���	�	��	��'�(�)��0 &�"�!���	�1���	���"12�3�	0&�"���45	�(���&�� 1�3&�'��	�5�	���	����(�5��5 ��3&�'� &��(��65�	&��������5���	�17 
	��������'��	��	��'�(�)��0 &�"�!���	�1���	���"1�&��&�(��� �5�������(���%8�������&���	�� �	��&�3�5	&�	�����'�� ����'���5�% &������� ���&��7�9�1��'�����'�������	"�(��	����'���"�"������3�	0���(���	��1���� 1�&�����(����(�&������%�	�@��7 ��%�	
��� �5�(���)��0 &�"�!���	�1�!�	��	������A	���3�	0��'���� &"����%8���&���2�����������(�5�	��	�����������	���	� ���(�������0 &�"�5���	�17 
	��������'��)��0 &�"�!���	�1�A	���3�	0�'���%����(��� �5�(���(��"�"������3&�'�&���	�� ���  ��"����'�����������(7 $	���B�"�����	��&�3�����'��C����& D��E���&�"��  ����&����!� &�1��������	����������5	��&(&�"���&��% ��'�������	��� ��	�% ��5��5 �2���&�����&���  1�'��� ������(5��5 ��3'����1�%����	�"" &�"�3&�'�5���	�17 )'��	��&�3�����'���  ����&����!� &�1�'���%�������5�	�	& 1�5����(��	���5�	&�(����������'��FG����	1���(�A�%	��	1H�3'& ����'����������������6��5�&���  1�'&"'�(����(���(�5	����	�������'�'��� ����������	�&��7�I���'�������&������	1�����	������&�������%����(�����������'�����(�����'��� ����'����'� (�2��'����'	������(�3&�'�'��� ����������(��� ��	�% ��5��5 �7 ��%�	�"	��(�����	���"1������55�	��'��� ����&�(&�&(�� ������'��C�PI
4QR�'��� ������(�2�3'& �������&��&�"�3&�'���	�S� 3�1����%�(D�5 �("�7 )'�����%�	��&�����5�	�	1��������(��&���'��������&���(���"	�3������	��� �����'&"'�	����%�	�����5	�������&���2����5 �(3&�'��� ��0��������4����������(��&��7�T���	����3�����'�'&"'���� ��� ����'����'� (������51&�"�BUB����	7�#���������	��'&�&�� �(�V��'������(����������'��5	&�	&�1����(�����2�&��	����(���%�	�����	���"��������2��'���������� &�&�"��	&�&����(��� ��0�������	(�% ��5	&�����	����(��������(��&��7�)'�	��&�����&�(&���&���'����'�����%�	��5	�����&�"����'��� ����&��"�&�"����� �3�(�3�&���'����	�����% �7�)���&�&"�����"�&�����'&��3���	��5	�"	���&�"3&�'����� ��	���&������BUB�3'&�'�3&  ��	���������((&�&��� �W@X��&���������5�	�	1��������(��&��2�'�3���	2�3���	�������	��(�'���3��3&  �����%���% ����������&���'����'&"'����%�	��&����5�	�	1��������(��&�����	����'� ��"�	�����'&��&��5 ��&�"������&(�	�% ���&�� �%�	(�������'��Y�7
#�(

��55�	��(��'������% &�'���������'���3�����������&��% ��A��(�!�	���	�'&57 )'&��5�	���	�'&5�'���%��������% &�'�(���(�&������&��&�"��������7 $	���!�% &�'�(���	�C�	5�	����P� �����	&�"�!� &�1����(��� �5���(�����"���� ����	1���&���3&�'&���'���	"��&���&��7 
	����P� �����	&�"�!� &�1�'���%����(��� �5�(����3�  ���������"�	̀��)�� 0&����(�P� �����	��E��(%��07�
� �1��&�����&��&��&�"���P� �����	&�"�
��� �5��������&��	�5����'���&�5����(�����&�� &�&�"��'����	���"1�(��� �5�����3�	0���(��"�"������3&�'�C����& ���  ��"�������&�5 �����&�"���	�%����55	���'���	��� �����	&�"�����"�����7 $	���
aa

P
age 120

Gordon.Wright�_52
Square


Gordon.Wright_36
FreeText
32�



���������	�
����	���������� ! "#$%!&$
()0$
12%
3%24$55)6&
6$7
48!)05
9�2@5)6&
�$6$1)(A BCD��  EDCF����� G "#$%!&$
()0$
12%
3%24$55)6&
62()1)4!()265
21
4H!6&$
)6
4)%4@05(!64$5
�2@5)6&
�$6$1)(A ID�� PDIF�����B! "#$%!&$
()0$
12%
3%24$55)6&
6$7
48!)05
9�2@64)8
�!QA R D��  CDE������BG "#$%!&$
()0$
12%
3%24$55)6&
62()1)4!()265
21
4H!6&$
)6
4)%4@05(!64$5
9�2@64)8
�!QA FD�� BDRSTUV�F "02@6(
21
7$81!%$
G$6$1)(5
%!)5$W
(H%2@&H
5$4@%)6&
%)&H(5
X
$6()(8$0$6(5
GY
(H$
̀$81!%$
a)&H(5
�$!0 b PFc��� bF�RcREETUV � d@0G$%
21
3$238$
&!)6)6&
$0382Y0$6(
(H%2@&H
e0382Y!G)8)(Y
f@332%(  RS  P TUV  d@0G$%
21
!44%$W)($W
g@!8)1)4!()265
X
5$4(2%
53$4)1)4
(%!)6)6&
!4H)$#$W
GY
!W@8(5
7)(H
hi"
5@332%(  R CFTUV B V!8@$
21
&%!6(5
%$4$)#$W
GY
(H$
�!4p8)6&
T2#$%(Y
q$#$8230$6(
�$!0
(2
5@332%(
2%&!6)5!()265
!6W
5$%# b ��c��� bF��c���

rstuvwxy��������
���
� ������� ������ ������ ��������c��

de
P

age 121

Gordon.Wright�_53
Square


Gordon.Wright_37
FreeText
33�



�����������	
�
���������������	���� !�""# !$%&'()0�2345678�$)9�@)$A'()0��3BBC)(7(5DEFGFHFIPF QRSTF UVWFPSRXF�̀FaPHRbSRcI ERad�eFXFT fFHXRPF gIhFHFISEiSRIp eiaS�qbriSF sHFXRcta�ERadfPcHF utHHFIS�EfPcHF

vw
P

age 122

gordon.wright�
Stamp


Gordon.Wright�_54
Square


Gordon.Wright_38
FreeText
34�



���������������	

��	�������	����	� !""!#$%&�()"01�2!3)4%5)%6�7)8"9496$!%0�@!4�(9")0A�61)�B!C%8$"�190�7)8"94)7�D!61�9�B"$596)�E5)4&)%8F�$%�GC%)�HIPQ�9%7�9�R96C4)�E5)4&)%8F�$%�R!3)5D)4�HIHPS��T0$%&�61)�()"01�2!3)4%5)%6�U!C6)�59V�6!�%)6�W)4!A�X#9%0)9�B!C%8$"�#$""�9"$&%�#$61�$60�V4$%8$V")0A�Y%!#$%&�#196�%))70�6!�D)�7!%)�%!#A�DF�HIHH̀Ha�b!#�B94D!%�D)8!5$%&�61)%!45�9%7�DF�HIcI�#1)4)�81!!0$%&�894D!%�W)4!�$0�4!C6$%)S��X!C%7�&!3)4%9%8)�190�D))%�)069D"$01)7�#$61$%�61)�8!C%8$"�6!�986�!%�0C81�819"")%&)0�9%7�9""�986$3$6F�#$""�D)�74$3)%�#$61$%�61)�V9495)6)40�!@�61)�()""̀D)$%&�!@� C6C4)�2)%)496$!%0d86�e(9")0f�HIPgA�61)�E%3$4!%5)%6�d86�e(9")0f�HIPaA�61)�X6496)&$8�EhC9"$6F�i"9%�9%7�61)�B!4V!496)�i"9%�9%7�61)�X#9%0)9�eiXpf�()""̀D)$%&�i"9%S��q!�)%0C4)�6196�$%�977$6$!%�6!�981$)3$%&�%)6�W)4!�HIcI�@!4�X#9%0)9�B!C%8$"A�#)�#$""�#!4Y�#$61�V946%)40A�!4&9%$096$!%0A�081!!"0A�DC0$%)00)0�6!�0CVV!46�X#9%0)9�90�9�#1!")�8!C%6F9%7�8$6$W)%0�$%�$60�)@@!460�6!�D)8!5)�%)6�W)4!�DF�HIgIA�9"$&%$%&�#$61�61)�R)6�r)4!�(9")0�B94D!%�pC7&)6�eHf�HIHHsHIHgS�E069D"$01$%&�D!61�B"$596)�9%7�R96C4)�B1946)40�9%7�9i")7&)�(9""�6!�)%8!C49&)�986$3)�V946$8$V96$!%�9%7�1)"V�DC$"7�9�1)9"61$)4A�5!4)�V4!0V)4!C0�9%7�D$!7$3)40)s�)8!"!&$89""F�4)0$"$)%6�X#9%0)9S��X#9%0)9�$0�!%)�!@�61)�5!06�)8!"!&$89""F�4$81�9%7�7$3)40)�8!C%6$)0�$%�61)�TtS�u60�C%$hC)�394$)6F�!@�19D$6960�9%7�0V)8$)0�9%7�#!%7)4@C"�49%&)�!@�V94Y0A�&4))%0V98)0A�%96C4)4)0)43)0A�D)981)0�9%7�"9%7089V)0�%))70�6!�D)�59$%69$%)7A�)%19%8)7�9%7�0C069$%9D"F�59%9&)7�@!4�61)�D)%)@$6�!@�)3)4F!%)�%!#�9%7�$%6!�61)�@C6C4)S��vC4�%96C49"�)%3$4!%5)%6�9%7�D$!7$3)40$6F�$0�C%7)4�614)96�9%7�$%�7)8"$%)�7C)�6!�C%0C069$%9D")�1C59%�986$3$6$)0S�w9D$6960�9%7�0V)8$)0�94)�D)$%&�"!06�96�9%�9"945$%&�9%7C%0C069$%9D")�496)S�()�%))7�6!�49$0)�9#94)%)00�!@�61)�$5V9860�!@�D$!7$3)40$6F�"!00�9%7�8"$596)�819%&)�96�61)�"!89"�")3)"�9%7�V4!3$7)�$%@!4596$!%A�973$8)A�9%7�V4986$89"�0CVV!469%7�$%8)%6$3)0�6!�)%8!C49&)�!61)40�6!�69Y)�986$!%�9%7�8!""9D!496)�6!�7)"$3)4�V!0$6$3)�0!"C6$!%0�6!�61)0)�819"")%&)0S��()�#9%6�)3)4F!%)�6!�193)�988)00�6!A�C%7)4069%7A�9VV4)8$96)�9%7�D)%)@$6�@4!5�X#9%0)9x0�!C6069%7$%&�%96C49"�)%3$4!%5)%6�9%7�6!�V"9F�61)$4�V946�$%�"!!Y$%&�9@6)4�9%7�)%19%8$%&$6A�4)0C"6$%&�$%�9�1)9"61$)4A�&4))%)4�9%7�5!4)�V4!0V)4!C0�X#9%0)9S��vC4�@C6C4)�0C43$39"�9%7�hC9"$6F�!@�"$@)�$0�7)V)%7)%6�!%�1)9"61F�4)0$"$)%6�%96C49"�)%3$4!%5)%6A�61)�5C"6$V")�D)%)@$60�$6�V4!3$7)0�6!�0!8$)6F�9%7�!%�4)7C8$%&�!C4�894D!%�)5$00$!%0�6!%)6�W)4!S��()�193)�9�5!49"�4)0V!%0$D$"$6F�6!�"!!Y�9@6)4�D$!7$3)40$6F�@!4�$60�!#%�$%64$%0$8�39"C)Sy��

	��	�d�VCD"$8�0)86!4�694&)6�!@�HIcIA�91)97�!@�61)�()"01�2!3)4%5)%6x0�694&)6�!@�HIgI�@!4�61)�#1!")�!@�(9")0A�#$""�&$3)�C0�!C4�D)06�819%8)�!@�Y))V$%&�&"!D9"�#945$%&�D)"!#�PSg�BS�q1$0$0�61)�6$VV$%&�V!$%6�96�#1$81�61)�8"$596)�$5V9860�#)x4)�9"4)97F�)�V)4$)%8$%&�#$""�&!�@4!5�D97�6!�V!6)%6$9""F�8969064!V1$8S�()x""�0))�%96C49"�0F06)50�84!00�79%&)4�V!$%60A�64$&&)4$%&"906$%&�819%&)0�0C81�90�)�64)5)�06!450A�1)96#93)0A�5900�"!00�!@�%96C49"�19D$6960�9%7�0V)8$)0S��()�94)�96�9�84$6$89"�V!$%6�$%�6$5)�@!4�%96C4)�4)8!3)4F�9%7�#$61!C6�C4&)%6�649%0@!4596$3)�819%&)A�59%F�!@�!C4�0V)8$)0�9%7�19D$6960�#$""�8!%6$%C)�6!�7)8"$%)�!4�D)8!5)�)�6$%86S��w9"6$%&�9%7�4)3)40$%&�61)�"!00�!@�D$!7$3)40$6F�614!C&1�4)7C8$%&�1945�9%7�C%0C069$%9D")�C0)�9%7�5!3$%&�6!�9�0$6C96$!%�#1)4)�#)�94)�#!4Y$%&�#$61�%96C4)�6!�59$%69$%�1)9"61F4)0$"$)%6�)8!0F06)50�6196�#$""�8!%6$%C)�6!�V4!3$7)�"!%&̀6)45�hC9"$6F�!@�"$@)�e!4�)8!0F06)5�0)43$8)0f�D)%)@$60�CV!%�#1$81�#)�9""�7)V)%7S��q98Y"$%&�8"$596)�819%&)A�#1$81�$0�!%)�!@�61)�&4)96)06�819"")%&)0�@98$%&�C0�9""�9%7�#)�%))7�6!�4)7C8)�!C4�894D!%�@!!6V4$%6�9%7�6!�5$6$&96)�@!4�9%7�979V6�6!�61)�"$Y)"F�4$0Y0�9%7$5V9860S��B4)96$%&�1$&1�hC9"$6F�)%3$4!%5)%69""F�9%7�"!#�894D!%�4)0V!%0$D")�9%7�0C069$%9D")�&4))%��!D0�6196�59Y)�61)�5!06�!@�!C4�C%$hC)�%96C49"�4)0!C48)0�)S&S�614!C&1�)%3$4!%5)%69"6!C4$05A�0C069$%9D")�"9%7�9%7�8!9069"�59%9&)5)%6A�"!89"�@!!7�V4!7C86$!%A�0C069$%9D")�#906)�59%9&)5)%6A�)%)4&F�)@@$8$)%8FA�4)%)#9D")�)%)4&F�9%7�894D!%�89V6C4)S�d0�0C81�#)#$""�)�V"!4)�9%7�0CVV!46�V4!�)860�0C81�90�!%�9%7�!@@�01!4)�4)%)#9D")0�#1$81�9"$&%�6!�61)0)�95D$6$!%0S��U)7C8$%&�$%)hC9"$6$)0�$%�1)9"61�9%7�#)""̀D)$%&�DF�59$%69$%$%&�9%7�)%19%8$%&�9�1$&1�hC9"$6F�9%7�988)00$D")�%96C49"�)%3$4!%5)%6�V"C0�)%0C4$%&�@9$4�988)00�6!�"!#�894D!%�)%)4&FA1!5)0A�6493)"�!V6$!%0A�0C069$%9D"F�0!C48)7�@!!7�9%7�&4))%)4��!D�!VV!46C%$6$)0S��XC069$%9D"F�59%9&$%&�9%7�)%19%8$%&�61)�hC9"$6F�!@�!C4�%96C49"�4)0!C48)0�$%8"C7$%&�9$4A�#96)4A�0!$"0�9%7�D$!7$3)40$6F�#$""�1)"V�$%84)90)�X#9%0)9x0�)8!"!&$89"�4)0$"$)%8)�9%7�61)#)""̀D)$%&�!@�$60�$%19D$69%60S �$4)86!40�d00)005)%6
��

P
age 123

Gordon.Wright�_55
Square


Gordon.Wright_39
FreeText
Delivering on Nature Recovery and Climate Change �

Gordon.Wright�_56
Square


Gordon.Wright_40
FreeText
35�



���������	
�������������	��������	������ 	���������	��	!� �"��	��	#$����	%���"��&	$�!	� ��$��	��$�'�(	���	����)��	���������	!$�$	0$�	�������1�  &	��2�����!	��	3� ��	4�"�������5	���0��'	$�	�"��$  ��!������	��	�����	6	7	�	���������(	�����������	��!��0$&	0���	8�$!������	$�!	�$2����	$2���	���9�	$��$���!	��	������'	���	$�2�����(��@�	�����A���	� ��$��	B�'�$������	'����	��	���$2 ����!	$�!	�$�	�����1��	���C����	$���'��!	��	����(	�����	��� �!�	0��9��'	$ ��'��!�	���	DBE	��	!� �"��	��	���	� ��$��	��$�'�	� ������	�1���	��0	3�  	E���'	
�����	D $�(	�0�	���C����	$��	2���'	!��"��	2&	���	'����A	F	���	!�"� ������	�1	$	B0$���$	
!$��$����	7	G���'$����	D $�(	F	
	H4��!	D�$�����I	�$����'�P������5	 �!	2&	#%3#$����	%���"��&	B����A���	#$����	������"$����	��$�	�$�	2���	0��9��'	0���	$	0�!�	�$�'�	�1	�$�����	��'$���$�����	0�����	B0$���$	$�!	4�0��	��	!�"� ��	���	8��$ 	#$����	%���"��&	
�����	D $�Q8#%
DR(	���	� $�	�$�	�$2����	$����"$ 	$�!	����	���	9�&	�2C����"��	$�!	$������	��$�	$!!����	������	�$����'	!�� ����	��	2��!�"�����&	��	B0$���$(	S�	1�$�����	�@	9�&	$������	��'��!�	�$�����	'�����	0�����	���	B0$���$	8��$ 	#$����	D$���������(	���	$��	2&	����5	��	��	������	��$�	$�	 �$��	��	�������	�1	B0$���$	��	��������!	$�!	�11����"� &	�$�$'�!	1���$����(��)�T	��$�����A
����"������	��� �!�	���	���� �����	�1	���	UV	��$�'��'	�����	����$  $�����	$�	���	W�� 	&	4���	!����(	���	X ���	G$�$'��	������� &	0��9��'	��	$�	Y8UV	B��$��'&	��!$��(	���8$'���	���C���	���������	��	���'����5	0���	$	������	1��!��'	$�� ��$����	�$!�	��	����1�  &	��������	��	���	��P�	��$��	�1	1�$��2� ��&	��	$	��������	W�$���'	#��0��9(	���	U���'&��$�	�$"�	 $�����!	$	D������	G$�$'��	U���'&	��� 9��5	������$'��'	�11�����	��	$�!��	�����	2�� !��'�	$�!	�$9�	���� �	��$�'��	��	�� �	���	�� &	��!���	���������	2��	$ ��	���$"�	����&	��	����'&	2�  �(	
	�� ��	$�	4��������	8�2�$�&	$�!	W�����'	B��"����	2�� !��'	!� �"���!	'��!	���� ��(	����	��������	$	������	������	2&	���	�1	���	��"��������$ �$������	���!&��'	2�� !��'	���������5	��''�����'	0�	�$�	�$9�	$����P(	6�̀ 	��!�������	��	����'&	�$"��'�	�����'�	2��$"����	��$�'�(��)�T	aDSI�AU�����$'��'	��$11	��	���� ���	���	��0	�0�	� ��$��	��$�'�	$�!	#$����	%���"��&	��$����'	��!� ��	�$�	�$!	����	�������	$�!	���	B��$��'��	� ��$��	��$�'�	D��C���	G$�$'��	$�!E��!�"�����&	#$���$ 	U�"��������	b11����	�$"�	2���	�� ����'	����	1$��)��)1$��	��������(	S�	��	$������$��!	��$�	����	�$�'���!	$����$��	0�  	1���	�$��	�1	���	���$��'&	��	�� �	2�� !��$11	9��0 �!'�(	���	����	� $����'	��$���	��	C���	���������'	1��	����)�T(%��9�	$�!	��$  ��'��A���	��$  ��'��	0�	$��	1$���'	��� �!�	���������'	0���	 �����!	1��$���$ 	$�!	���$�	���������	��	!� �"��	$�!	����	�$�!��	��0$�!�	���	#c����	$�2�����(	S�	���	�$��	0�	$��	�� &��'��	�P����$ 	1��!��'	$�!	0������	 $�'�	��"�������	d	�$����� $� &	��	���	2�� !��'�	$�!	1 ���5	���	���������	1�'���	0�  	��	!��2�	2�'��	��	� $��$�(	3�	0�  	 ��9	$�	�������������	��������	1��!��'5	2��	����	��	��$  ��'��'	'�"��	���	���������	��	���	������ I�	G�XD(	�����	��	$	��'��1��$��	���9	��$�	B0$���$	������ 	0��I�	$����"�	���	e���	����	0������	��'��1��$��$!!�����$ 	��"�������	��� �!��'	�������	�$����$  &	0���	���������'(	3���	��'$�!	��	1 ���	d	�����	��	$ ��	�������	��	���	Y8UV	���� &	��$��	������'	���	��0	aDS	��#%@	$�	���9(	����"��$  	���9	�1	���	$����"��'	���	e���	����	$�	$	������ 	��	��'� �'���!	$�	%U�	��	���	������$��	���9	��'�����(
fg

P
age 124

Gordon.Wright�_57
Square


Gordon.Wright_41
FreeText
46�

Gordon.Wright�_58
Square


Gordon.Wright_42
FreeText
36�



����������	
��������������	�
	���������	���	����������	 �������� 	 !��	"#$�����%���	
&	 ��'���	('
�'��� )$0123	5267	89@AB2@	C7DAEFG	HI	PQRQ S 	$������	���	U�'
	��'�
�	�%����
��	�V	"W#WX	&
��
Y���	���	���'
��̀	�Y�����a
b����	c��	d�'
	"W#W	!�����'V	(���e $�	��'	�����%��'	�������	b�̀���	'��
'�	̀���V�̀	b����	f��'b�'V"W"ge	)��h	'�%����	
�	'�̀ 	̀b�	�
	'��
b'��	��̀	&b�̀���	���b��e )�̀)�̀b��	���	�
b����i�	�%����	
�	���	����'
�%���X	%
���
'���	���	���	�����0
��'�%���	'��
'����	�'
����	
�	���	p	
'��������
���	�����
'���e $�	��'	�����%��'q�	����b�	Y���	�
����b��	����������	�'
b�̀'��
b'��	��̀	&b�̀���	
��
'�b������e )�̀)������	&
'	��'���	��������	Y���	rs!e "tXuvwx"wX"Wt	��'���	������	�
Y	rs!	yvw��X	�gg#	&����̀ 	̀b'���"W""x"#e $%��'!����
�	�	��Y	a
b��V�Y�̀�	�'��	��������	%��	���
Y���	b�	�
	�����	��
b���̀�	
&��Y	�'���e ��'������	�'��	
��
'�b���V	%���	�'
̀b��̀e	!������̀	�������������	���̀	�
	��	�'���'�̀	&
��
Y���	�'
b�̀	�'b�����X	��'��������h�X	�
%%b���V	�
��b�����
�X	���e 0'���a
����b�	�
	'����Y	���	�
b����	�'����
'�	&����	�
	%���%���	
��
'�b������	&
'	b��	
&�	�'���	&����	��	����	Y���	���	�'���	&����	��'����Ve !���%��'	"W"#	�W"	�����'V	�����'��	��̀	�#	�V�'�̀	��������	
�&����X	'��'��������	�	�"�	
&	�
'�
'���	&����e	�WW	���'��	�
������������̀	��	̀��
��X	Y���	"W	�����	��������̀	��	"W"ge	�� 	�'��������	�'
�'����̀e	('
�
���	�
	'����Y	�rs�	�'������
�	��'����V�����	�'������̀	�
	a��	���	"W"ge	�����&�����	&b�̀���	���b��	�
��	�̀ '̀����̀	�
	�'
�'���e $%��'123	5267	89@AB2@	HI	PQ�Q � 	a
���������V	�b��
'�	���	Y�̀�'	�Y�����	�%����
�X	Y
'h���	��
����̀�	a��%���a��'��'	������
'���X	(��X	����U���X	���

��X	�b��������X	�
%%b���V	�'
b��	��̀����'
�%�����	��'���'�	�
	����	̀�����'	���	�����	0
��'�%���	�%����
�	
&	c��	d�'
�����	�V	"WtWe $��	���

��	Y���	���%�	�
����e	 �����	�'������	�
	��	̀�����'�̀	��f��'b�'Ve	s(f	̀�����'�̀	"	�'
�����	�
	&�'X	����b̀���	�����
��
'����	
&	���	0'���	s�
�
%V	a
�&�'����	��̀	��b���	
&�Y�����	('
����	d�'
X	Y���	#	b�̀�'Y�V	��̀	"	&b'���'	�'
�����	���̀���
�%���e	s��'�V	$Y�'�����	�b�	'�
����̀	��	c
��%��'Y���	��h�	b�	
�	��'�����	�����	
&&�'�̀	�
	���	�
%%b���V	�����'����	&
'	��%�	��%�	�'���
b�	V��'e	������
'���	̀�����'���	
�	�Y
�'
�����	'�����̀	�
	(��e	�������	���'����	�
	��	̀�����'�̀	��̀	
&���b�'V	��̀	$��	�
��b������	�
	��	���
����̀	���������	
&f��'b�'Ve	gW	�b��������	����	�����̀ �̀	���	�
Y�'̀�	a�'�
�	d�'
�'������e	)��
b'��	��	��	���b�	��	�
��	���������e
$%��'

c��	d�'
	�����	�V	"WtW e 	!����
�	�	�Y�����	$̀ ������
�	��̀	��������
�	(���e ��
��	��̀	���̀�'	&
'	�Y�����	$̀ ������
�	��̀	��������
���'����V	̀����
��̀X	
���	
�	����"�����	��̀	���	��
��̀	Y�����
'��������	&������̀X	����'���Y�	��
b�	�
	�
%%����	��̀�
��'���
'	�
	��	���
����̀e$��	������
'���	������	��%�	�
	��'���'����	�b�	&��̀���	
Y�	����'����'���b'��	%���	�
�	��	%b��	��%�	�����	��	Y
b�̀	��h�e	���&&	��%���h��	b�	�����&������V	
�	����	�
	�'V	��̀	�
%�������	&
'	
���'��
'�&����e $%��'
��

P
age 125

Gordon.Wright�_59
Square


Gordon.Wright_43
FreeText
37�

Gordon.Wright�_60
Square


Gordon.Wright_44
FreeText
Net zero Wales by 2050�

Gordon.Wright_45
FreeText
Net Zero Wales by 2050�



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$0�1���'��2�����'3��&��
��&�'����
�����&��
����1��42���5�������'� �	�6 7��2���&�8�'%��&�'�5��2�8'����	��������'��26�0'���������	������1�%����2����9@�0���&�'�2�������&���7����A��B�'C6 0'���('��'�����
��2������%�����&���	�1�	������'���2�����'����'�3�&�'%�����
��D��3E��8�'F�
������6 A�B����C�2����B��
���1��42���G�H�B������4��'�3���2�8'�����'�71����2�(�'��)�2������%����('� �	�I 0'���$�%����%�C������
��1'
��2��'��������%�'���%����6 A�B�0P���
��	�%�����1�2�'B�3���2�G�'�������������2��6�6�(��'��Q����2&���2�Q�7��
���Q�8�B�
��� 0'����1���'����2���������
����	'�������2������������3��&����	�'�	���
�	���H4RI�	
�'�������������2�2���������B�2�'�4R�	
�'�������'����36 8B����12����
���������	�%�����2����954R���'����36�8
�"S"#G"T�'�����1���&�2�����������	
�'���������������6�����'����B��22����&�'�&1�2����&�'�"S"TG"U�B
�	
�B������	�12���
�2������%�����&���������'����	
�'����������6 0'���('��'����2��	1�����������
��2������%�����&���
32'�����&1�������
1�6 $	�����2��	1�������B��
���'��1����'������������6 0'�����'C���B�'2������1�	������B�$	�����8'�����'�1���Q�B
�	
�2��������
���1������2���1'�������'��%������2���	�1'�����
��
�'���������&��
3��	����	�����36 ('��'����
��������%�2��21'����"S"#G"T�&�'�&1'�
�'2������%������2�2�����'3��&�����'���$	�����8'�����'�1���6$����	�������&�'�&1'�
�'�&1�2����&�'��	
�%������"S"TG"U��'�	1''����3��������'��'����26 0'���VWXỲa�cadefàg h �!���������2�%�����'��
��2�����'3��&��
����	�����p�D�'��'�������2���'���3�(������2�
��)���������������������
'�1�
����1����1������������������2�'���'����%�	
����%��1�����"S"q6����B����'���'���������
�0���'�%�������'3�#�3��'���������B��
��1'����2���'���3�!1�36 !'�&����	�����p�(����&�'�"S"#�"S"U�
���������'���'�2�&����B�������'����	���1�������6 0'���D���'��1�������
��'����BQ�2�����'3���2�%�����'�����&��
��5�	���A��1'��)�	���'3$	�����(������2���D�1��3���2��0'����P�&'���'1	�1'����'����36 �B������5A)$(����'���2���2��1����
�26�8
��D�1��3B�2��0P��'����3����
��2�1����������"T����2����	�%���������&�5!(�0P$�����%���6 0'���P%�'�����B�'��������2�1�2�'����2�����&�	��%����	
�������2��1'����1'������'��%�����
'�1�
��'���������&���&�'%�����Q��'������Q���2�������6 rTr����&&�	�%�����2�%�21���r���2�Tr�%�21���"6�T�������s����C�B'��������2�����
�����'����6�D�%%1��	�������0'�1��	�����1������%������2�B�'C���������
����1'�	
��������������������
'�1�
���&&A�B�6�#�&�	�����&�	���'����������������2�����'�2����&�'�B��
r��	
�21��2���2���
�'��������������26�$�5��t��8��C��	
�21��2�&�'F��1�'3�"T6�u�'�����&&����2����1�2�'��C�������'�������2�%�'�&�	�����&�	��������2�����'�2��&���
����1'�	
�������2��B�'���������������1		���&1�6 $%��'
��'C�����%�'�����
���	��3���%�'�������	���&�D�1�	����B��2��������&����	����	�����&�	�P���'����H���PIQ�5�	���A��1'��)���'����H5A)IQ��������&�P%��'���	��&�'A��1'��D����'�������H�PAD�I���2��'������	��6 7�������%�����%����B�'C��
���������1�2�'��C����������'��	�1�	����B��2����PE�Q�5A)����2��PAD� 0'���D�����1�����2�����'����'��'�%%���&�B��2&��B�'������������2�%�����%������2���C��	�������
���
�������	���'��������������������������	���6 ���2&��B�'�%��2�B��%�����2���2�������������	����	���'����2�������'��������6 0'���4������B��
���	���	�%%1������������	�1'�������1����'������2�����1���'���
�%��C�����	����������
��	����2�%���������
��'���	����'������	�����2�B��2��&�������6 $�B�2��'������&���	���	�%%1���3����2���'���3G0P��'� �	�����2���1����'��	�����������2�������6 0'��� vw

P
age 126

Gordon.Wright�_61
Square


Gordon.Wright_46
FreeText
38�



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$01�2���	��������%����������3��%�'�����
��45����6��&��5'���'7�8���'���3������9 $�'�@5����6�$��5���('��'����)���'��A$()B�
���������5�%����3��3����'���3��6�����
�0���'�%���9�C�D��)���'��������5�%����3������%��'�"E"F9����
��������'�����������'��������G�6�"E"F�&�'��8��������6�!�(9��&&�	�'��������%����8��
	����%�����3����3���3���������������	�������	�����5��9 0'���

HI
P

age 127

Gordon.Wright�_62
Square


Gordon.Wright_47
FreeText
39�



�������������	����������������	�� � 
����������������������	�  �!	�"	��� #�$#�%�	��&����'� �(�$���	����������)������0����1 ��2��3�����1��1���4 5�1��1���&������6�1���&��2����)�1�1�"�'$�	�%�	��&�����	�(�2�74 $	���!	�"	����&�%(����������(��%�6 1��6�1 &1�"��	��	��1��%	�"	����4 0�	6���#�&���1���#��	��1����	�1���!	��1&�	�(���%	��1&�&�81"(9��� ��������������������	�	��1�)���&��%%	��� �6@���	�1����	�����&�A1��������)�	&��%	�"	���1�"�����(����B�����"�C�D���������$	�&��!	�%��� �ED$!F4 $	���
� 1��	�&��������&�@��	����%	�G�����)1�(���	����1	������� �%�	���	4 ��%	�G�����&� 1��	�&���&���6�1�"���&�	��H���)1�(���I�(�6�1�"&��� �%�&4������)1�(1��%�	���	�(1%��	���1�&1�"��(�@�(�����%��1�@�1����������(�	����&1�"���	�������	� 1�6 ����&��(�	���	��(1��1�%��������%	�G��������6��&� 1��	�&�6@��(���3�����%�	���	(���G����%�  �&����������%�����1� �%	�G����EP	6���A�	�F�&�������������%��1�@�1�����4� ��6�	�"	��&���&��� �%�������&� ���&�%	�"	����&�)1�(��(��Q1	�R�(���� �	���	�&��� �%����4 �)������0����1 �! ���1�"�0���1������%%	���&�% ���1�"%�	�1��1���ES�(�R�����F4 $	����"	�����&����������%	�"	��������(��T ���5&���%	�G����)1�(���	�&��� �%����%�	���	4 Q(��9��&�	�%	������&�����%&�������T ���5&������6��1���������&�	"��1���1���C�����(��	�"1��� �$	����5�����@�0����	�����(� &�1��)������E���U��4���F4 $	���T�1 ����	��"���  �6�	��1���)�	H1�"�	� ��1���(1%��)1�(�� 1������(�	��	��1"����	1������(���2I2��)�������"��&�4 0 1������1"����	1�������1�"����	@�S�)��H�4�Q�#���1"��&����4��%%1�"��B�	�1���6�1�"���� @��&���&��V������6���4��V�)�	H1�"�"	��%�(������37�	�"� �	������&�����������S�&�����%�	���	���%��1�@4�D�������	�����������6���4 ��6�	T�"������1�% ��������	�P95W�Q	���1�1�����	���"@��2�X3�2�2C�)1�(����	�XI2�P95W��(1� �����&�� �����(�	"��%�1���4 ���	�X22�� ���	1����&�(@6	1&���(1� ���&�% �@�&�1��� �����Y)��%%�	�1�"��(�	"��%�1���4�!	�%��� ����	��1�)�P95W�Q	���1�1����	���"@�6�1�"�%	������&����0�̀ �R����	@��2�7�&�������1"�1�1�����1����1� �6�		1�	�����%	�"	���1������"	����� ����	���)� �4 ��6�	0���1����)1�(��(��95
���	���� 1"(�1�"�1����  ��1���%	�"	����4 �C7aI�95
b���1���&�1����Y�7������	4�9������$���	��������1��1��b������	��1"�	���(����1��	����&����	���Y���)(1�(�)1  ���"��1�� @���������	�0������"�4�5������ ����1�"���@�6���3�c�&��%1�����	�����	���1����E���������	�����	� F4 $	����"	��&�����%&���&��	���% ���1�"���&�����"��������	���"@4 ����6���4�
	����Q	����%%�	���1�@���%�%	�%�	�&C���1  ����6��"	��&Y���	���	�1��& $	���! ����&�(��&	�&�������)��	���4 X�2��	����% ����&����0����1 ��)��&� ��&4 $	���!	�&���&�����	1������'1 &��6����@��	�'�	&���%�������%%�	��������1�1���1�1&���1�@1�"��%%�	���1�1�����	���(���1�"� ��� �"	����%�������&�)1 & 1����1������&��"�"1�"��(���1���� �����	1�"����1�1�1��4 T��� 1�����%��%	�%�	�&���	��  �)�	&�C��%%�	���1�@���%��6�1�"&��� �%�&4 ��6�	
	����&�����"������! ������	�0����1 ��)��&�9��� �U���	��#���	���4 
	��������"������! ����%	�%�	�&���	��  �S�0����1 ��)��&�9U#�4 $	���Q�	"���&��	����������&Y�	�	����� ����D����1���U��3U��1����%��1����������	��1���4 DUU��	����� ������	1���� ����1���C�1�� �d����6 ��C�
������6	1�H)�	H��C�!)  �
&�C�9U#C�T	��� ���T�@4 $	��� ee
P

age 128

Gordon.Wright�_63
Square


Gordon.Wright_48
FreeText
40�



��������������	�� � 
����������������������	�  �!	�"	��� #�$!	�%���%�����	&������' &�����'(��"����%�)���	��#�����	0��1�	�&�&�"���%� ��2 ����%� ��2�343����5 ���%���%�3���%�43���%��2���	����������"�����2�6(&��&�������  �5	�5�	�&���������	�  ���������%�&���������7���2 ��7�	'���&���%�����&�0�"	��� ��%���%�	��%���	"������"�������	&� ���������7 &�(����5��&���	&�(�8& %� �8�	����%�8�2 ����7���2�����"��������%����&��	&�"����8& %� �8�	����%�8���"�&�" $	���!	�5�	�%���9��� �)���	��#�����	0����&���! �����%���'����0�@&%��$A���	���"02 ����7���2��8������9)#�!��55	���%���%�5�7 &�(�%�6(�'����08&%��$A���	���"0����(� %�5��%&�"����5 ��&������9
!�$A���������� $	���

BC
P

age 129

Gordon.Wright�_64
Square


Gordon.Wright_49
FreeText
41�



�����������	
�
���������������	���� !�""# $%&'(%)'01�30�4567)%�8%93(%)@�A��&'B56%��C501%DEFEGEHIE PQRSE TUVEIRQWE�YÈIGQaRQbH DQ̀c�dEWES eEGWQIE fHgEGEHRDhRQHi dh̀R�paqhRE rGEWQbs̀�DQ̀ceIbGE tsGGEHR�DeIbGE

uv
P

age 130

Gordon.Wright�_65
Stamp


Gordon.Wright�_66
Square


Gordon.Wright_50
FreeText
42�



���������������	

��	�������	����	� !"#!!$�&'&(�)$0�&'&1�"2!3!�#455�6!�!7"3)8304$)39�@2)55!$A!B�C)@4$A�4$04D40E)5BF�@8GGE$4"4!BF�)$0�HE654@�6804!B�4$�I#)$B!)F�!BH!@4)559�)B�)�3!BE5"�8C�"2!�8$A84$A�3!@!BB48$P�Q")�"4G!�#2!$�8E3�H8HE5)"48$�$!!0B�HE654@�B!3D4@!B�G8B"F�"2!9�)3!�E$0!3�"23!)"�)B�8E3�@8B"B�34B!�6E"�8E3�CE$04$A�4B�C)554$A�4$�3!)5�"!3GBP��QA)4$B"�"2)"�6)@RA38E$0F�4C�"2!�@8E$@45�4B�"8�G!!"�4"B�B")"E"839�8654A)"48$B�)$0�0!54D!3�"2!�@8GG4"G!$"B�4"�2)B�G)0!F�#!�#455�$!!0�"8�4$$8D)"!�)$0�"3)$BC83G�28#�#!�8H!3)"!F#83R4$A�@58B!3�"2)$�!D!3�#4"2�8"2!3BF�#245!�@8$"4$E4$A�"8�!$BE3!�"2)"�!D!39"24$A�#!�08�4B�C8@EB!0�8$�G!!"4$A�"2!�$!!0B�8C�8E3�H8HE5)"48$P��SE3�D4B48$�C83�"24B�H34834"9�4B�"8�0!54D!3F�"238EA2�"3)$BC83G)"48$F�)"�5!)B"�"2!�B)G!�4C�$8"�6!""!3�8E"@8G!B�C83�8E3�H8HE5)"48$�)$0�"8�4GH38D!�8E3�!CC4@4!$@9�69�G)R4$A�B4A$4C4@)$"@2)$A!B�"8�"2!�#)9�#!�#83R�)$0�28#�8E3�B!3D4@!B�)3!�0!B4A$!0�)$0�0!54D!3!0P��T3)$BC83G)"48$�)$0�U4$)$@4)5�V!B454!$@!�4B�)�#!556!4$A�86W!@"4D!�6!@)EB!�#!�$!!0�"8X�Y�G)$)A!�"2!�HE654@�C4$)$@!B�BEB")4$)6454"9F�3!@8A$4B4$A�"2!�2EA!�@8$B"3)4$"B�"2)"�#!�R$8#�#!�#455�C)@!�8D!3�"2!�"!3G�8C�"2!�H5)$̀�Y�!$BE3!�"2!�@8E$@45�4B�)0!aE)"!59�H38"!@"!0�C38G�G)W83�!7"!3$)5�34BRB�BE@2�)B�@96!3�)$0�0)")�B!@E34"9�63!)@2!B�)$0�3!@3E4"G!$"�)$0�3!"!$"48$�@2)55!$A!B�#!�2)D!�)@38BB�"2!@8E$@45�)$0�4$�B8G!�B!3D4@!B�4$�H)3"4@E5)3̀�Y�3!0!B4A$�)$0�3!G80!5�)BH!@"B�8C�"2!�83A)$4B)"48$�)$0�4"B�B!3D4@!B�"8�G!!"�"2!�@2)$A4$A�$!!0B�)$0�!7H!@")"48$B�8C�@4"4b!$B�#4"24$�"2!�3!B8E3@!B�#!�2)D!�)D)45)65!̀�Y�4GH38D!�8E3�@EB"8G!3�B!3D4@!�"8�!$BE3!�8E3�@4"4b!$B�@)$�)@@!BB�@8E$@45�)0D4@!F�AE40)$@!F�4$C83G)"48$F�)$0�B!3D4@!B�28#�)$0�#2!$�"2!9�$!!0�"2!G �̀Y�4GH38D!�28#�#!�@8$BE5"F�!$A)A!F�)$0�4$D85D!�8E3�H8HE5)"48$�"8�2!5H�EB�0!B4A$�!CC!@"4D!�)$0�!CC4@4!$"�B!3D4@!B̀�Y�3!0E@!�"2!�@8E$@45cB�@)368$�C88"H34$"̀�Y�@3!)"!�)�@E5"E3!�"2)"�D)5E!B�24A2�H!3C83G)$@!F�5!)3$4$A�)$0�@8$"4$E8EB�4GH38D!G!$"Pd��

	��	�T2!�58$AY"!3G�HE654@�C4$)$@!�8E"588R�4B�54R!59�"8�3!G)4$�@2)55!$A4$AP��e!G8A3)H24@�@2)$A!B�#24@2�#455�@8$"4$E!�"8�034D!�4$@3!)B4$A�0!G)$0�C83�@8E$@45�B!3D4@!B�)$0�4$@3!)B4$A59�@8GH5!7�$!!0BP��e!G8A3)H24@�@2)$A!B�4GH)@"4$A�8$�"2!�58@)5�5)68E3�G)3R!"�)$0�@8GH8B4"48$�8C�"2!�@8E$@45�#83RC83@!P��T!@2$858A4@)5�)0D)$@!B�)3!�!7H!@"!0�"8�@8$"4$E!�"8�H)D!�"2!�#)9�4$�0!C4$4$A�28#�G80!3$�B8@4!"4!B�)$0�!@8$8G4!B�#455�4$"!3)@"�)$0�0!D!58H�4$"8�"2!�CE"E3!F�$8"�5!)B"�8E3)HH38)@2�"8�B8@4)5�4$"!3)@"48$BF�#2!3!�#!�#83RF�)$0�28#�#!�)@@!BB�R!9�B!3D4@!B�54R!�!0E@)"48$F�2!)5"2F�)$0�B8@4)5�@)3!P��V!@8A$4"48$�"2)"�B85D4$A�@8GH5!7�@2)55!$A!BF�BE@2�)B�BE6B")$@!�G4BEB!F�B"3)"!A4@�H5)$$4$A�)$0�G!!"4$A�"2!�$!!0B�8C�"2!�850!3�H8HE5)"48$�@)$$8"�6!�G!"�69�"2!�@8E$@45�)58$!)$0�#455�4$@3!)B4$A59�3!aE43!�#285!�B9B"!G�3!BH8$B!B�"238EA2�A3!)"!3�@855)683)"48$�#4"2�H)3"$!3B�)$0�"2!�H8HE5)"48$�#!�B!3D!Pe43!@"83B�QBB!BBG!$"T2!3!�2)B�6!!$�@8$B40!3)65!�H38A3!BB�G)0!�E$0!3�"2!�T3)$BC83G)"48$�)$0�U4$)$@4)5�V!B454!$@!�S6W!@"4D!�0E34$A�"2!�C43B"�B47�G8$"2B�8C�&'&(Y&fP�g$�"!3GB�8C�"2!�B"!HB�E$0!3�"24B86W!@"4D!F�h�8C�ii�)3!�B28#4$A�)�p3!!$�VQp�I")"EB�)"�"2!�!$0�8C�aE)3"!3�&F�#245!�"#8�)3!�B28#4$A�)$�Qq rV�B")"EBP�Q54A$!0�"8�"24B�1�8C�ii�BE@@!BB�G!)BE3!B�)3!�A3!!$F�#245!�(3!G)4$�Qq rVPTE3$4$A�C43B"�"8�"3)$BC83G)"48$F�"2!�$!#�IE@@!BBCE5�)$0�IEB")4$)65!�I#)$B!)�s83H83)"!�T3)$BC83G)"48$�t5)$�#)B�)HH38D!0�69�s)64$!"�4$�QH345�&'&(P�T2!�H5)$�@8$")4$B�i&04B"4$@"�"3)$BC83G)"48$�H38A3)GG!B�u�B!D!$�#24@2�)3!�B!3D4@!�C8@EB!0�)$0�C4D!�#24@2�)3!�@38BB�@E""4$A�)$0�#455�"3)$BC83G�#)9B�8C�#83R4$A�)@38BB�"2!�@8E$@45�)B�)�#285!P�eE34$A"2!�C43B"�B47�G8$"2B�"2!�C8@EB�2)B�6!!$�"8�A!"�H38A3)GG!B�EH�)$0�3E$$4$AF�!B")654B2�"2!43�A8D!3$)$@!�)$0�B!"�0!")45!0�G45!B"8$!B�)$0�BE@@!BB�G!)BE3!BP�QB�BE@2�H38A3!BB�4B3)"!0�)B�QG6!3F�3!C5!@"4$A�"2)"�B8G!�H38A3)GG!B�)3!�B"455�4$�"2!�!)359�B")A!B�#245!�8"2!3B�v!PAPF�w!"�x!38y�C)@!�B4A$4C4@)$"�CE$04$A�@2)55!$A!BPg$�"!3GB�8C�C4$)$@4)5�3!B454!$@!F�&'&(Y&f�4B�H38D4$A�"8�6!�)�@2)55!$A4$A�9!)3�#4"2�)�C83!@)B"�8D!3BH!$0�69�9!)3�!$0�8$�B!3D4@!�6E0A!"B�8C��i(Pf��G45548$�)B�)"�"2!�!$0�8C��E59&'&(F�)5"28EA2�"24B�#455�E5"4G)"!59�6!�2!)D459�4$C5E!$@!0�69�"2!�C4$)5�H)9�)#)30�8$@!�3!B85D!0P�g$�)004"48$F��fP1�G45548$�8C�"2!��i(Ff��G45548$�4B�)""346E")65!�"8�4$@3!)B!B�4$!$!3A9�@8B"B�#24@2�4B�6!4$A�G!"�@83H83)"!59P�SCC4@!3B�)3!�#83R4$A�2)30�"8�3!0E@!�"2!�C83!@)B"�8D!3BH!$0�)$0�)B�)"�(i��E59��'��8C�"2!�6E0A!"�B)D4$AB�40!$"4C4!0�C83�&'&(Y&f#!3!�8$�")3A!"�"8�6!�0!54D!3!0PeE34$A�"2!�B!@8$0�aE)3"!3�#83R�6!A)$�8$�H5)$$4$A�C83�"2!�&'&fY&��6E0A!"�)$0�"2!�&'&fY&1�q!04EG�T!3G�U4$)$@4)5�t5)$P�U4$)$@4)5�BEB")4$)6454"9�8D!3�"2!�G!04EG�"!3G�4B�)$8$A84$A�@2)55!$A!�4$�"2!�C)@!�8C�)�H883�HE654@�C4$)$@!�8E"588RF�@8G64$!0�#4"2�8$A84$A�H)9�)$0�H34@!�4$C5)"48$)39�H3!BBE3!BP�V4BRB�)3!�A38#4$A�C83�"2!�#285!�8C�58@)5�A8D!3$G!$")$0�#245B"�"2!�s8E$@45�2)B�24A2�!)3G)3R!0�3!B!3D!BF�4"�2)B�)$�)G64"48EB�B!"�8C�BH!$04$A�H5)$B�)$0�58#�p!$!3)5�V!B!3D!BP�QA)4$B"�"2)"�6)@RA38E$0F�"8EA2�0!@4B48$B�)3!�54R!59�"86!�$!!0!0�5)"!3�4$�"2!�9!)3F�6E"�"2!�)@"E)5�5!D!5�8C�B)D4$AB�3!aE43!0�#455�$8"�6!�R$8#$�E$"45�"2!�58@)5�A8D!3$G!$"�C4$)$@!�B!""5!G!$"�4B�HE654B2!0�4$�e!@!G6!3�&'&(P�g$�"2!G!)$"4G!F�#83R�4B�8$A84$A�"8�!$BE3!�"2!�@8E$@45�@)$�H3!B!$"�)�6)5)$@!0�B!"�8C�6E0A!"�H38H8B)5B�4$�"2!�BH34$A�8C�&'&fF�#2)"!D!3�"2!�B!""5!G!$"�8E"@8G!P ��
P

age 131

Gordon.Wright_51
FreeText
Transformation & Financial Resilience�

Gordon.Wright�_67
Square


Gordon.Wright_52
FreeText
43�

Gordon.Wright�_68
Square




���������	
�����������������	��	���	��������������	���	 ��������	!���������	"#$������	������%��	�%���&	���	�����	'%�����	��	()(01(23	�����	4��	��	����&�	��	���	!
5	����%�	��	���	���6�	��	�%���������%���	���6����	��	'%�����	(7	8	��	���	99	���6�	���	���4��&	�	5����	!
5	@���%�A	4����	�4�	���	���4��&	��	
BCD!	����%�3	
��&���	��	����	E	��	99	�%�����	����%���	���&����A	4����	0	������	
BCD!3�%����&	�����	��	���������	����������A	()(01(2	������%��	��	#�	�	�������&��&	����	4���	�	��������	�����6���	#�	����	���	��	�������	#%�&���	��	F93G)H	�������	���	��	�������	����������6���	��	�����	F03(E2�	��	��	���	���	��	�����#��	()(03	I�	��	������6����	����	�����	��������	�����6����	P4����	����%��	�Q����	%�#%�&����	#���	�����R	4���	#�	������	#�������&����	��������	����	����A	�����&	6����%��	��	()(21(G	����	���	#�����3	���	S�%����	��������	���	�����	#���	����������	����	T����	5���������	���	()(21(G	���������6��	�����	#%�&��	6��6�����	�%���&	���	�����	'%�����A	����%���&	F(G	�������	��	���%�����	�����&�	6��6�����	4����	4���	#�	����������	#�	S�#����	��	9G	 �#�%���	()(23	H8U	�����	6������	�����&�	���	()(01(2	���	#���	���������	#�	���	���	��	���	�����	'%�����A	4���	��	�Q6��������	����	%6	��	8)U	4���	#�	��������	#�	����	���3V��&����	������%��	��	��������	��	�%�	S��6�����	��������������	V���A	4���	��%�	6��&������	��������&	�	5!DDW	!
5	����%�3	@����	6��&������	������	
BCD!	���	���	��X��&6��&����A	��#���	���	!
5	@���%�	��������	���	���&	����	�����	�����	����������	4���	����������������	����&�3	���	W��	Y���	V��&�����	������%��	��	����	�	!D�	!
5	����%�	��	��������%��	��	#�	�����������	#�	�%66��A	�%����&A	���	T����	5���������	��6�����&	��'%��������3	����	��	���	�%#$���	��	�	��6���	��	S�#����	��	 �#�%���	()(23V����������	�������	���	#���	6�������	4���	�������	���4��&	�����&	6����������	��	6������	��	��������A	%��	��	�%��������A	�������&	��	���6������	���	����	6���������3@��X����	�#�����	��&%���	4���	��&���	����	���	'%�������	���&��	���	4��X	��	%����4��	��	�����4	�%�����	6�����%���	���	6��������A	����%���&	�����	4���#���&	��������3

à
P

age 132

Gordon.Wright�_69
Square


Gordon.Wright_53
FreeText
44 �



����������	
��������������	�
	���������	���	����������	 �������� 	 !��	"#$�����%���	
&	 ��'���	('
�'��� )$01��������	�2�����������34	��	5���	%�������	�	�2���������	6�7�2%	8�'%	1����������'����3	5����	���2'��	���	�
2����9�	'����2�	��7	�������	'��
2'���	�'�	������7	�
���	�������%���	
&	���	�
2����9�	5��������	
���������	��7	7�����'3	
&	
2'	����2�
'3
�������
��	�
��	
��'	���	��'%	
&	���	����@	��	5���	���2'�	'�A2�'�7	�������	�'�7�����'�7B	��7	�
%%�'����	
��
'�2������	�'�	��C��B	5��'�	���'
�'���� !���%��'	"D"#	������%���	'������7	��	#@EFB	#'7	����	��	�����&
'	"G�"H	��7	�'2�����3	�I����3	��	����	5���	����'���	�����������2%���
��	�
	�
	�2'�'����@	P
5���'	����'�3	���
5	��&����
�	��77
��	�
�	&2�7	7�%
�'���3B	7�%��7	
'	��3	�'���2'��	&2��3	�
�'���2'��	��7	��
����	'�%���	7�&&��2��@	Q���'�����3	
��'	��C��3�����&��	�'���	�2��	�
	�
%�@	!'�&�	�27���	��7	681(	�'
�
�����2������7	E	R��	��7	&
'%��	�����	
&	�27���	�'
����	��	�2''����3����@	('
����	�����&	��	0'���	��	���	������	��7	��%������	%��	�
7���	�2�	'��C�	��7	
2��

C	&
'	&2�7���	&2�2'�	%���	'�%����	)�7��	'��C	'������'
0'���

8'���&
'%���	
2'	�2������4	��	5���B	7�����'	���	�
2����9�	�'���&
'%���
�	����
�	��7�
���B	��'
2��	���	7����
�%���	��7	�%���%������
�	
&	�	�
'�
'���	�'���&
'%���
�����B	���
'�
'�����	���	C�3	�'���&
'%���
���	������	�'
�����	��7	�'
�'�%%��&'
%	��'
��	���	�
2���� $�	��	!���%��'	"D"#	&
2'	
&	���	�'
�'�%%��	�'�	��
5���	��
��'���	)$0	����2�	
&	0)SSTB	�����	�'�	$6�S)@	 ��3	���	T��U�'
	('
�'�%%�	�
����2��	�
	����	�	)S!	)$0	����2�	72�	�
�2���3	�����B	&2�7�B	'��
2'���B	�
���'�����	�%�
��7	�3	��������	0
��'�%���	'��
'����	%�������%@	V�	 ��
��'	"D"#	����
2����	'������7	�	�
������	�����'	&'
%	$27��	�����	W$�X'���'7���	���	�
2����Y�	�'���&
'%���
�	�''����%����	5����'��
�����7	����
��	���'����	&'
%	$��������	�����'	8
�����'	��7���C�	�
	���	���	̀
2����Y�	�
'�
'���	����@	$�	%�7�	�2������
���
	&2'���'	�������	���	�
��'�����	
&	���	����	��7	�����	5���	�����	�%���%����7	�3	���	��7	
&	6�'��	"D"G@	���
�����7	5���	����'
�'�%%��@	����	���	����	5��	���'
��7	��	$�'��	"D"#B�̀�����	5��	�7����7	����	���	681(	�
������7	�'
�
�����%
2�����	�
	ab@H	%����
�	W���5���	"D"#�"G	��7	"D"b�"cX	����5
2�7	��	&���������7	�3	���	�'
�'�%%��	��	���	����@	�����	����B���	�'
�'�%%��	����	����	&2'���'	7����
��7	��7	���	"D"G�"E�27���	��������	�'
����	��	2�7�'5�3@	$�	�	�
���A2����B	���'��'�	�I�����7	�
	��	�������	�
	���	�������	�'
�
����	�'���
2��3�7����&��7	��7	�����	5���	��	&���
'�7	���
	���	"D"G�"E	681(@	"@G$�	��'�	
&	���	�27���	��������	�'
����	̀������	d	̀68	����7���2���7	���	�
�������	�
	���������	��	�77���
���	�'���&
'%���
��'
�'�%%�	��	'������	
&	�
%���������	��7	�
	�
���7�'	�
5	���S�������	̀
%%2������	��7	$72��	��'�����	%����	��	�%��7�7	�
�
�����	�
%%2���3	7����
�%���	5���	���������	��7	'��������
����	��'�����	�'���	&2�7�7	����������@	 &&���'�	5���	7����
��'
�
����	&
'	�
���7�'���
�	�3	���	̀������	d	̀68	8'���&
'%���
��
�'7	��	6�'��	"D"G

$%��'

ef
P

age 133

Gordon.Wright�_70
Square


Gordon.Wright_54
FreeText
45 �



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$0!�������1'���&�'%�����2����3�����%���%�����
��	�4�	��5��6���������'����78�4����6���������	
�����7�����%�'����������5�������8�����������6��������		���������'��	���"9
�4'����6�78���6�����%�'�������'���������&&�	���	7 $�'�����6��4�������	������6��'�������3������'���6��7��
�@%�'������A4���%�'�$		�������'6���6��
��!������1'���&�'%���������'6B�1
���'� �	��3������3��'�	��6�3
�	
���&�	4���������%�'�����������
��7���6��
��	����	��	���'��C��'���	��&�'��
���4���	B�1
��!�������1'���&�'%���������'6���3
�����D6����6���D�����6�����%�������'6�%�%��'��	����C���'���6���64����'� �	������%�'��6���
B 0'�����'E&�'	��!������%���2����3�����%���%�����
��	�4�	��5��3�'E&�'	����'����7���6�
�'��7�6���������%�������6���6�	�%%����6�3�'E&�'	���
����������������8�4���'��68��E����6���6�	4���%�'�&�	4��6B 1
����'E&�'	����6��!�1'���&�'%������('��'�%%�����'6�
���	�����4�6����%����F4�'��'�7��
'�4�
�4��"G"#H"9B�('� �	���3�'������6��&&�&�'�"G"9�6�����'7���6��'��'�������
��
���
��6������	
4�6����%������B�A4''����7��4���&��
��&�4'��
�%����3���'�����'�	E���6��'���8�3��
��3���%��'B�@���66�����8��
'����&��
��'���&�'%�������'��'�%%���4�������	�����'� �	����'������'�	E��6��'���8�3��
������%��'B�$���
�������������
���'��'�%%�8��
�)$0�������%��������'���B 0'���
�'�������������!������%���2����3�������4'���
���'����������5��3�'E����%�6��'�&��	����
�����6���&��
�����4���������6��
��	�4�	��5��������3�'E�������'��	
B���3����'����3������'�%�����%������'4	�4'�8���7���6��'�6����������4'���
�7��'����'��'�������6���������3��
��
��3�6�'�3�'E&�'	����7���6��'�6�����	
�%�B����3���6����������������
������'��	����%���%����	
����8���	�46�����'������8��4�6��	�8���6�4���'�B I4'�
�'�����
��	
�������4�����6�����
�������%��'�	�%%����'73�'E�
���	�%%��	�6�����
���!��&&�'�����
���'�������������6���'����������������6��	4���6�3��
�P��6�'�
���0'�4�����I��'4�'7"G"9�&�'��%���%�������������
��"G"9H"Q�7��'B�1���4���'���
����7��6��'�6�����	
�%��&4���'�&'��
�'��'������������E�������	��64'���R��4�'7���6�I��'4�'7�"G"9�&�'�S�����6��'�6��4����'��'����������������'6�'����	�����4��3��
��
�������'��7��&��
��	
�%�B���'E&�'	�����������	�����4���3��
���3���%�������������'���6�6�&�'��
��"G"9H"Q�7��'���6��4���'��6��7��
���4��������'���'��&�'�	�%�������B

0'���
(�'&�'%��	��T�����%������6�0���'���	�2����3����	�����4������%��6����&�������%����������
��	�4�	��5����'&�'%��	��%�����%�����''����%�������66���������	4��4'���&�
��
���'&�'%��	�8����'�������6�	�����4�4���%�'���%���B���3�������4'���
��	�'��'��������8�T�6�4%�1�'%�I����	������'����7���6�1'���&�'%�����(�����'��������6���6��4���'���
���������'%����6���&��
�����4������B����3��������E�����
��	�4�	��5��	������4�����4�6�'�'����38���	�46�������4'�������'��'����6�����������''����%�����&�'�%�%��'����6��&&�	�'���'��������	�B 1
�����'�64	������&��
����3������'���6�F4�'��'�7���6����4����'&�'%��	��%�����'����'���'�����U"8��'������������
�'��'&�'%��	��6�����'�����
�����������%�����
��A�4�	����3����������� �	��������6�����	����6�	�'��'�����������4		����%���4'��8��'&�'%��	����6�	���'����6�'��E�8��'���6��������&�������%�����&��'&�'%��	����	
�F4�'��'��7��
��'��������6�'�	��'��H��� �	�������6����6��
��A
��&�VC�	4������&&�	�'B�)���6����$%��'�3
������
���������3��'�	�����������%��66�6B $%��'
('�	4'�%���2����3����	�����4�����6��������
���'�	4'�%�����4���7�	
������	���78'��������7���6�����������������4'���4'��'�	4'�%�����	�����7�'�%�������
�	��8����E�����%��6�'�����������3��������'��������	'�����
���4���7�	
������6�3���
�����'%�'��
�����7�����
����	�������4���&��'�	4'�%���8���������3��
��
���4���������6������%�����'��	�����B �'�	���(4'	
������1��%���3�3�'E��������%���%������3�����6�'�	E�����7���%�W����6��������	�6������%�����'���	����	���%�	�%��	�XB�Y�3�������������'������������
����'���W�
����	���(�'���'�
�����6�(4���	�('�	4'�%����$	�D������4��'7��4�6��	�'�����������3����������%���4'��X��������7���&�������6�3��
���3��'����6����T�7�"98��������	����6��'�	E�������6�����4���	������&��
��$	�D���4�6��	�B 0'������'��������������2����3����	�����4�����'������������
��	�4�	��5�����'�����������������%�C�%�����&&�	���	7���6�'�64	���4'�	�'����&����'���B $����'������%��'�6���������'��'�%%��	�����4��B 0'��� à

P
age 134

Gordon.Wright�_71
Square


Gordon.Wright_55
FreeText
46 �



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � !�	�"#$�����%�����&����'����('��'��� )$0(�'���'�
���1�'2���3����1����	�����4�����	������'����1��
��4'�'����������'���'�����'��'�����4'�1����������� �	�����5����	�&�	���6����'������������
����'�����	7������%������������5�'���������'�����'����������5��'�%�������
���	���%�	�1������������7�7�����'������'�����������'�6���'����6�8�
'�4�
��
��9�'��'����@����9�%%�����A5�
����
���7���	����	�'��8�
'�4�
��
�������0��%�'������'���'�
��A���7�74	�������%�'���%����8�
'�4�
�(�'���'����
AB��4'�	������'������1���������	�����4�1��
���	�����'���'�����7���������7��%���%�������4����������
��	
���������&�	�����4'���4���������7��'��'�����4'�"CDC�����������(����8�
'�4�
��
��(4���	���'��	�����'7AB $�'���'������
��1�'2�7�����6��
��9�4�	������'�����	���'���'�
���1���7�������7���7��'������7����0���'���	��E�$47���9�%%��������F#�8�	����'�"C"#AB�G
�������'������7����'6�H�%���
������
�	�%%��������7�1����
��
���
���
��2�6�	
�����������7�	
����%������&��
����'���'�
����74'�����
����'��7������'���'��7B 0'���
I���'�	�����1��
��4'����4������3����1����	�����4��������4'���
���1
�'�����'��'����1��	���4��5�������5���7����������4'����4�����������
��7��������7��
��7�����'6��&�4'�����	������7���'��	��5���
��	�����4'�	���'�74	�����	���	��6���7�	��������6�
'�4�
��������'� �	�����7��'�	��	�B �4'�4�7���7�9���4����������7�P�����%������'����6�1�����'���7��6�9�4�	������Q�6B����	�%%�������7�9��'�74	�������������1�'2�1��
�4������%�'�����4'�2��1��7�����7�	���	��6&�'�4�7�'��2����%�'��	���'�74	������	�����6��	'�����
��9�4�	��B��9��'�74	�����	
�%���������1�'2�
����������������
�7���7'��4��'��'�����������'�4�������
�����'���7�7����	�4�	������&&B�(�����'� �	���
�������������	��7�����4��	���'�74	�����������'�	��	�5��'2�
����'��'����7�����'�74	������9��'�74	�����(���	6�&�'��
�9�4�	���1
�	
�1��������7����7��6�9����������@��4�'6B

0'���
PR4����65�!���'���6���7�S4%���)��
��3����1����	�����4������%��7��R4����657���'���65���7�
4%���'��
����
'�4�
������
���1��7�������	�4�	��5��%���%��������4'����
�T���4�����'�������
��R4����6��&��4'������'���7��%��	��������%�������71�'2����1��
���'���'�����%�2���1��������S4%���)��
���9��6B �4'�II$��'�	�������4'����
���PR4����6���7�!���'���6���7�S4%��)��
����%���	��������77'����7�������'6�7�	������1��%�2������9�4�	�����7��'���%��77�7�����	6�7������%���B��1�����7�	��'�7������&���S4%���)��
���9��6����!�	�%��'�"C""B���'2�
�������4�7�'��2���1��
���'���'������������1��
�	�%%4��������4'S4%���)��
���$	�����(���B�I��@4���1��
��7����4		���&4�������%���������B�G
���4�	�%����&��
���������
����7�'�	��6��&�'%��
��$	������������&�'���	
�(�����'���'B�(�����1�'��4����
�7�����
��UC�
�!�	�%��'����%�'2�S4%���)��
���!�6B 0'���

VV
P

age 135

Gordon.Wright�_72
Square


Gordon.Wright_56
FreeText
47 �



�������������	����������������	�� � 
����������������������	�  �!	�"	��� #�$��%� ����&���&'���(�	��)'����'� �! ��0 
	����1�% '�2�&�3�4���5�	'�6��	���'�����	����&'�"���� ��6�%��1	����������	��6���&�����'����2���$	�������1	�����7�#�&����	'�60$	���
� '��	�&��  ��2�����'�"��1	�1��� ���11	���&�'���2���8��5�8�9�)'�� �@�&"��0 A�%'����	���'��&������&�B��	��	��1&��������C�
����%�	���&�	��6�	�'�&'����&�DEF�������'�"����2'���&������&�B��	��	0G� '6� H�C88F�I'  �%����2'���&�5�I2'�2�'����� ��	��2�  ��"'�"��	���2���	"���5������		����1�	��	�������11�	�%���&� '6� H�	���&�P8F�5�� �2��"2�A�%'������&�
'	����	��2�����"	��&�'�'"��'�"����1�������%����6�����&���2'���&��������	�����	�  %�&"���'��%� ����&�5�I2'�2�'�����%'���'������1 ����&����'�"����������&�'��H��	����'������	���I�1	����	�������	'%��'�"�����		����1	�Q����&����	�1��&0
��%�	

����	1�	�����	�����	���'���1 ���I2'�2�'��&� '��	'�"���Q�	��2��"�����	�����2������' 0 (2��A����' �2�����A�	1�	����(	�����	���'���1 ���'��1 ����I2'�2'�����	�'�"����&� '��	���Q�	��2��"�����	�����2�������' �'�� �&'�"R�	�����	���'���������'� ���	����&��&&'�'��� � ��	�'�"����&�0����I�I�������	���"H���&�������'�H�2�%�'��� ���%�'�"�&��� �1�&0(2��I�	6��	��������'���2���%����	���	����	�&���&�����I�	"��'���'��� �&��� �1���������	�2���%�����	����&0�����  1	�"	��������&'"'�� �1	�Q�����2���%����&��� �1�&���&�'����I�'�'�1 �������'��0 ��%�	
S�%�&&�&�����I�S���	1	'���#����	���! ���'�"��H����0 (2��A����' �'��I�	6'�"�I'�2��2����I�1	��'&�	������ '�����&��� �1��������&�'�1	�������������2���H����0�(2���	���'�'������2����I���11�	����&� �'�����1 ������&�����I�12����'�%�"'��'�"0�(2���	'"'�� �'�1 �������'���1	�Q����2�����I�������������&0�!����1	�Q�������1 ��'������'�'�'����	����&�	I�H0 $	���T��	����&��2�����%�	�����I�����������������	����&�'�1	���&�'��������'��� '�H0 
��� �1�������	����&�	I�H�I'�2��2���I����������������'�1	���������'��� '�H���&����������	�	��'&�������&�%��'������0�&&'�'��� �	����	������&����2�� �"H��	��%�'�"�1	���	�&'�� �&'�"���I���&� �����	�)	��&������T���	���'���	�B��������&#�"'��	�	�0 $	���T��	�&���&���I� ��&�	�2'1�%�2��'��	����&�������"������ ��	�'�"���&&��� �1���������	0 U�	6�2�����I��'�'�2�&�����2��	��	��2�����2���� ������&%�2��'��	����&�'��&�����	��11	��� ����V��&�	�2'1�$	��1�'�)�%	��	H��8�90���1	�1��� ����A�(�'��)�%	��	H�I'  �� ���%����&�'��	� ��'������ '�6'�"��2���� ������&�%�2��'��	��	���I�	6�I'�2��	�	���"�'�'�����	���"H���	�'�1 �������'���'���8�9W�X0�����  ��'������ ��&�	�2'1���&�����"������&��� �1������11�	���'�H�'�1	�1���&���	�V��&�	�2'1�$	��1��������'&�	���&��11	���0 $	���#��'�I�&��2�����'�	�����"��������	����	����&�1�H���&�"	�&'�"���2���0 U�	6�����'���������2���2'������'��	�Q�%���� ���'�����2������&�2��	��6��	&�	�2���%����&	����&0�#�1�	�����A����' �I'�2	�������&��'��������&�1�'�"��2��������������2��	��6��	&�	�Y�	�'���1 ���1�H���&� ��'�����'�'1���&�'����	�2��8�90 $	��� à

P
age 136

Gordon.Wright�_73
Square


Gordon.Wright_57
FreeText
48 �



��������������	�� � 
����������������������	�  �!	�"	��� #�$��	��"�%���&��%�������' (��!�	��	����������"��������&�)�� '�0�����	����1	���2�	34 5�2�����	�����1	���2�	3�'��6 ���4�7%��'��	�&���'�������%����2'���"	���&�8��	��	 0���&������ �6�	��	���������'��	'�"�	�6�	����)�9�@	'�"'�"���"��%�	�6�	��	������&� '��	'�"��%�����6����������%��A����' ��2�  B@�'�"��@C���'������&������'���&��	6�	���� ��� ��������������	��9�6�	��	������'�&'����	����&	'�3�9�6	��'&������� �B��������������6�	��	���������%�8��	��	@0��%��	� ������&'	����	��D��@C���'��� ��&����&��%��A%'��EF����'������'��	4�#���&������@�	�2%' ����%'��'������2�6	�����@�'�"���@�&&�&4
��@�	

1�	�%�	�&��� �6���	� ��� ���66 0��%�'����&�� �������	�������	�'� ��66�	���'�'���	��&��� �6�&�2%�	���66	�6	'���4 �	�� ��!�	�%��'�"�7������2�2�	3'�"����'�6 ��������2��6��&�	��3'�"��0�����G@���&����6�����&���������'��	� ��� �������'�'�6���H4 $	���#�&���&���	@�����'��'�����	�����	��6�	��'��� �������4 !	�"	��������'�����2'�%�#�B�'��6	�"	����4 $	���#�  �&�������B6	�&���'����	�'�'�"���&���� 3'�����	�����%�������' 4 I������'��'���&�A�6	�&���'���I� ������2�	3�2'�%������'�6	������	�3��2 �&"����&���6��'�0���	���&�	��3'�"���	����B6	�&���'������'�'�0���	�����%��A����' 4���A�6	�&���'����%��6'������2�	3�%���@��������@ '�%�&���&�	�"� �	��	�'�'�"��66�	���'�'��%����6	��'&�&���������' ������4�E�"�"������%�����3�����'���	���	�6� '�0���&��'�2�"��%�	����&����'���	���%����� 3'�4�7%����� 3'�2'  �@��	�  �&�������  �2'�"��%��!� '�0��&�6�'���'��P����	04 $	���
��� �6�&�����&'��B��	�����'���6 �����	��F���&'�"���	�2�	3����%�����	'"%����	�����2����� �2������&�� �	�&�'��� ����Q�����#'"%���A'�0�'��
����@�	��R��4I�	3�%���@������&�	��3���2'�%�6�	���	�������"�"��2'�%������'�'��������	�Q�����#'"%������'���! ��4�S��P����2��%� &����������� ���"�"�����������4�7%���������������%'�������%����&'	��� 0�'���	��&��%�����'���6 ������	����%�!�T�6�	���	4! ����2�	��6�@ '�%�&�����%��UR�%�
����@�	������	3�Q����#'"%���
�04��2������A����' �'�� ��3'�"������@�&�Q�����#'"%����	�%�	�@0���	"'�"���	�Q�����#'"%�����&�E8�� '�0�! ���4 $	���

VW
P

age 137

Gordon.Wright�_74
Square


Gordon.Wright_58
FreeText
49 �



���������	�
����	�����������  !"
$%&'"(
)0
1)(23$4
567898!30@8
A"(
0%BB
@3&"
"C%3D6B"$@
B)8@
5%"
@)
83E2$"88
6'8"$E" �FG� HF�I�PQ R� S"(E"$@64"
)0
E)(A)(6@"
8@64"
R
E)&AB63$@8
EB)8"5
3$
R�
1)(23$4
5678
)(
B"88F
TUV
 W�XY 
QY ̀ abFIc�PQ RH U%&'"(
)0
Q16$8"6
WEE)%$@
!)B5"(8
6E@3D"
5%(3$4
@!"
A"(3)5F
TUV
 W�XY 
QY ̀ d�G�PQ �6 U%&'"(
)0
)$B3$"
A67&"$@8
("E"3D"5
D36
�3@7
e
�)%$@7
)0
Q16$8"6
1"'83@"8 H�fG�� HIfGIa�PQ �E U%&'"(
)0
0)(&8
E)&AB"@"5
)$B3$"
0)(
0%BB7
6%@)&6@"5
A()E"88"8F
TUV
 W�XY 
QY ̀ RdRf�GGghUWRb S"(E"$@64"
)0
3$D)3E"8
6$5
A67&"$@
5)E%&"$@8
A635
13@!3$
H�
5678F
TUV
 W�XY 
QY ̀ aIFIcS�V�R� U%&'"(
)0
56@6
'("6E!"8
1!3E!
!6D"
("8%B@"5
3$
6
A"$6B@7
$)@3E"
'"3$4
388%"5
'7
@!"
h�V � �

ipqrstuvwxy����y
�y�
� xy����y ����y� ������ �y��������y

��
P

age 138

Gordon.Wright�_75
Square


Gordon.Wright�_76
Square


Gordon.Wright�_77
Square


Gordon.Wright�_78
Square


gordon.wright
FreeText
Note from Corporate Performance Team - Data quality under review�

Gordon.Wright�_79
Square


Gordon.Wright_59
FreeText
50 �



�����������	
�
���������������	���� !�""# !$%&'()$0%12)&�4�52&%&62%7�89'2729&69@ABACADEA FGHIA PQRAEHGSA�UAVECGWHGXD @GVY�̀ASAI aACSGEA bDcACADH@dHGDe d̀VH�fWgdHA hCASGXiV�@GVYaEXCA piCCADH�@aEXCA

qr
P

age 139

Gordon.Wright�_80
Stamp


Gordon.Wright�_81
Stamp


Gordon.Wright�_82
Square


Gordon.Wright_60
FreeText
51 �



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix B 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: SDU 
Directorate: Corporate Services 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 
 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 Other  

 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
Q3 2023/24 Performance Monitoring Report – This report is on performance during Q3 2023/24 
in delivering the Council’s key priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan.  
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  No  
     Investigation  Impact 
     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)           
OIder people (50+)           
Any other age group              
Future Generations (yet to be born)            
Disability            
Race (including refugees)            
Asylum seekers           
Gypsies & travellers            
Religion or (non-)belief           
Sex           
Sexual Orientation           
Gender reassignment            
Welsh Language           
Poverty/social exclusion           
Carers (inc. young carers)           
Community cohesion           
Marriage & civil partnership           
Pregnancy and maternity           
Human Rights           Page 140



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix B 
 

2 
 

 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 
 
This report is on performance during Q3 2023/24 in delivering the Council’s key priorities as set 
out in the Corporate Plan, so there is no direct impact on people or communities and no 
consultation or engagement is required. 
 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   
 

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 
together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          

 
 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                         
 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 

Q7 Will this initiative result in any changes needed to the external or internal website? 
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
Q8  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this 
proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the 
organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 
whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who 
are mainly women), etc.)   
 

Page 141



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix B 
 

3 
 

Outcome of Screening – This report is on performance during Q3 2023/24 in delivering 
the Council’s key priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan, so there is no direct impact 
on people or communities. 

 
Q9 Please describe the outcome of your screening using the headings below: 

 Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 
 Summary of involvement (Q3) 
 WFG considerations (Q4) 
 Any risks identified (Q5) 
 Cumulative impact (Q7) 

 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the  ‘Integrated Assessment Implications’ 

section of corporate report)  
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome 

    
 

NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 
Screening completed by: 
Name: R Rowlands 
Job title: Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 
Date: 09/02/24 

 

Approval by Head of Service: 
Name: Lee Wenham 
Position: Head of Communications & marketing 
Date: 09/02/24 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 142



Service Improvement, Regeneration and Finance Work Plan 2023/24 

Meeting 1 
Tuesday 
10am 
27 Jun 2023  
 

Last meeting of Service Improvement and Finance 

• Road Repairs  
Cllr Andrew Stevens – Cabinet Member for Environment and Infrastructure 
Stuart Davies – Head of Highways and Transportation 
Bob Fenwick – Group Leader Highways Maintenance 

Meeting 2 
Tuesday 
10am 
11 July 2023 
 

Last meeting of Development and Regeneration 

• Focussed Topic: Project Review - Swansea Arena 
Cllr Rob Stewart – Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance and Strategy 
Cllr Robert Francis-Davies - Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration & 
Tourism 
Lee Richards – City Centre Team Leader /Lisa Mart – Venue Director 

• Regeneration Programme / Project Monitoring Report 
Cllr Robert Francis-Davies – Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration, 
Events & Tourism 
Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City Regeneration 
Huw Mowbray - Development and Physical Regeneration Strategic Manager 

Meeting 3 
Tuesday 
10am 5 Sept 
2023 

• Revenue Financial Outturn 22-23 and Revenue Outturn 22-23 (Housing 
Revenue Account)  
Cllr Rob Stewart - Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance and Strategy 
Ben Smith – Director of Finance / S.151 Officer 

• Annual Performance Monitoring Report 2022/2023  
Cllr David Hopkins – Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance 
Richard Rowlands – Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 

• Annual Review of Performance 2022/2023  
Cllr David Hopkins – Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance 
Richard Rowlands – Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 

Meeting 4 
Tuesday 
10am 
26 Sept 2023 
 

• Capital Outturn and Financing 2022/23 
Cllr Rob Stewart - Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance and Strategy 
Ben Smith – Director of Finance / S.151 Officer 

• Quarter 1 2023/24 Performance Monitoring Report  
Cllr David Hopkins – Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance 

Richard Rowlands – Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 

Meeting 5 
Tuesday 
10am 
17 Oct 2023 
 

• Audit Wales Report – Setting of Wellbeing Objectives 
Cllr David Hopkins – Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance 

Richard Rowlands – Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 

• Welsh Public Library Standards Annual Performance Report 
Cllr Elliott King – Cabinet Member Culture, Human Rights and Equalities 
Karen Gibbins – Library Services Manager 
Bethan Lee – Principal Librarian 

Meeting 6 
Tuesday 
10am 
14 Nov 2023 
 

• Q1 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report – 2023/24  
Cllr Rob Stewart - Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance and Strategy 
Ben Smith – Director of Finance / S.151 Officer 

• Regeneration Project(s) Update – Skyline/Copr Bay 
Cllr Robert Francis-Davies – Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration, 
Events & Tourism 
Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City Regeneration 

Meeting 7 
Tuesday 
10am 
12 Dec 2023 
 

• Mid Term Budget Statement 2023/24  
Cllr Rob Stewart - Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance and Strategy  
Ben Smith – Director of Finance / S.151 Officer 

• Review of Revenue Reserves 
Cllr Rob Stewart - Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance and Strategy 

Page 143

Agenda Item 9



Ben Smith – Director of Finance / S.151 Officer 

• Recycling and Landfill - Annual Performance Monitoring Report  
Cllr Cyril Anderson– Cabinet Member Community Services 
Chris Howell – Head of Waste Management and Parks 
Matthew Perkins – Group Leader, Waste 

• Audit Wales Report – Digital Strategy Review 
Andrea Lewis – Cabinet Member for Service Transformation 
Sarah Lackenby – Head of Digital and Customer Services 

Meeting 8 
Tuesday 
10am 
16 Jan 2024 
 

• Budget Proposals 2024/25 – 2027/28 
Cllr Rob Stewart - Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance and Strategy 
Ben Smith – Director of Finance / S.151 Officer 

• Q2 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report 2023/24  
Cllr Rob Stewart - Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance and Strategy 
Ben Smith – Director of Finance / S.151 Officer 

• Q2 Performance Monitoring Report 2023/24  
Cllr David Hopkins – Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance 
Richard Rowlands – Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 

• Tourism Destination Management Plan Update 
Cllr Robert Francis-Davies – Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration, 
Events & Tourism 
Steve Hopkins – Tourism and Marketing Manager  

Meeting 9 
Tuesday 
10am 
13 Feb 2024 
 

• Pre-Decision Scrutiny of Cabinet Reports: Annual Budget 

Cllr Rob Stewart - Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance and Strategy 
Ben Smith – Director of Finance / S.151 Officer 

• Q3 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report 2023/24  
Cllr Rob Stewart - Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance and Strategy 
Ben Smith – Director of Finance / S.151 Officer 

Meeting 10 
Tuesday 
10am 
12 Mar 2024 
 

• Regeneration Project(s) Update 71-72 The Kingsway 

Cllr Robert Francis-Davies – Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration, 
Events & Tourism 
Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City Regeneration 

• Achievement against Corporate Priorities / Objectives / Policy Commitments 

for Development and Regeneration 

Cllr Robert Francis-Davies – Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration, 

Events & Tourism                                                           

Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City Regeneration 

Meeting 11 
Tuesday 
10am 
9 Apr 2024 
 

• Annual Review of Wellbeing Objectives 
Cllr David Hopkins - Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Performance 

Richard Rowlands – Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 

• Q3 Performance Monitoring Report 2023/24 

Cllr David Hopkins - Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance 

Richard Rowlands – Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 

• Audit Wales Report – “Cracks in the Foundations” Building Safety in Wales 

Cllr David Hopkins- Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance 

Carol Morgan – Head of Housing and Public Health 

Meeting 12 
Tuesday 
10am 
7 May 2024 
 

• Planning Annual Performance Report 

Cllr David Hopkins – Cabinet Member for Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

& Performance 

Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City Regeneration 

Ian Davies - Development Manager 

Tom Evans – Place making and Strategic Planning Manager  

• City Centre Retail  

Page 144



Councillor Rob Stewart – Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance & Strategy  
Cllr Robert Francis-Davies – Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration, 
Events & Tourism 
Paul Relf – Economic Development and External Funding Manager 

• Audit Wales report “Springing Forward” - Workforce  
Cllr David Hopkins – Cabinet Member for Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 
& Performance 
Rachael Davies – Head of HR and Service Centre 

 

Welsh Housing Quality Standards Annual Update – WHQS has now been achieved 

therefore there is no update for 23/24 however new WHQS standards are due end of 2024 

therefore update on new standards can be given in 24/25. 

Annual Complaints Report – Moved to SPC 

Welsh Language Standards Annual Report – Moved to SPC 

 

Page 145



 

 

Cabinet Office 

The Guildhall, 

Swansea, SA1 4PE 

www.swansea.gov.uk 

Please ask for: 

Direct Line: 

E-Mail: 

Our Ref: 

Your Ref: 

Date: 

To receive this information in alternative format, or in Welsh please contact the above. 
I dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall neu yn Gymraeg, cysylltwch â’r person uchod.  

Dear Councillor Holley 
 
SERVICE IMPROVEMENT, REGENERATION AND FINANCE SCRUTINY 
PERFORMANCE PANEL 15 FEBRUARY 2024 
 
Thank you for your letter of the 14 February 2024. 
 
I respond to your queries as follows. 
 

• An explanation of the regrading of one post (from grade 7 to 9) in the 
Welsh Translation Service listed in the service pressures and investments 
table in the Revenue Budget.  

 
Response 
 
A review of the Welsh Translation Unit (WTU) in 2023 identified the need 
for a senior translator to provide a quality assurance role and to support 
the other translators' Continuing Professional Development. At the time of 
the review the WTU comprised six Grade 7 translator posts, one of 
which became vacant during 2023-24 presenting the opportunity to 
regrade the vacant post to a Grade 9 Senior Translator role.  The new 
Grade 9 post is currently being advertised. 

 

• Clarification of the move from Mod Gov to cloud listed in service 
pressures and investments table in the Revenue Budget. 

 
Response   
 
The Modern.gov software was hosted on a Swansea Council server until 
5 March 2024. It has now moved to a Moden.gov cloud hosted solution. 
There are several reasons for this move: 
 
The Swansea Council Server was nearing end of life and would cease to 
be supported by Microsoft in the coming months. 

Councillor Rob Stewart  

01792 63 6366 

cllr.rob.stewart@swansea.gov.uk 

RS/JW 

 

12 March 2024  

 

17th  

 

 

17th January 2019 

16t16th January 2019 

Councillor Chris Holley 

Convener 

Service Improvement and Finance 

Scrutiny Performance Panel 

Page 146

Agenda Item 10

mailto:cllr.rob.stewart@swansea.gov.uk


 

Page 2 
 
 
Modern.gov do not allow their software to be hosted on a third party cloud 
server. The Head of Democratic Services was keen to place the software 
onto a cloud based solution to ensure resilience. Failure to have 
adequate resilience could invalidate decisions at a meeting; should 
documents not be available for at least 3 clear working days. 
 

The Modern.gov cloud solution was purchased with a significant discount 
of 15-20% and will allow access to the Modern.gov Hub System which will 
be launched shortly.   

 

• Clarity on whether the figures shown for city deal funding in the Swansea 
Central City Deal Programme Capital Expenditure and Budget are the 
final amounts that Swansea is due to receive. 

 
Response 
 
Yes the figures shown for city deal funding in the Swansea Central City 
Deal Programme Capital Expenditure and Budget are the final amounts 
that Swansea is due to receive. 

 
 
Yours sincerely 

                      
Y CYNGHORYDD/COUNCILLOR ROB STEWART 
ARWEINYDD/LEADER                                 

 
 
 

                                                                

Page 147



 

 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY / TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU 
 

SWANSEA COUNCIL / CYNGOR ABERTAWE 
GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE / NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE 

 

www.swansea.gov.uk / www.abertawe.gov.uk  
 

I dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall neu yn Gymraeg, cysylltwch â’r person uchod 
To receive this information in alternative format, or in Welsh please contact the above 

 
  

 
To:  
Cllr Robert Francis-Davies 
Cabinet Member for Investment, 
Regeneration, Events & Tourism 
 
BY EMAIL 
 

Please ask for: 
Gofynnwch am: 

Scrutiny 
  

Direct Line: 
Llinell Uniongyrochol: 

01792 636292 
  

e-Mail 
e-Bost: 

scrutiny@swansea.gov.uk 
  
  

Date 
Dyddiad: 

  28 March 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Cllr Francis-Davies, 
 
On the 12 March, the Panel met to review achievements against Corporate Priorities 
/ Objectives / Policy Commitments and progress on 71-72 The Kingsway. We are 
grateful to yourself and officers for their attendance and contributions.  
 
Achievement against Corporate Priorities / Objectives / Policy Commitments 
Paul Relf updated us on the various funding support that is available and gave an 
overview of the achievements in the planning and city regeneration teams. 
 
Update on Developments 
We discussed the empty Debenhams site and asked for an update on the progress of 
finding a tenant, we heard that there is an active steering group looking at all the 
options and you have offered to provide us with the holding costs. We noted the huge 
public interest in the site, you mentioned that whilst Debenhams is an important site in 
the Quadrant the Debenhams closure is not unique to Swansea. We also asked for a 
timescale on Castle Square and heard that a 12 month construction period will 
commence later this year.  
 
We were interested in the Civic Centre and the wider work of Urban Splash mentioned 
in the report. You explained the interplay between sites with the Civic Centre 
development unable to start till fully vacated but it cannot be vacated until Copr Bay 
North is complete. We wondered if it the Council were starting to consider a time scale 
for the Civic Centre and heard that this is a priority site with an estimation of 5 years 

Summary: This is a letter from the Service Improvement, Regeneration and 
Finance Scrutiny Performance Panel to the Cabinet Member for Investment, 
Regeneration, Events and Tourism, following the meeting of the Panel on 12 March 
2024. It covers the achievements against Corporate Priorities / Objectives / Policy 
Commitments and an update on 71-72 The Kingsway. This letter requires a 
response by 18 April. 

Page 148

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/


 

 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY / TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU 
 

SWANSEA COUNCIL / CYNGOR ABERTAWE 
GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE / NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE 

 

www.swansea.gov.uk / www.abertawe.gov.uk  
 

I dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall neu yn Gymraeg, cysylltwch â’r person uchod 
To receive this information in alternative format, or in Welsh please contact the above 

 
  

overall. We asked for an indication of a completion date on Copr Bay, whilst a timeline 
is not yet available we were given assurances that surveys are underway and 
everything possible is being done to bring this to completion. 
 
We were interested to hear more about the commitment to invest in towns and villages 
and the officer informed us there are seven district centres each with a draft place 
making plan with funding available through a number of funding avenues. Officers are 
working through those schemes as quickly as possible. Active travel is also considered 
alongside green spaces with a partnership approach. 
 
We were also interested in the progress with Penderyn and heard that they employ 15 
full time equivalent posts. You have offered to provide us with visitor numbers. We 
also raised concern with TAN 15 and the impact on development opportunities along 
the river Tawe, you told us that the Leader is at the forefront of objecting to TAN 15 
and that you have prioritised working with Urban Splash on the St Thomas site. 
 
Hotels 
We discussed hotel provision including the potential build on the site next to the Arena 
and the LC which you envisage to be a 4 star/higher end hotel. We asked if funding 
might be available from the Welsh Tourist Board, applications for interest are currently 
being accepted and once more is known you plan to explore gap funding opportunities. 
We also asked for updates on current hotel provision including the Dragon and Dolphin 
Hotels, your officer was able to update us that installation of Dragon hotels green living 
wall will commence shortly, thanks to a Transforming Towns bid and have also offered 
to update us on the Dolphin Hotel. 
 
Job growth 
We asked for more detail to the report regarding the creation of thousands of jobs in 
Swansea. We noted that figures in the Local Development Plan (LDP) were for the 
potential to create 13,600 jobs. We heard that the jobs referenced in the report are 
created with grant support with the number increasing over time, this data is being 
collected by officers and we would be interested to see this in the near future. 
Additionally, you explained that the LDP is a changing, evolving, and aspirational 
document which will be affected by economic change. 
 
We raised concerns about providing space for companies. The report references a 
desire to attract new companies, we asked what these spaces might be and where 
they could be located. You responded that the Kingsway is providing much needed 
office provision along with other sites in the city provided by the private sector. 
Regarding industrial space, we particularly highlighted the lack of space for 
manufacturers and expressed concern for the large number of flats going up in the city 

Page 149

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/


 

 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY / TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU 
 

SWANSEA COUNCIL / CYNGOR ABERTAWE 
GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE / NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE 

 

www.swansea.gov.uk / www.abertawe.gov.uk  
 

I dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall neu yn Gymraeg, cysylltwch â’r person uchod 
To receive this information in alternative format, or in Welsh please contact the above 

 
  

centre. Officers replied informing us that grants are in place to support smaller 
manufacturers and that funding is being explored for sites which can accommodate 
manufacturing space around the county on which details can be provided in the near 
future. We would be interested to see these details when available. 
 
We also raised concerns about job provision through grant schemes and the 
sustainability of these jobs once funding runs out. Officers assured us that 
sustainability is considered when awarding the grants and revenue costs are not 
funded. Grants are there to encourage and support business growth rather than 
directly funding a job role. Cash flow is scrutinised, and challenge is provided from 
Business Wales advisors. We would however appreciate more detail on this. You also 
mentioned small businesses coming out universities, higher and further education and 
offered to share some case studies with us in the future. 
 
71/72 The Kingsway 
Officers provided us with an update on the site which we were pleased to hear is 
closing in on practical completion with its key objectives to stimulate employment, 
economic growth and footfall in the city centre and surrounding areas with ongoing 
formal marketing of the building that will continue until fully let. Discussions with 
potential tenants continue and it is anticipated that the building will be fully let within a 
reasonable time scale but not on practical completion. 
 
We asked for clarity on the total City Deal funding given, as the report references the 
Kingsway development has received 13.7m and we are also aware the Arena has 
received funding though this. You have offered to provide this. We also asked for an 
update on the side access to Picton Arcade, we feel this is important for local 
businesses not to be at risk of losing trade. We were informed that this is still being 
considered and it is moving forward. We also asked about bicycle storage in the 
development and heard there is provision as well as a number of electric bike charging 
points. 
 
We raised concerns about the demand for office space as since the Kingsway site was 
conceived, other new private development office spaces have also been developed 
and home working is still very present. We were given assurance that despite hybrid 
working, businesses are still seeking quality office space as prior to these 
developments Swansea had almost no grade A office space. The offer will include a 
choice of spaces of different sizes with reconfiguration possible for flexibility, and in 
order to bring investment and jobs to Swansea, office space provision is needed and 
plays a part in the overall revitalization of the city centre. We were assured that all 
marketing opportunities were explored including a joined up approach to advertise 
what Swansea can offer. 

Page 150

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/


 

 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY / TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU 
 

SWANSEA COUNCIL / CYNGOR ABERTAWE 
GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE / NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE 

 

www.swansea.gov.uk / www.abertawe.gov.uk  
 

I dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall neu yn Gymraeg, cysylltwch â’r person uchod 
To receive this information in alternative format, or in Welsh please contact the above 

 
  

 
 
Your Response  
We welcome your comments on any of the issues raised and request a formal 
response by 18 April in regard to the following – 
 

• Ongoing holding costs on Debenhams and general update. 

• Trading status of the Dolphin Hotel. 

• Visitor numbers for the Penderyn Visitor Centre. 

• Any further information to demonstrate that jobs created through funding 
business growth will not be temporary until funding runs out. 

• Clarification on the total amount and breakdown of City Deal funding. 
 
If any of these points require a commercially sensitive response this can be sent 
separately to the letter reply. 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 

 
 
 
 

Councillor Chris Holley 
Convener, Development and Regeneration Performance Panel 
 cllr.chris.holley@swansea.gov.uk    
 

Page 151

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/
mailto:cllr.chris.holley@swansea.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Audit Wales Report - "Cracks in the Foundations" Building Safety in Wales
	6A - Appendix A - Cracks_in_the_Foundations_Building_Saf
	Contents
	Summary report
	Context

	Key Conclusions
	Key facts
	Recommendations
	Responsible bodies are yet to develop comprehensive plans that set out how the new and revised respo
	Resourcing issues make it unlikely that local authorities can successfully implement the new buildin
	There is little evaluation of building control services across Wales and no national comprehensive s
	Appendices
	Audit Approach and Methods
	Building Regulations Approved    Documents
	The Building Safety Regulator and   Accountable Person
	Scottish approach



	7 Annual Review of Wellbeing Objectives
	7A -  Appendix A_Analysis of well-being objectives evidence_v1_09 Feb 24
	7B - Appendix B - IIA

	8 Quarter 3 Performance Monitoring Report 2023/24
	8A - Appendix A - PMR Q3 2023-24 v2.0
	8B - PMR Q3 2023-24 Appendix B - IIA

	9 Work Plan
	10 Letters
	10A - Scrutiny Letter to CM (RFD) - SIRF 12.03.24


